
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, June 22, 2015 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

REVISED 
A G E N D A 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 8, 2015 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  

 
4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed 
on the agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of 
business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

6. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for June 16-30, 2015  
b) May 2015 Financial Report 

 
7. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) Informational Report from Building Codes Supervisor Michael Croak Regarding Departmental 
Activities 

b) A Request From Bernie’s Book Bank to Waive or Reduce Building Permit Fees for the Remodeling of 
917 North Shore Drive 

c) A Report Regarding the Disposition of Certain Village Records 
 
8. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 
a) Appointment of Mary Jo Davis to the Senior Resources Commission 

 
 
 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – June 22, 2015 
 

Page 2 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

10. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports 
on June 5 and 12, 2015. 
 

11. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING PROVISIONS OF TITLE III OF THE LAKE 
BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF CLASS A LIQUOR LICENSES 
  

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

12. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR LEGGY  BIRD DESIGNS AT 
103 E. SCRANTON AVENUE 
 

13. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR BERNIE’S BOOKS AT 917 NORTH 
SHORE DRIVE 
 

14. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S PARKING REGULATIONS IN 
THE L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT AND APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR 101 S. WAUKEGAN 
ROAD 

 
15. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A LICENSE AGREEMENT TO USE A PORTION OF VILLAGE 

PROPERTY (101 S. Waukegan Road) 
 

16. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT WITH THE 
FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE FOR LAKE BLUFF POLICE SERGEANTS 

 
17. AN ORDINANCE REAPPOINTING AN ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO REPRESENT THE VILLAGE 

OF LAKE BLUFF ON THE CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
 
18. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
19. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
20. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 8, 2015 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 

 
21. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

JUNE 8, 2015 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall 
Board Room, and in the absence of Village Clerk Aaron Towle, Deputy Village Clerk Drew Irvin 
called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
Eric Grenier  
John Josephitis 

    William Meyer 
     
Absent:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 
 
Also Present:   Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director     
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 

Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 

Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA)  
  

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Meyer moved to approve the May 11, 2015 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

There were no requests to address the Board. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

2 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
At the request of those present, Trustee Dewart moved to take Agenda Item #12 then return to the 
regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a 
unanimous voice vote. 
 

6. ITEM #12 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR 
HEINEN’S FINE FOODS AT 201 S. WAUKEGAN ROAD 
 
President O’Hara reported on March 30, 2015 the Village received a sign permit application to 
mount new sign faces on the existing monument sign structure at the intersection of Carriage Park 
Avenue and Waukegan Road.  The Architectural Board of Review (ABR) reviewed the proposed 
sign at its May 5th meeting.  The proposed sign requires an exemption from the Village Sign Code 
because the existing 336 square foot monument sign structure is larger than the 64 square feet 
allowed in the L-1 Zoning District.  The ABR voted 5-0 to recommend that the Village Board 
grant the exemption and allow the proposed sign.  She further noted in preparation for the Village 
Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property owners have been notified of the 
meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
In response to a comment from the Village Board, Mr. Chuck Zenn of North Shore Sign Company 
stated the intent is to mount new sign faces on the existing monument sign structure and install 
new LED lights. The proposed sign will be internally illuminated with an opaque vinyl background 
so that only the lettering will be illuminated.   
 
Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Meyer seconded the motion. The 
motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 

7. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORTS FOR MAY 16-31 AND JUNE 1-15, 2015 AND MAY 
2015 PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$197,298.17 for May 16-31, 2015. 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$92,213.70 for June 1-15, 2015. 
 
In addition, President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of 
$260,132.60 for May 2015. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $549,644.47. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

3 
 

As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to approve the Warrant Report.   
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin stated the May 2015 Financial Report will be available at the 
June 22nd Village Board meeting. 
 

8. ITEM #7A – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT REGARDING THE 
DISPOSITION OF CERTAIN VILLAGE RECORDS 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin summarized the informational update regarding the conversion 
of paper documents into electronic files. A series of files have been converted and Staff will 
coordinate disposal pursuant to State law, presuming there are no concerns. 
 
There were no objections from the Board. 
 

9. ITEM #8 - VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

10. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
Village President O’Hara reported the Lake Bluff History Museum will host its Annual Antique 
Auto Show and Block Party on June 27th. 
 

11. ITEMS #10 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Report on May 8, 15, 22 
and 29, 2015. 
 
Trustee Grenier moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Ankenman seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

12. ITEM #11 – AN ORDINANCE ASCERTAINING THE PREVAILING RATE OF WAGES 
FOR LABORERS, MECHANICS, AND OTHER WORKERS FOR LAKE BLUFF 
PUBLIC WORKS PROJECTS FOR 2015  
 
President O’Hara reported on an annual basis the Illinois Department of Labor requires 
municipalities to ascertain the prevailing rate of wages for laborers, mechanics and other works 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

4 
 

employed in performing construction of public works for the municipality.  This item is presented 
in accordance with State of Illinois requirements, and as this is a requirement of the State, it is 
recommended the Village Board consider waiving second reading of the ordinance. 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve first reading of the ordinance.  Trustee Dewart seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 
Trustee Christensen inquired the reason to waive second reading. Village Administrator Irvin 
stated as required by the Act, any revisions of the prevailing rate of wages in Lake County shall 
be submitted to the State of Illinois by June 2015. 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to waive second reading of the ordinance.  Trustee Grenier seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

13. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE APPOINTMENT OF JEFF HANSEN 
AS DEPUTY BUILDING COMMISSIONER AND REVISING THE TERM OF DEPUTY 
BUILDING COMMISSIONER ED LAUDENSLAGER 
 
President O’Hara reported in accordance with Village Code, the Village Board considers the 
recommendation of the Village Administrator regarding the annual appointment of certain Village 
Officials (Section 6 of Title I).   Pursuant to the Village Code, the positions requiring Village Board 
consideration on an annual basis are the Building Commissioner and Deputy Building 
Commissioners.  On April 28th of this year the Village Board appointed Drew Irvin as Building 
Commissioner as well as Michael Croak (Building Codes Supervisor),  Ed Laudenslager (Interim 
Village Engineer), and George Russell as the Village’s Deputy Building Commissioners for the 
Fiscal Year beginning May 1, 2015 and ending April 30, 2016.  She further noted given that the 
Village Engineer vacancy has recently been filled and the Interim Village Engineer services 
agreement is set to expire June 12, 2015, Village Administrator Irvin recommends that the Village 
Board relieve Interim Village Engineer Ed Laudenslager as Deputy Building Commissioner with 
the newly hired Jeff Hansen. Village Engineer Hansen comes to the Village after serving as a Civil 
Engineer with the City of Kenosha for 2 years and 11 years as a Project Engineer with McMahon 
Group (Neenah, WI) – an engineering services company with over 125 employees catering to both 
public and private sector clients. 
 
Village Engineer Jeff Hansen introduced himself to the Village Board. 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Dewart seconded the motion. The 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

5 
 

14. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 
OF THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE DEPUTY CHIEF OF POLICE 
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
 
President O’Hara reported since his appointment Deputy Chief of Police Mike Hosking has proven 
himself as an essential asset to the Village’s police management team.  As envisioned, he has 
provided strong administrative support and professional development to our Sergeants and 
Officers all during a very busy period that included a transition to a joint public safety dispatch 
center.  In accordance with Section 7A of the Employment Agreement by and between the Village 
of Lake Bluff and Deputy Chief of Police Hosking, Police Chief Belmonte has conducted a 
performance review and determined that it is in the best interests of the Village to adjust Deputy 
Chief Hosking’s compensation to be consistent with the Village’s Official Pay Plan and to 
recognize his significant organizational contributions during the past performance review period.   
Specifically, the Deputy Chief of Police’s annual base salary will be set at $109,180 effective May 
1, 2015 and he will receive an additional week of vacation leave per year.  Additionally, Deputy 
Chief Hosking has agreed to a one-year extension.  This is the first amendment to the Deputy Chief 
of Police’s Employment Agreement.   
 
Trustee Meyer moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion. The motion 
passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

15. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN EASEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND TARGET CORPORATION (Target PCD – Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Path) 

AND 
 

16. ITEM #16 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN EASEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND OXFORD REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, LLC (Target 
PCD – Bicycle and Pedestrian Path) 

AND 
 

17. ITEM #17 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN EASEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND TARGET CORPORATION (Target PCD – Water 
Main) 

AND 
 

18. ITEM #18 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN EASEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE AND TARGET CORPORATION (Target PCD – Water 
Main) 
 
President O’Hara reported Village Ordinance No. 2013-15 previously approved a special use 
permit for the planned commercial development (PCD) and final plat of subdivision for the Target 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

6 
 

Development Project.  Pursuant to Section 9.0 of the PCD Ordinance and the Section 4.C of the 
previously approved Development Agreement, Target Corporation (Target) and Oxford Real 
Estate Equities, LLC (Oxford) agreed to construct, and dedicate to the Village, a pedestrian and 
bicycle path along portions of the east and southerly side of the development site.  Pursuant to the 
Final Plat of Subdivision for the development property, Target and Oxford agreed, rather than 
dedicating the pedestrian and bicycle path to the Village, to grant the Village a permanent, non-
exclusive easement for the pedestrian and bicycle path.    
 
President O’Hara reported the pedestrian and bicycle path has now been constructed and an 
easement agreement for the portion of the pedestrian and bicycle path on the portion of the property 
owned by Target Corporation, has been prepared which grants the Village a non-exclusive 
easement to operate, maintain and reconstruct the path when necessary.  Approval of the attached 
Resolution approving the easement agreement is recommended.  A separate easement agreement 
will be processed with Oxford for the portion of the pedestrian and bicycle path on the Oxford 
property.  
 
Village Attorney Friedman clarified the requests for action and noted agenda items #15 and #16 
are for the bicycle/pedestrian path easement agreement and agenda items #17 and #18 are for the 
water main easement agreement.  He further noted there are two easement agreements because 
Target Corporation and Oxford Real Estate Equities, LLC owns the portions of the property 
associated with both the water main and bicycle path. 

Following a comment from the Village Board, Village Administrator Irvin advised the original 
PCD Agreement called for a dedication of property; however, when the plat of subdivision was 
approved it showed it as an easement.  He further noted an easement agreement is the best legal 
instrument to convey responsibilities of each respective party and noted the responsibilities remain 
as outlined in the original agreement. 

Village Attorney Friedman stated both easement agreements specify that nothing can interfere with 
using these pieces of land for the bicycle/pedestrian path and the water main. 

Trustee Meyer moved to approve agenda items #15, #16, #17 and #18 collectively.  Trustee 
Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier and Josephitis 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

19. ITEM #19 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING PROVISIONS OF TITLE III OF THE 
LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR 
LICENSES AND CLASS A LICENSES  
  
President O’Hara reported the Village anticipates receiving a liquor license application from 
Target Corporation prior to the upcoming Village Board meeting on June 8, 2015.  The 
forthcoming application seeks approval of a Class A license which authorizes the retail sale of 
alcohol, in the original package and not for consumption on the premises where sold, as well as 
limited alcohol tasting activities.  Section 3-2-10 of the Municipal Code establishes the maximum 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

7 
 

number of alcoholic beverage licenses (by classification) available for issuance.  She further noted 
the liquor regulations allow for two Class A licenses (held by Heinen’s and Wisma).  Therefore, it 
is recommended the Village Board amend Section 3-2-10 of the Municipal Code to increase the 
number of licenses for Class A from two to three.   
 
Village Administrator Irvin confirmed the Village has received a liquor license application from 
Target. 
 
Trustee Grenier moved to approve first reading of the ordinance.  Trustee Dewart seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 
Village Administrator Irvin provided an update on the onsite and offsite improvements for the 
Target PCD and noted Target’s grand opening is scheduled for July 27th.  A brief discussion 
followed. 
 
Village Administrator Irvin stated the western outlot building, which was previously identified as 
a bank, is now intended to have restaurants and a small financial institution.  The original 
development agreement included an itemized list of uses for the outlot buildings which complies 
with the Village’s vision for the area. 
 
Building Codes Supervisor Michael Croak stated the Petitioners advised of their intent to submit 
plans for two restaurants and a pre-standing automated teller machine located in the outlot building 
on the northwest corner.  He further noted Potbelly’s will be the first restaurant to open dependent 
upon completion of the off-site improvements.  In addition, he provided an update on the remaining 
proposed tenants for the southernmost outlot building. 
 

20. ITEM #20 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

21. ITEM #21 – EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
At 7:32 p.m. Trustee Christensen moved to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of 
discussing Personnel (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(2)).  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion 
passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting June 8, 2015 

8 
 

There being no further business to discuss, Trustee Grenier moved to adjourn out of executive 
session.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion and the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote 
at 7:50 p.m. 
 

22. ITEM #22 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion and 
the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 7:55 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator     Deputy Village Clerk 



































































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

        Agenda Item: 6b 

 

 

Subject: 

 

MAY 2015 FINANCIAL REPORT                      

 

Action Requested: 

 

RECEIPT OF FINANCIAL REPORT (Voice Vote) 

 

Originated By: 

 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

Referred To:  

 

VILLAGE BOARD 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

 

Attached for your consideration is the May 2015 Financial Report. 

 

Highlights of this report are: 

 Sales taxes for May 2014-March 2015 (FY15) are $246,742 or 12% over the same 

period in 2013-14 on the strength of auto sales.  Home rule sales tax of $496,600 

is 3.5% greater than last year. 

 May has traditionally been the largest monthly receipt of state shared income tax 

revenue due to the filing of taxes in April. At $102,570 May 2015 revenue is 

18.6% greater than May 2014 and 5% greater than May 2013. 

 Building permit revenue is $44,650 in May 2015 compared to $14,278 in May 

2014.  

 Capital project expenditures are minimal as projects begin in June with payouts in 

July.  

 Contracts and commodities have increased this month due to the dispatching 

contract payment of $141k. 

 Water billed consumption is down from a reduction in billed consumption of 689 

thousand gallons.  This resulted in a decline in water sales of $2,591 (after 

accounting for the change in water rates from $6.80 to $6.95 effective May 1st.) 

 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

 

 May 2015 Financial Report 

 

Village President’s Recommendation: 

 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of Report. 

 

 

Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 

 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Village President and Board of Trustees 
  Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
 
FROM:  Susan M. Griffin, Director of Finance 
 
DATE:  June 19, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: May 2015 Monthly Report 
 
Treasury Report – Exhibit A 
Attached is the two page Treasury Report for May 2015.  The total cash and investments in the 
treasury for the governmental and water funds are $8,522,773 plus $8,643,838 for the Police Pension 
Fund.   
 
Investment Report – Exhibit B 
Attached is the Investment Report for the month ending May 31, 2015.  The par value plus interest 
credited to the CD’s for the governmental and Water fund short-term investments is $2,732,364.  
The Village investments are managed within the guidelines of the Village’s Cash Management and 
Investment Policy.   
 
Budget Analysis Report – Exhibit C  
Attached is the Budget Analysis Report for the first month of the fiscal year, May 2015. The revenues 
in Exhibit C reflect actual and estimated receipts.  Below is more specific information about the major 
revenues and expenditures by fund.  The General and Water Funds revenues and expenditures that 
exceed or are under 20% of the prior year amounts have been highlighted on Exhibit C.   
 
In previous reports there were two graphs one showing multi-year revenues and another showing 
the same information for expenditures comparing the major categories as of the same period each 
year.  These charts will not be included in the May and June reports because there are so few actual 
major revenues received during these months and many disbursements are for the prior fiscal year 
expenditures. 
 
General Fund Revenues: 
 
Property Tax revenue is received predominately in June and September as the taxes are due by the 
first week of those months.  The total Village tax extension for the 2014 property taxes (received in 
FY16) is $3,149,695 with the General Fund receiving 69% or $2,169,085 of the monies.  The IMRF, 
FICA and Police Pension Funds receive the balance of the revenues of $980,610.  The May 2015 
distribution from the County represents 4% of the total tax extension; whereas the May 2014 
distribution was 7% of the total tax extension.  This does not necessarily portend tax delinquencies 
but is likely timing differences when banks remit the escrows for the first installment due in June. 
 
Sales Tax Revenue (non-home rule 1% and local use tax) is shown in table format on the next page 
with monthly revenues for FY15, FY14, and FY13.  The May 2014-March 2015 (FY15) sales taxes of 
$2,300,132 are $246,742 or 12% greater than the same period in 2013-14. The Village has not 
received the April 2015 actual revenue information; therefore, the amounts reflected in italics are 
estimates.  The chart on page 3 shows the non-home rule sales tax by month for the calendar years 
2009 through March 2015.   
 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #1

sgriffin
Typewritten Text



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 2 

 
 

 
Liability Month 

FY14-15 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY13-14 
Revenue  
(B) 

$ Change 
FY14 to 
FY15 (A-B) 

FY12-13 
Revenue  
(C) 

$ Change 
FY13 to FY14 
(B-C) 

May 2014 $  214,330 $  208,839  $   5,491 $ 204,684  $   4,155 

June  $  207,740 $  198,781  $   8,959 $ 150,363  $ 48,418 

July $  235,549 $  193,135  $ 42,414 $ 146,719  $ 46,416 

August  $  210,817 $  186,436  $ 24,381 $ 161,686  $ 24,750 

September  $  189,923 $  191,150 ($   1,227) $ 162,871  $ 28,279 

October  $  191,588 $  203,927 ($ 12,339) $ 163,141  $ 40,786 

November  $  216,524 $  201,292  $ 15,232 $ 170,015  $ 31,277 

December  $  229,680 $  228,777  $      903 $ 203,106  $ 25,671 

January 2015 $  201,909 $  128,878  $ 73,031 $ 149,376 ($ 20,498) 

February $ 184,808 $  140,358  $ 44,450 $ 156,554 ($ 16,196) 

March  $ 219,534 $  174,087  $ 45,447 $ 169,350  $   4,737 

April - estimate $ 223,500 $  205,216  $ 18,284 $ 160,770  $ 44,446 

FY Total  $2,525,902 $2,260,876  $ 265,026 $1,998,635  $262,241 

FY Monthly 
Average  

 
$210,492 

 
  $167,166 

  
  $164,279 

 

 
 
Home rule sales tax became effective January 1, 2006 with actual receipts shown below.  By statute 
this 1% tax does not apply to food/medicines and titled products such as autos. The May 2014-March 
2015 home rule sales taxes of $496,600 are $16,682 or 3.5% more than taxes for the same period in 
2013-14. The chart on page 4 shows the home rule sales tax by month for the calendar years 2009 
through March 2015.   
 

Home Rule Sales 
Tax By Liability 
Month 

FY2014-15 
Revenue 
(A) 

FY2013-14 
Revenue 
(B) 

$ Change 
FY14 to 
FY15 (A-B) 

FY2012-13 
Revenue 
(C) 

$ Change 
FY13 to FY14 
(B-C) 

May 2014  $ 51,864  $ 54,714 ($   2,850)  $53,034  $   1,680 

June   $ 53,809  $ 50,760  $   3,049    42,795  $   7,965 

July   $ 45,382  $ 41,299  $   4,083    40,621  $     678 

August   $ 47,867  $ 44,476  $   3,391    45,029 ($     553) 

September   $ 44,378  $ 48,429 ($   4,051)    43,564  $   4,865 

October   $ 49,349  $ 44,804  $   4,545    45,591 ($     787) 

November   $ 44,780  $ 43,688  $   1,092    54,463 ($10,775) 

December  $ 51,229  $ 56,579 ($   5,350)    57,529 ($     950) 

January 2015   $ 40,487  $ 28,248  $ 12,239    38,861 ($10,613) 

February   $ 30,334  $ 27,948  $   2,386    40,939 ($12,991) 

March   $ 37,121  $ 38,973  $  (1,852)    32,851  $  6,122 

April - estimate  $ 53,000  $ 45,515  $   7,485    36,572  $  8,943 

FY Total  $549,600 $525,433  $ 24,167 $531,849 ($ 6,416) 



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 3 

 
 
 

 
 
 

2011 

2011 

2012 

2012 

2013

2014 2014 

2015 

$100

$110

$120

$130

$140

$150

$160

$170

$180

$190

$200

$210

$220

$230

$240

$250

Thousands
SALES TAX REVENUE

(not including Home Rule Sales Tax)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 4 

 

 
 
 
 

2011

2012 

2012 

2013

2013 

2014

2014 

2015 

$25

$28

$31

$34

$37

$40

$43

$46

$49

$52

$55

$58

$61

$64

Thousands

HOME RULE SALES TAX REVENUE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 5 

Other Taxes category encompasses state income, personal property replacement, and the demolition tax.   
 
The actual income tax revenue for May-June 2015 (FY16) at $145,166 is 22% higher than the same period in 
FY15 at $118,698.  Below is a chart showing the income tax revenues by month from January 2011-June 2015.   
 
According to the Illinois Municipal League, the 36% jump in the May 2013 receipts were an aberration caused 
partly by individuals and corporations reporting capital gains income in anticipation of significant changes in 
Federal tax policy.  The revenue for May 2015 is $102,570 or 5% more than May 2013.  I am anticipating a 
response soon on my inquiry to the possible cause of this increase.  Again this could be an increase in capital 
gains from the 2014 stock market rally and the expected rise in interest rates. 

 
The following page shows a bar graph of the income tax revenue by fiscal year for FY09-FY15. Fiscal year 2014 
total revenue of $557,587 was only $9 less than the peak revenue of $557,596 in FY08 and $41,917 or 8% 
greater than FY13. Fiscal year 2015 exceeds the FY08 peak by 0.5% with total revenues of $560,382. However, 
this source of revenue is one that is likely to decline if the State revises the formula for sharing income tax 
revenue with local municipalities. 
 

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY2015

$20

$25

$30

$35

$40

$45

$50

$55

$60

$65

$70

$75

$80

$85

$90

$95

$100

$105

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

Thousands LAKE BLUFF STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

CY2011

CY2012

CY2013

CY2014

CY2015



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 6 

 
 
Utility Taxes category is comprised of a tax on electric, natural gas, and telecommunications usage.   
 
North Shore Gas utility tax revenues are received quarterly in June (for February-April), September (for May-
July), December (for August-October), & March (for November-January).  The FY15 taxes are $211,628 or 3% 
less than FY14. The FY14 taxes are $218,129 which is $71,057 or 48% greater than FY13.  The February-April 
2014 quarter amount of $107,763 was 68% greater than the same quarter in 2013. This is attributed to the 
increase in natural gas consumption for building heating because of the subzero temperatures experienced in 
the Midwest during the winter of 2014. This cooler weather pattern is assumed to be partly the reason for the 
May-July 2014 amount of $51,521 which is the highest amount received for the summer quarter since at least 
1996!  Below is a chart showing the volatility of natural gas tax revenues by quarter for the past 5 years. 
 

 

$420,000

$440,000

$460,000

$480,000

$500,000

$520,000

$540,000

$560,000

$580,000

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

FISCAL YEAR

STATE SHARED INCOME TAX

Feb-Apr, $107,763 

May-July, $51,521 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

MAY-JULY AUG-OCT NOV-JAN FEB-APR

R
EV

EN
U

E

QUARTERS

Natural Gas Utility Tax Revenue

FY15 FY14 FY13 FY12 FY11



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 7 

ComEd electric tax actual revenue for FY15 of $308,147 is $11,309 or 3.5% less than the $319,456 revenue for 
FY14.  The FY14 revenue was $9,178 or 2.8% less than FY13 revenue of $328,634.  
 
Actual telecomm taxes are remitted to the Village by the State; actual receipts lag about 3-4 months from the 
liability period. The Village has not received the April-May 2015 figures from the State.  Last year the State 
notified the Village that a large telecommunications carrier was ordered to seek refunds from the states on 
behalf of customers that were charged telecomm taxes on transactions that were not properly taxable under 
federal and state laws.  Illinois municipalities were advised that a significant portion of the State refunds 
involves proceeds that were distributed to local governments. Therefore, the Village’s portion of the recovery 
of distributions is $32,792.  While the State will recover these funds over an equal amount each month for a 
year, the Village reduced its FY14 telecommunications tax revenue by this amount. After this adjustment, FY14 
revenue is $217,745; $55,867 or 25.7% less than FY13 revenue of $273,612. The May 2014-March 2015 (FY15) 
revenue is $212,539 compared to $200,481 for the same period in FY14 (after taking into account the 
refundable adjustment noted above) which represents a 6% increase. 
 
Below is a chart showing the telecommunications (from various sources), ComEd electric, and the North Shore 
natural gas utility taxes by fiscal year.  Upon review of this chart, it is very obvious that all three of these 
revenue sources are well below their pre-2008-2009 amounts. 
 

 

North Shore Gas

ComEd Electric

Telecomm

$140

$150

$160

$170

$180

$190

$200

$210

$220

$230

$240

$250

$260

$270

$280

$290

$300

$310

$320

$330

$340

$350

$360

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

Thousands

FISCAL YEAR

UTILITY TAX REVENUE
by Type for FY2009-2015 North Shore Gas

ComEd Electric

Telecomm

Telecomm
Refundfun



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 8 

Building Permit revenue for May 2015 (FY16) is $44,650 compared to $14,278 in May 2014.  FY15 ended the 
year at $1,045,008; 113% more than the receipts for FY14 due to the Target development, Heinen’s 
remodeling of the Dominick’s store and two large residences in Lansdowne.  Below is a graph of the building 
permit revenues since FY09.  
 

 
 
Sewer charge revenue for May 2015 is $14,886 which is $980 or 6% greater than May 2014. FY15 revenues of 
$161,358 are 9.4% less than FY14; consistent with the reduction in water consumption attributed to the mild 
summer and fall. The sewer charge is billed at the rate of $1.10 per thousand gallons of water used with a 
credit during the billing months of August-October for water presumed for lawn irrigation purposes.    
  
General Fund Expenditures: 
 
The May 2015 expenditures of $541,534 are $26,018 or 4.6% less than May 2014.  This difference is due to two 
major factors:  Salaries and benefits are lower in May 2015 because there were three payrolls in May 2014 
(compared to two in May 2015) and contractual costs are higher in May 2015 because of a $141k payment to 
Glenview for dispatching services.     
 
FY16 General Fund capital projects expenditures include: $709k for street repaving/curb and gutter 
replacements; $285k for sewer and lift station improvements; $280k for the West Scranton Ave pedestrian 
bridge (which is on-hold pending the State’s decision on the grant monies); $167k for sidewalk extension and 
deteriorated panel replacements; $100k for gateway signage and corridor improvements; and $90k for 
building maintenance and ADA improvements. 
 
Interfund transfers are for the Police Pension property taxes, Vehicle Replacement contributions, and the 2012 
Refunding Bonds debt payment. 
 
Water Fund Revenues: 
 
The Water sales in dollars for May 2015 is 2.5% or $2,591 lower than May 2014. The decrease in billed 
consumption of .689 million gallons (mg) reduced the revenue by $4,700 but the rate increase added $2,109 to 
the sales revenue.  Billed consumption was 14.754 mg in May 2015 compared to 14.065 mg in May 2014. The 
water rate was modified on May 1, 2015 from $6.80 to $6.95 per thousand gallons of water consumed.  
 

 $200

 $250

 $300

 $350

 $400

 $450

 $500

 $550

 $600

 $650

 $700

 $750

 $800

 $850

 $900

 $950

 $1,000

 $1,050

 $1,100

 $1,150

FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015 FY2016

T
h

o
u

s
a

n
d

s

BuildingPermit Revenues



May 2015 Monthly Financial Report 

Page 9 

Water Purchases: 
 
Water purchases for May 2015 are 19.3 million gallons compared to 22.46 million gallons for May 2014. 
Effective May 1, 2015, CLCJAWA increased the wholesale water rate from $2.60 to $2.68 per 1,000 gallons of 
water purchased.  The decrease in water purchased accounted for $8,216 in less cost but the increase in the 
rate added $1,544 to the expense for a net difference of $6,672 in water purchase expense in May 2015 
compared to May 2014. 
 
Special Revenue, Capital Projects, and Debt Service Funds: 
 
The revenues and expenditures for these funds are consistent with their specified purpose.  The IMRF and FICA 
funds expenditures are financed by property tax revenues.  The Motor Fuel Tax Fund (MFT) receives 
allotments each month from the state to be used exclusively for roadway improvements.  In FY16 all road 
improvements are expensed in the General Fund and in FY15 the General Fund supplemented the MFT by 
$182k for a total road expenditures of $490k.  The Redevelopment Fund expenditures are for the $115k for the 
Moffett Road box culvert improvement project and $65k for the Sheridan Rd/Scranton Ave pedestrian traffic 
safety enhancements.  
 
 



17-Jun-15

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A1

For the Month Ending May 31, 2015

Beginning Cash Inter-Fund May 2015

Fund Name # Cash Balance Receipts Acct. Pay/EFT Gross Payroll Transf/Other Ending Cash

Pension Benefits Balance

General  1 5,902,567.46 671,913.20 569,550.81 246,906.96 5,758,022.89

IMRF 7 235,917.10 6,846.63 22,334.33 220,429.40

Foreign Fire Tax 10 48,896.65 48,896.65

Social Security 14 184,891.73 8,607.03 28,110.43 165,388.33

Motor Fuel Tax 29 195,881.71 13,316.44 209,198.15

E911 32 200,468.50 6,932.43 617.01 206,783.92

2006 G.O. Bonds 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,430.07 0.53 13,430.60

Capital Improve 42 13,762.37 0.53 13,762.90

Redevelopment 43 242,619.73 8.79 31,574.74 211,053.78

Vehicle Replace 45 775,763.81 19.74 775,783.55

Water Fund 46 892,672.89 68,266.20 50,661.26 13,225.64 897,052.19

Train Wreath 61 2,255.36 0.08 2,255.44

Subtotal 8,709,842.78$         775,911.60$         702,848.58$         260,132.60$        -$                    8,522,773.20$         

Police Pension  (a) 62 8,684,905.65 27,278.05 3,991.89 64,353.47 8,643,838.34

Total 17,394,748.43$       803,189.65$         706,840.47$         324,486.07$        -$                    17,166,611.54$       

(a) Police Pension beginning balance has NOT been revised yet to reflect the market value of the investments as of April 30, 2015.

      Disbursements

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
10



17-Jun-15

Village of Lake Bluff

Treasury Report EXHIBIT A2

As of May 31, 2015

May 31, 2015

Checking Savings/ Certificates Gov't Mutual Fund Total Cash &

Fund Name # Accounts Money Market IL Funds MaxSafe of Deposit Commercial Obligations Stocks/Equities Investments

Lake Forest Bank (a) Paper & Municipal (a)

General 1 (101,098.98) 0.00 2,707,431.62 686,552.30      2,465,137.95    0.00 5,758,022.89

IMRF 7 220,429.40 220,429.40

Foreign Fire Tax 10 48,896.65 48,896.65

Social Security 14 165,388.33 165,388.33

Motor Fuel Tax 29 209,198.15 209,198.15

E911 32 206,783.92 206,783.92

2006 G.O. Bond 37 715.40 715.40

Special Serv 38 13,430.60 13,430.60

Capital Improve 42 13,762.90 13,762.90

Redevelopment 43 211,053.78 0.00 0.00 211,053.78

Vehicle Replace 45 508,557.77 267,225.78 775,783.55

Water Fund 46 371,637.39 525,414.80 0.00 0.00 897,052.19

Train Wreath 61 2,255.44           2,255.44

Subtotal (52,202.33)$    -$                 4,630,644.70$  1,211,967.10$ 2,732,363.73$  -$                 -$                  8,522,773.20$        

Police Pension 62 83,563.04 447,351.35 -                    2,011,079.10   2,418,457.48 3,683,387.37    8,643,838.34

Total 31,360.71$     447,351.35$     4,630,644.70$  1,211,967.10$ 2,732,363.73$  2,011,079.10$ 2,418,457.48$  3,683,387.37$  17,166,611.54$      

(a)  The CD's are shown with interest that has been added to the principal balance.  The Police Pension investments are shown at market value as of April 30, 2014.  The 

Police Pension Fund is the only fund allowed to invest in equities. The Police Pension investments will be marked to market price as of April 30, 2015 for the audited financial 

statements. 

Page 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
11



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF OUTSTANDING INVESTMENTS AS OF MAY 31, 2015 17-Jun-15 EXHIBIT B

Vehicle

Certif Interest Purchase Maturity Investment Interest Current General Replace

# Nmbr Amount Rate Date Date Maturities Credited Book Value Fund Fund

NORTHERN TRUST BANK 

35551-4 1,013,891.13 0.145% 09/02/14 09/02/15 $729.24 $1,014,620.37 $1,014,620.37

35550-6 505,578.10 0.075% 02/08/15 08/07/15 $31.17 $505,609.27 $505,609.27

35549-9 502,806.26 0.075% 02/12/15 11/05/15 $30.99 $502,837.25 $502,837.25

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--NORTHERN TRUST BANK $2,023,066.89 $2,023,066.89 $0.00

PRIVATE BANK - LAKE FOREST

52027-13 134,730.55 0.15% 7/8/2014 9/8/2015 $103.32 $134,833.87 $134,833.87

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--PRIVATE BANK $134,833.87 $134,833.87

LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST

51371-31 460,514.35 0.15% 03/29/15 09/29/15 $460,514.35 $307,237.19 $153,277.15

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--LAKE FOREST BANK & TRUST $460,514.35 $307,237.19 $153,277.15

FIRST BANK & TRUST OF EVANSTON

601724631-16 113,948.63 0.325% 08/05/14 08/06/15 $113,948.63 $113,948.63

SUBTOTAL INVESTMENTS--FIRST BANK/EVANSTON $113,948.63 $0.00 $113,948.63

TOTAL INVESTMENTS -- CURRENT BALANCE $2,732,363.73 $2,465,137.95 $267,225.78

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
Page 12



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending May 31, 2015 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Revenues

Property Taxes 114,741$       2,910,404$    3.9% 194,586$      6.9% 2,822,922$   

Sales Taxes 183,500         2,703,840      6.8% 152,600        7.0% 2,169,000     

Home Rule Sales Tax 20,000           707,840         2.8% 15,000          2.7% 550,800        

North Chicago Sales tax share -                 6,000             0.0% -                           --- 10,810          

Utility Taxes 39,700           729,945         5.4% 44,000          6.2% 713,440        

Other Taxes 167,417         707,050         23.7% 131,011        19.5% 673,265        

Vehicle Licenses 111,816         135,250         82.7% 115,385        84.1% 137,200        

Building Permits 44,650           660,000         6.8% 14,278          1.8% 775,000        

Demolition Permits 1,580             33,200           4.8% 700               2.8% 25,000          

Other Licenses & Permits 89,488           189,410         47.2% 84,641          44.8% 188,735        

Sewer Charge 14,886           176,000         8.5% 15,866          8.6% 185,000        

Services & Fees 770                29,475           2.6% 486               1.5% 31,660          

Fines 7,257             95,100           7.6% 9,779            11.7% 83,500          

Interest Earnings 54                  12,000           0.4% 74                 0.6% 12,000          

Grants -                 297,000         0.0% -                0.0% 170,000        

Sale of Property -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                

Miscellaneous Revenue 22,139           380,402         5.8% 62,153          16.9% 366,992        

Operating Transfers In -                 -                            --- -                           --- -                

Total Revenues 817,998$       9,772,916$    8.4% 840,559$      9.4% 8,915,324$   

Expenditures

Administration 40,522$         1,393,173$    2.9% 52,053$        3.4% 1,531,180$   

Finance 31,014           470,225         6.6% 38,529          8.2% 468,265        

Community Development 9,463             72,200           13.1% 20,238          5.8% 347,390        

Boards & Commissions 15,747           331,620         4.7% 464               0.8% 60,840          

Village Hall 3,454             113,350         3.0% 3,739            4.0% 92,500          

Village Properties/Vacant Land 1,472             7,150             20.6% 1,442            40.1% 3,600            

   Total Administration 101,670$       2,387,718$    4.3% 116,466$      4.7% 2,503,775$   

Police Sworn 172,166$       2,822,935$    6.1% 271,798$      10.0% 2,720,130$   

Police Records 154,574         484,583         31.9% 46,026          6.4% 717,550        

Crossing Guards -                 -                            --- -                0.0% 9,600            

Fire 8,571             733,149         1.2% 8,954            1.2% 767,975        

Public Safety Building 5,311             85,550           6.2% 9,612            9.5% 100,750        

  Total Public Safety 340,622$       4,126,217$    8.3% 336,390$      7.8% 4,316,005$   

Streets, Lighting 24,300$         1,918,100$    1.3% 37,810$        3.7% 1,027,730$   

Sanitation 45,974           603,575         7.6% 45,260          7.3% 617,610        

Forestry 7,168             187,827         3.8% 8,170            4.4% 186,735        

Parks/Parkways/Ravines 5,363             222,385         2.4% 7,286            3.9% 187,585        

Sewers 8,793             489,865         1.8% 9,256            1.7% 551,530        

Public Works Facility 2,399             53,525           4.5% 2,697            2.6% 104,135        

Commuter Station 5,245             88,928           5.9% 4,217            4.6% 91,725          

   Total Public Works 99,242$         3,564,205$    2.8% 114,696$      4.1% 2,767,050$   

Total Expenditures 541,534$       10,078,140$  5.4% 567,552$      5.9% 9,586,830$   

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
13



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending May 31, 2015 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

FUND NAME: GENERAL

Expenditures by Type

Salaries, Benefits, Insurance 280,308$       3,963,444$    7.1% 411,780$      10.2% 4,056,855$   

Contractual & Commodities 260,205         2,870,203      9.1% 103,739        3.4% 3,016,610     

Interfund Transfers Out -                 1,159,643      0.0% 42,394          3.3% 1,301,215     

Contingency -                 200,000         0.0% -                0.0% 300,000        

    Total Operating Expenditures 540,513$       8,193,290$    6.6% 557,914$      6.4% 8,674,680$   

Capital & Land Acquisition 1,021             1,884,850      0.1% 9,638            1.1% 912,150        

Total Expenditures 541,534$       10,078,140$  5.4% 567,552$      5.9% 9,586,830$   

FUND NAME: WATER

Revenues

Water Sales 102,522$       1,365,120$    7.5% 105,113$      7.9% 1,322,500$   

Connection Fees 4,800             22,000           21.8% -                0.0% 120,375        

Meter Sales 400                6,500             6.2% -                0.0% 3,925            

Other Fees -                 150                0.0% -                         ---- -                

Interest Earnings 7                    2,000             0.4% -                0.0% 2,400            

Miscellaneous Revenue 25                  450                5.6% 56                 11.3% 500               

IRMA Surplus Credit -                 3,000             0.0% -                         ---- 2,700            

Interfund Operating Transfr -                 -                        ---- -                         ---- -                

Total Revenues 107,755$       1,399,220$    7.7% 105,169$      7.2% 1,452,400$   

Expenses

Salaries & Benefits 16,541$         256,281$       6.5% 27,792$        10.2% 271,445$      

IMRF -                     25,200           0.0% -                0.0% 24,450          

FICA/Medicare -                     13,900           0.0% -                0.0% 15,325          

Water Purchases 51,724           628,125         8.2% 58,396          9.7% 603,840        

Contractual & Commodities 1,362             96,845           1.4% 1,498            1.6% 95,845          

Debt Principal/Interest Paymnt -                     219,044         0.0% -                0.0% 222,344        

Contingency -                     50,000           0.0% -                0.0% 50,000          

Interfund Transfers Out -                     15,000           0.0% -                0.0% 15,000          

Capital Equipment -                     300,000                 ---- -                        ---- 375,000        

Capital Infrastructure -                     40,000                   ---- -                        ---- 139,182        

Total Expenses before Depreciation 69,627$         1,644,395$    4.2% 87,686$        4.8% 1,812,431$   

Depreciation Expense -                -                

Total Expenses After Depreciation 69,627$         1,644,395$    4.2% 87,686$        4.8% 1,812,431$   

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
14



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF EXHIBIT C

REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT

For period ending May 31, 2015 FY2015-16

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year % of Budget Previous % of Budget FY14-15

Department Description Total-to-Date 15-16 Budget Used/Rec'd Fiscal YTD Used/Rec'd BUDGET

SPECIAL REVENUE, CAPITAL PROJECTS, DEBT SERVICE FUNDS & POLICE PENSION TRUST

FUND NAME: IMRF

Revenues 6,842$           153,790$       4.4% 10,971$        7.1% 154,100$      

Expenditures IMRF on Water Salaries in Water Fund 13,555$         158,250$       8.6% 25,865$        13.3% 194,205$      

FUND NAME: SOCIAL SECURITY

Revenues 8,604$           194,050$       4.4% 13,099$        7.3% 179,565$      

Expenditures FICA on Water Salaries in Water Fund 19,399$         245,525$       7.9% 29,857$        12.8% 233,460$      

FUND NAME: SPECIAL FIRE INS TAX

Revenues -$               27,415$         0.0% -$              0.0% 24,368$        

Expenditures -$               31,700$         0.0% -$              0.0% 28,800$        

FUND NAME: MOTOR FUEL TAX

Revenues & Transfers In from General 11,004$         171,045$       6.4% 37,299$        10.9% 342,045$      

Expenditures -$               -$                       ---- -$                         --- 490,000$      

FUND NAME: E911 SURCHARGE

Revenues 6,929$           78,530$         8.8% 6,713$          9.0% 74,730$        

Expenditures -$               141,942$       0.0% 533$             0.2% 273,177$      

FUND NAME: VEHICLE/EQUIP REPLACE

Revenues & Transfers In 10$                279,300$       0.0% 6,023$          1.7% 347,400$      

Capital Equipment Expenditures -$               194,750$       0.0% 5,626$          3.2% 175,626$      

FUND NAME: REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

Revenues & Transfers In 4$                  10$                40.0% -$                    ----- -$              

Expenditures -$               95,000$         0.0% 412,667$      229.3% 180,000$      

Revenues from this account are reimbursements for grants for North Shore Traffic signal & roadway improvement and

   Route 41/176 Interchange project.

FUND NAME: 2012 REFUNDING BONDS

Revenues & Transfers In from General Fund -$               254,293$       0.0% -$              0.0% 255,900$      

Expenditures - Bond Payments -$               254,293$       0.0% -$              0.0% 256,363$      

FUND NAME: POLICE PENSION TRUST

Additions 27,499$         976,295$       2.8% 59,317$        5.6% 1,055,315$   

Deductions 66,067$         851,700$       7.8% 70,026$        8.0% 875,947$      

Page

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
15







 

 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
        Agenda Item: 7c 

 
 
Subject: 

A REPORT CONCERNING THE ELECTRONIC STORAGE AND 
DISPOSITION OF CERTAIN VILLAGE RECORDS 

  
Action Requested: ACCEPTANCE OF THE REPORT (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
Village Staff continues to work with the Records Management Section of the Illinois State 
Archives to obtain the necessary approval to convert paper records to electronic files and to 
dispose of certain Village records. The Records Management Section of the Illinois State 
Archives is responsible for assisting local government agencies with the disposal of records.  In 
Illinois, no public record may be disposed of without State approval.  Attached is a list of Village 
documents that Staff plans on submitting to the State seeking approval for disposal.  All of these 
documents have exceeded the required holding period and the Village Board agenda packages 
have been converted to electronic files. This matter is being presented for the Board’s 
information and if there are no objections to the provided list, Village Staff will coordinate the 
appropriate disposal of the hard copy of the documents. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A List of the Village Records Proposed for Disposal. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Acceptance of the Report. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 
 
 
 



BOARD PACKAGES Inclusive Dates
Vehicle Sticker Applications 2003

Payroll Checks 2003
Route 1, 2 and 3 Water Billing Registers 2002

Water Address Books 7/93 to 1/97
Service Request Forms 2008

Daily Cash Receipts Water 1994 to 1995; 1995 to 1996; 1998 to 1999;  1999 to 2000; 
Accounts Payable Check Register FY 07 - 08

Contractors License Forms 1992-1993
Penalty Charges 1992 to 1993

Water Bills Copies 4/15/97 to 9/15/97
Route 1 Billing Register 2001

Water Payments & Adjustments 9/2001 to 11/2001
Water Open Accounts 8/2002 to 4/2005

Plan Commission Board Packets 2004 and 2005
Architectural Board of Review Packets 2004

Zoning Board of Appeals Packets 2004
Village Board of Trustee Packets 2002/ 2003 and 2004

Proposed Village Records for Disposal by the State of Illinois







VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  11 

 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE III OF THE LAKE BLUFF 

MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR LICENSES 
(Target Corporation) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
TARGET CORPORATION  

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On June 8, 2015 the Village received a liquor license application from Target Corporation. The application 
seeks approval of a Class A license which authorizes the retail sale of alcohol, in the original package and 
not for consumption on the premises where sold, as well as limited alcohol tasting activities.  Section 3-2-
10 of the Municipal Code establishes the maximum number of alcoholic beverage licenses (by 
classification) available for issuance.  Currently the liquor regulations allow for two Class A licenses 
(held by Heinen’s and Wisma).  Therefore, it is recommended Section 3-2-10 of the Municipal Code 
be amended to increase the number of licenses for Class A from two to three.  The Village Board 
approved first reading at its June 8th meeting. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Amending the Village’s Liquor Code. 
 
Liquor Commissioner’s Recommendation: Consideration of Second Reading of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of Second Reading of the Ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 



 

, 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR LICENSES 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees, _______________, 2015 

Printed and Published, __________________, 2015 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2015-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE NUMBER OF LIQUOR LICENSES 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Illinois Liquor Control Act, 235 ILCS 5/1-1 et seq., 
the Village of Lake Bluff has the authority to license and regulate the retail sale of alcoholic 
beverages in the Village; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff desires to increase the number of Class A 

licenses in response to a recently received application for such license; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the President and the Board of Trustees of the Village have found 

and determined that the adoption of the amendments set forth in this Ordinance are in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, STATE 
OF ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 
Section 1. Recitals.      
 
The foregoing recitals are incorporated into and made a part of this Ordinance by 

this reference as if fully set forth. 
 

Section 2. Amendment to Number of Licenses.   
 
Section 3-2-10, entitled “Number of Licenses" of Chapter 2, entitled “Liquor 

Control,” of Title 3, entitled "Business and License Regulations," of the Lake Bluff Municipal 
Code, shall be and it is hereby amended to increase the number of Class A licenses as follows: 

 
"3-2-10: Number of Licenses:  The maximum number of alcoholic 
beverage licenses by classification thereof available at any time 
for issuance shall be as follows: 
 
Class   Number 
 
***  *** 
A  _3____2_"  
 
Section 4. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law. 

PASSED this __ day of ______, 2015, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  ()  

NAYS: () 



 - 2 -

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 

APPROVED this __ day of _______, 2015. 

____________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
 
FIRST READING:  June 8, 2015 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   
 

 

 
 





















 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item:  13 

 

Subject: 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR 
BERNIE’S BOOK BANK AT 917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
BERNIE’S BOOKS (Petitioner) 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Bernie’s Book Bank (Petitioner), a charitable organization that distributes books to children in 
need, plans to relocate to 917 North Shore Drive.  The Petitioner proposes adding a trellis, an 
entry canopy, and a wall at the entryway on the north side of the building.  A wall sign is 
proposed on the entry wall and a ground sign is proposed east of the driveway. 
 
On June 2, 2015 the ABR considered proposal and approved the signs as submitted and 
recommended Village Board approval of the proposed alterations to the building. 
 
In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting 
the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
Brian Floriani (Bernie’s Book Bank Founder and Executive Director), Liz Peron (Facilities 
Subcommittee Chairperson), and Jim Foley (Owner’s Representative), as well as Village Staff, 
will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. Resolution Approving Building Alterations for 917 North Shore Dr.; 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Signs and Building Changes; and 
3. A copy of the May 29, 2015 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-  
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN  
FOR BERNIE’S BOOK BANK 

 
(917 North Shore Drive) 

 
 WHEREAS, the Applicant, Bernard P. Floriani Foundation Inc. d/b/a Bernie’s 

Book Bank (“Applicant”), is a tenant in that certain property located at 917 North Shore Drive 
within the Village's L-1 Light Industry District (“Property”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is improved with a single structure divided into two 

tenant spaces, and Applicant occupies the northern half of the structure; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant seeks to construct certain improvements to the 

Property, including signage, a trellis, entry canopy and entryway wall (collectively, the 
“Improvements”) all as depicted in the site plan attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and, 
 
  WHEREAS, on June 2, 2015, pursuant to Sections 10-7A-8 and 10-2-8 of the 
Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the Lake Bluff Architectural Board of Review conducted a public 
hearing and recommended that the President and Board of Trustees approve the Site Plan; 
and,  
 

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in the 
best interest of the Village to approve the Site Plan in accordance with, and subject to, the 
conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Resolution. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Resolution 
as findings of the Village Board. 

 
Section 2. Public Hearing. 
 
A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for approval of the Site Plan 

was duly noticed pursuant to Section 10-2-8B of the Village's Zoning Regulations and held by 
the Architectural Board of Review on June 2, 2015, on which date the Architectural Board of 
Review recommended that the Village Board approve the Site Plan. 

 
Section 3. Approval of the Site Plan. 
 
In accordance with the standards and procedures in Section 10-2-8D of the 

Zoning Regulations, and subject to and contingent upon the conditions in Section 4 of this 
Resolution, the Site Plan, consisting of 12 pages prepared by Partners in Design on behalf of 
the Applicant, all of which are attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A, is 
approved pursuant to Subsection 10-2-8C of the Zoning Regulations and the home rule powers 
of the Village. 

 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



-2- 

Section 4. Conditions. 
 
The approval granted in Section 3 of this Resolution is subject to and contingent 

upon each of the following conditions, restrictions, and provisions: 
 

A. Compliance with Site Plan  The development, use, and maintenance of 
the Property must be in strict compliance with the Site Plan. 

 
B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 

requirements of this Resolution, the Property must comply at all times with all applicable federal, 
state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including 
without limitation the Village's building, electrical, and fire prevention codes. 
 

 Section 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 
 
Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant to comply with any or all of the conditions, 

restrictions, or provisions of this Resolution, the Site Plan, or the Zoning Regulations, the 
approval of the Site Plan granted in Section 3 of this Resolution may, at the sole discretion of 
the Village Board, by resolution duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

 
Section 6. Effect of Approval. 
 
Pursuant to Section 10-2-8E of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations, the approval 

granted pursuant to Section 3 of this Resolution shall not authorize the establishment or 
extension of any use, nor the development, construction, reconstruction, alteration, or moving of 
any buildings or structures, but shall merely authorize the preparation, filing, and processing of 
applications for any permits or approvals that may be required by the codes and ordinances of 
the Village, including, without limitation, building permits. 

 
Section 7. Amendments to the Site Plan. 
 
Any amendments to the Site Plan may be granted only pursuant to the 

procedures, and subject to the standards and limitations, provided in the Zoning Regulations. 
 
Section 8. Effective Date. 

 
A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 

following events: 

i. passage by the President and Board of Trustees in the manner required 
by law; and  

ii. the filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the Office 
of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional agreement 
and consent, signed by the Applicant, to accept and abide by each and all 
of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in this Resolution.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be in the form of Exhibit B 
attached hereto and by this reference made a part of this Resolution. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk a fully 
executed copy of the unconditional agreement and consent required pursuant to paragraph 
8.A.ii of this Resolution within 60 days after the date of passage of this Resolution by the 



-3- 

President and Board of Trustees, then, at the option of the President and Board of Trustees by 
resolution duly adopted, this Resolution shall be of no force or effect and shall be rendered null 
and void. 

 
PASSED this ___ day of ______________, 2015, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Lake Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  () 
  
NAYS:  () 
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
APPROVED this ___ day of _____________, 2015. 
 
        

_____________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________ 
Village Clerk 

#35885151_v1 



 

Exhibit A 

Site Plan 



 

Exhibit B 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

 WHEREAS, the Applicant, Bernard P. Floriani Foundation Inc. d/b/a Bernie’s 
Book Bank (“Applicant”), is a tenant in that certain property located at 917 North Shore Drive 
within the Village's L-1 Light Industry District (“Property”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is improved with a single structure divided into two 

tenant spaces, and Applicant occupies the northern half of the structure; and,  
 
WHEREAS, the Applicant seeks to construct certain improvements to the 

Property, including signage, a trellis, entry canopy and entryway wall (collectively, the 
“Improvements”) all as depicted in the site plan attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Site Plan”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 

of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2015, (“Resolution”) approves the 
requested Site Plan for the Property, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, 
and provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Resolution provides, among other things, that 
the Resolution will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Resolution, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Resolution. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Resolution, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Facility and the Property, including, without 
limitation, the Site Plan approved in the Resolution, and that the Village’s issuance of any such 
permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant 
against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Facility or the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Resolution. 

 

 

 



 

Dated: ____________, 2015.  
 
ATTEST:      BERNARD P. FLORIANI FOUNDATION INC. 

D/B/A BERNIE’S BOOK BANK 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        

 
 
 
 



                                   2015.05.15

Bernie’s Book Bank
Village of Lake Bluff
Architectural Review Package

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



05.15.2015
PAGE 2

EXISTING SITE SURVEY



05.15.2015
PAGE 3

SITE PLAN













1
2

2

2

2

3

3

3

4

SIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTYSIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY

SIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

" 20
'-0

"
20

'-0
"

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

48'-9"

48
'-9

"

4

40'-2"

24'-2"

SIGHT LINE DIAGRAM 1

SIGHT LINE DIAGRAM 2

SITE PLAN

TOTAL PROJECT AREA = 35,240 SF

TOTAL BUILDING AREA = 84,574 SF
LOT AREA = 185,130 SF

WAREHOUSE = 23,433 SF

LOADING = 1,600 SF

LOADING = 1,520 SF
WAREHOUSE = 38,553 SF

OFFICE = 10,207 SF

OFFICE = 9,261 SF

BERNIE'S BOOK BANK

EXISTING TENANT

PARKING ANALYSIS

WAREHOUSE = 1,000 SF / PARKING SPACE
OFFICE = 600 SF / PARKING SPACE

WAREHOUSE: 23,433 SF / 1,000 SF = 23 SPACES

WAREHOUSE: 38,553 SF / 1,000 SF = 38 SPACES

OFFICE: 10,207 SF / 600 SF = 17 SPACES

OFFICE: 9,261 SF / 600 SF = 15 SPACES

BERNIE'S BOOK BANK PARKING

EXISTING TENANT PARKING

TOTAL PARKING SPACES REQUIRED:
17 + 23 + 15 + 38 = 93 PARKING SPACES

TOTAL EXISTING PARKING SPACES PROVIDED:
90 INCLUDING 2 H/C SPACES

SPACES LOST FOR NEW H/C SPACES AT FRONT
ENTRY: 2

NEW SPACES CREATED: 5

TOTAL PROPOSED PARKING SPACES:
93 INCLUDING 2 H/C SPACES

1

2

3

2

2

3

1

ZONING DISTRICT:
L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

5
5

6

EXISTING 1 STORY
BRICK AND CMU BUILDING

N.I.C.

EXISTING 1 STORY
BRICK AND CMU BUILDING

7

SHERWOOD TERRACE

PROPERTY LINE

N
O

R
TH

 S
H

O
R

E
 D

R
IV

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

S
89

°5
5'

33
"E

22
1.

95
'

S13°13'44"E

148.35'

CH.= 125.57'
RAD.= 101.12'

(R.) ARC.= 134.15'
S51°39'17"E

(M.) ARC.= 135.7'

18

8

8

8

8

75'-0"

75'-0"

S
E

TB
A

C
K

SETBACK

8

3

2

13

1

9

9

9

6

12

14

1

5

10

9

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

11

11

12

13

G E N E R A L  N O T E S

NORTH

0

1981

RZ

K E Y N O T E S

32' 16' 32' 64'

COPYRIGHT 2015 - Partners by Design Incorporated. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE DOCUMENTS MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF Partners by Design.C

ISSUE DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT:

DRAWN BY:

917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE
LAKE BLUFF, IL 60044

213 West Institute Place
Suite 203
Chicago, IL 60610
312.649.1111
www.pbdinc.com

01 2015.xx.xx ISSUED FOR

A1.0

SITE & ROOF PLAN

1. EXISTING HVAC UNIT.

2. EXISTING SKYLIGHT.

3. EXISTING ROOF DRAIN.

4. SIGHT LINE PERIMETER. HVAC EQUIPMENT UP
TO 6'-0" IN HEIGHT ALLOWED IN THIS AREA WITH OUT
SCREENING.

5. NEW ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES, PROVIDE
REQUIRED STRIPING AND SIGNS.

6. NEW 36" WIDE CONC. ACCESSIBLE PATH.

7. NEW ENTRY CANOPY AND TRELLIS REFER TO
SHEET A6.1 FOR DETAILS.

8. ALL EXISTING LANDSCAPING ON PROPERTY TO
REMAIN. ANY REMOVAL REQUIRED FOR
CONSTRUCTION WILL MATCH EXISTING PLANTINGS.

9. TENANT'S TRUCKS TO BE STORED IN LOADING
DOCK AREA EVERY NIGHT.

10.  REMOVE EXISTING LANDSCAPED AREA AND
PROVIDE 5 NEW PARKING SPACES.

11. NEW 66"W x 68"H MONUMENT SIGN TO BE LIT
FROM GROUND ON BOTH SIDES.

12. PROVIDE NEW UPLIGHTING AT EXISTING
FLAGPOLE.

13.  NEW 68"W x 120" HIGH SELF-ILLUMINATED WALL
SIGN AT FRONT ENTRY.













1
2

2

2

2

3

3

3

4

SIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTYSIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY

SIGHT LINE FROM ADJACENT PROPERTY

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

" 20
'-0

"
20

'-0
"

6'
-0

"

6'
-0

"

48'-9"

48
'-9

"

4

40'-2"

24'-2"

SIGHT LINE DIAGRAM 1

SIGHT LINE DIAGRAM 2

SITE PLAN

TOTAL PROJECT AREA = 35,240 SF

TOTAL BUILDING AREA = 84,574 SF
LOT AREA = 185,130 SF

WAREHOUSE = 23,433 SF

LOADING = 1,600 SF

LOADING = 1,520 SF
WAREHOUSE = 38,553 SF

OFFICE = 10,207 SF

OFFICE = 9,261 SF

BERNIE'S BOOK BANK

EXISTING TENANT

PARKING ANALYSIS

WAREHOUSE = 1,000 SF / PARKING SPACE
OFFICE = 600 SF / PARKING SPACE

WAREHOUSE: 23,433 SF / 1,000 SF = 23 SPACES

WAREHOUSE: 38,553 SF / 1,000 SF = 38 SPACES

OFFICE: 10,207 SF / 600 SF = 17 SPACES

OFFICE: 9,261 SF / 600 SF = 15 SPACES

BERNIE'S BOOK BANK PARKING

EXISTING TENANT PARKING

TOTAL PARKING SPACES REQUIRED:
17 + 23 + 15 + 38 = 93 PARKING SPACES

TOTAL EXISTING PARKING SPACES PROVIDED:
90 INCLUDING 2 H/C SPACES

SPACES LOST FOR NEW H/C SPACES AT FRONT
ENTRY: 2

NEW SPACES CREATED: 5

TOTAL PROPOSED PARKING SPACES:
93 INCLUDING 2 H/C SPACES

1

2

3

2

2

3

1

ZONING DISTRICT:
L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRIAL

5
5

6

EXISTING 1 STORY
BRICK AND CMU BUILDING

N.I.C.

EXISTING 1 STORY
BRICK AND CMU BUILDING

7

SHERWOOD TERRACE

PROPERTY LINE

N
O

R
TH

 S
H

O
R

E
 D

R
IV

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 L

IN
E

S
89

°5
5'

33
"E

22
1.

95
'

S13°13'44"E

148.35'

CH.= 125.57'
RAD.= 101.12'

(R.) ARC.= 134.15'
S51°39'17"E

(M.) ARC.= 135.7'

18

8

8

8

8

75'-0"

75'-0"

S
E

TB
A

C
K

SETBACK

8

3

2

13

1

9

9

9

6

12

14

1

5

10

9

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

SCALE:  1/32" = 1'-0"

11

11

12

13

G E N E R A L  N O T E S

NORTH

0

1981

RZ

K E Y N O T E S

32' 16' 32' 64'

COPYRIGHT 2015 - Partners by Design Incorporated. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE DOCUMENTS MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF Partners by Design.C

ISSUE DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT:

DRAWN BY:

917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE
LAKE BLUFF, IL 60044

213 West Institute Place
Suite 203
Chicago, IL 60610
312.649.1111
www.pbdinc.com

01 2015.xx.xx ISSUED FOR

A1.0

SITE & ROOF PLAN

1. EXISTING HVAC UNIT.

2. EXISTING SKYLIGHT.

3. EXISTING ROOF DRAIN.

4. SIGHT LINE PERIMETER. HVAC EQUIPMENT UP
TO 6'-0" IN HEIGHT ALLOWED IN THIS AREA WITH OUT
SCREENING.

5. NEW ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES, PROVIDE
REQUIRED STRIPING AND SIGNS.

6. NEW 36" WIDE CONC. ACCESSIBLE PATH.

7. NEW ENTRY CANOPY AND TRELLIS REFER TO
SHEET A6.1 FOR DETAILS.

8. ALL EXISTING LANDSCAPING ON PROPERTY TO
REMAIN. ANY REMOVAL REQUIRED FOR
CONSTRUCTION WILL MATCH EXISTING PLANTINGS.

9. TENANT'S TRUCKS TO BE STORED IN LOADING
DOCK AREA EVERY NIGHT.

10.  REMOVE EXISTING LANDSCAPED AREA AND
PROVIDE 5 NEW PARKING SPACES.

11. NEW 66"W x 68"H MONUMENT SIGN TO BE LIT
FROM GROUND ON BOTH SIDES.

12. PROVIDE NEW UPLIGHTING AT EXISTING
FLAGPOLE.

13.  NEW 68"W x 120" HIGH SELF-ILLUMINATED WALL
SIGN AT FRONT ENTRY.



05.15.2015
PAGE 4

VIEW AT ENTRY



05.15.2015

20
'-0

"

A6.1

SCALE:1 NORTH EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

SCALE:2 EAST EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

4 
E

Q
U

A
L 

P
A

N
E

LS
 =

 1
4'

-0
"

AAA

A A A A A

GREENSCREEN TRELLIS
TYP. OF 4

SCALE:3 WEST EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0" SCALE:4 WEST EXTERIOR DETAIL

3/16"=1'-0"

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-3

NEW GREENSCREEN TRELLIS

NEW SELF ILLUMINATED
BERNIE'S BOOK BANK SIGN

NEW CANOPY NEW ALUMINUM
TRELLIS PAINT P-1

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD  PAINT P-1

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-3

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-1

EXISTING BRICK WALL
TO REMAIN

1'-0" 7'-6"9'-0"

13
'-0

"
6'

-0
"

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

9'
-0

"
11

'-0
"

20
'-0

"

12
'-0

"

8"

SCALE:5 ENLARGED PLAN
1/4"=1'-0"

NEW ALUMINUM
CLAD SIDE WALL
PAINT P-1

NEW ALUMINUM TRELLIS
PAINT P-1

NEW ALUMINUM CLAD
CANOPY PAINT P-1

104

100101

103
EXEXEX

EX EX EX EX EX

NEW STOREFRONT
ENTRANCE AT EXISTING

LOCATION

NEW ALUMINUM CLAD
SIDE WALL PAINT P-1

EXISTING BRICK WALL
TO REMAIN

SLOT OPENING

EXISTING BRICK
WALL TO REMAIN

A

NEW ALUMINUM & GLASS
DOOR IN EXISTING OPENING

SCALE:6 CANOPY/TRELLIS ROOF PLAN
1/4"=1'-0"

4 
E

Q
U

A
L 

P
A

N
E

LS
 =

 1
4'

-0
"

10
'-0

"

5'-8"

NEW ALUMINUM
CLAD SIDE WALL
PAINT P-1

9'
-0

"

NEW GREENSCREEN
TRELLIS TYP. OF 4

4'-0"4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0"

3
A6.1

3
A6.1

LINE OF EXISTING SIDING
OVERHANG ABOVE

LINE OF NEW  ALUMINUM
TRELLIS ABOVE

NEW CONCRETE
PAVEMENT AT ENTRY

8"1'
-0

"
SLOT OPENING

PORTION OF EXISTING SIDEWALK &
PAD TO BE REMOVED

14'-0 1/2" 2'-9 1/2"

9'
-0

"

LINE OF BUILDING BELOW

NEW  ALUMINUM TRELLISNEW CANOPY ROOF

4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4"1'-8"

1'
-6

"

7'
-6

"

####

VS
A6.1

ELEVATIONS

02 1 2 4

COPYRIGHT 2015 - Partners by Design Incorporated. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE DOCUMENTS MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF Partners by Design.C

ISSUE DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT:

DRAWN BY:

917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE
LAKE BLUFF, IL 60044

213 West Institute Place
Suite 203
Chicago, IL 60610
312.649.1111
www.pbdinc.com

01 2013.xx.xx ISSUED FOR PERMIT & BID

NEW WINDOW TO MATCH EXISTING SPEC. AND SIZEA

EXISTING WINDOW TO REMAINEX

EXISTING DOOR TO REMAINEX

NEW DOOR SEE SCHEDULE FOR DETAILS##

20
'-0

"

A6.1

SCALE:1 NORTH EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

SCALE:2 EAST EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0"

4 
E

Q
U

A
L 

P
A

N
E

LS
 =

 1
4'

-0
"

AAA

A A A A A

GREENSCREEN TRELLIS
TYP. OF 4

SCALE:3 WEST EXTERIOR ELEVATION
3/16"=1'-0" SCALE:4 WEST EXTERIOR DETAIL

3/16"=1'-0"

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-3

NEW GREENSCREEN TRELLIS

NEW SELF ILLUMINATED
BERNIE'S BOOK BANK SIGN

NEW CANOPY NEW ALUMINUM
TRELLIS PAINT P-1

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD  PAINT P-1

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-3

EXISTING STUCCO PANEL
BOARD PAINT P-1

EXISTING BRICK WALL
TO REMAIN

1'-0" 7'-6"9'-0"

13
'-0

"
6'

-0
"

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

9'
-0

"
11

'-0
"

20
'-0

"

12
'-0

"

8"

SCALE:5 ENLARGED PLAN
1/4"=1'-0"

NEW ALUMINUM
CLAD SIDE WALL
PAINT P-1

NEW ALUMINUM TRELLIS
PAINT P-1

NEW ALUMINUM CLAD
CANOPY PAINT P-1

104

100101

103
EXEXEX

EX EX EX EX EX

NEW STOREFRONT
ENTRANCE AT EXISTING

LOCATION

NEW ALUMINUM CLAD
SIDE WALL PAINT P-1

EXISTING BRICK WALL
TO REMAIN

SLOT OPENING

EXISTING BRICK
WALL TO REMAIN

A

NEW ALUMINUM & GLASS
DOOR IN EXISTING OPENING

SCALE:6 CANOPY/TRELLIS ROOF PLAN
1/4"=1'-0"

4 
E

Q
U

A
L 

P
A

N
E

LS
 =

 1
4'

-0
"

10
'-0

"

5'-8"

NEW ALUMINUM
CLAD SIDE WALL
PAINT P-1

9'
-0

"

NEW GREENSCREEN
TRELLIS TYP. OF 4

4'-0"4'-0" 4'-0" 4'-0"

3
A6.1

3
A6.1

LINE OF EXISTING SIDING
OVERHANG ABOVE

LINE OF NEW  ALUMINUM
TRELLIS ABOVE

NEW CONCRETE
PAVEMENT AT ENTRY

8"1'
-0

"

SLOT OPENING

PORTION OF EXISTING SIDEWALK &
PAD TO BE REMOVED

14'-0 1/2" 2'-9 1/2"

9'
-0

"

LINE OF BUILDING BELOW

NEW  ALUMINUM TRELLISNEW CANOPY ROOF

4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 3'-6 1/2" 4" 2'-11" 4"1'-8"

1'
-6

"

7'
-6

"

####

VS
A6.1

ELEVATIONS

02 1 2 4

COPYRIGHT 2015 - Partners by Design Incorporated. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. THESE DOCUMENTS MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN WHOLE OR IN PART WITHOUT EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT OF Partners by Design.C

ISSUE DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT:

DRAWN BY:

917 NORTH SHORE DRIVE
LAKE BLUFF, IL 60044

213 West Institute Place
Suite 203
Chicago, IL 60610
312.649.1111
www.pbdinc.com

01 2013.xx.xx ISSUED FOR PERMIT & BID

NEW WINDOW TO MATCH EXISTING SPEC. AND SIZEA

EXISTING WINDOW TO REMAINEX

EXISTING DOOR TO REMAINEX

NEW DOOR SEE SCHEDULE FOR DETAILS##

PAGE 5
EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS



05.15.2015
PAGE 6

MONUMENT SIGN



05.15.2015
PAGE 7

WALL SIGN
FEATURE WALL SIGNAGE

Speci�cations

Client:
Bernie’s Book Bank

Date:
5-14-15

Project:
Internally Lit LED Reverse Channel
Cabinet and Letters on feature wall
at front entrance of
917 North Shore Drive
Lake Blu�, Illinois
UL listed
(Requires 20 amp service)

Copy:
Bernie’s Book Bank logo

Mounting:
2” Reverse Channel Mounted on 2” Pins
on Brick Feature Wall at Front Entrance

Color Schedule:
Logo:
Green: Pantone 375 U
Black

Substrate:
Extruded 080 Aluminum Cabinet
and Channel Letters

Gray area represents
wall HxW: 144”x108”

68”

120”

12”

12”

.080 Aluminum 2”x.063” Coil

White LED

.177” Clear Lexan

Threaded Rod
& Spacers



Bernie’s Book Bank - Landscape Concept Plan PRELIMINARY DRAWINGS - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF ILT VIGNOCCHI INC. AND CANNOT 
BE USED FOR ANY REASON WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN CONSENT 
OF ILT VIGNOCCHI, INC.    

1. EXISTING 15” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
2. EXISTING 18” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
3. EXISTING 18” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
4. EXISTING HAWTHORNS IN DECINE TO BE REMOVED (3)
5. EXISTING 10” HAWTHORN TO REMAIN
6. EXISTING 10” RED MAPLE TO REMAIN
7. EXISTING 10’ CLUMP RED MAPLE TO REMAIN
8. EXISTING 12” CRABAPPLE TO REMAIN
9. EXISTING 18” CRABAPPLE TO REMAIN
10. EXISTING 24” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
11. EXISTING 10” CRABAPPLE TO REMAIN
12. EXISTING 30” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
13. EXISTING 24” HONEY LOCUST TO REMAIN
14. NEW 5’ WIDE DECORATIVE GRAVEL STRIP
15. NEW FRONT ENTRY PLANTING 
16. NEW EAST SIDE FOUNDATION PLANTING
17. NEW MONUMENT SIGN PLANTING
18. EXISTING SHRUBS TO REMAIN

1

2

3

4

5

6
7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

1. BOXWOOD HEDGES WITH PACHYSANDRA GROUND-
COVER AND FLOWERING BULBS, TYP.
2. LILAC ‘MISS KIM’ SHRUBS, TYP.
3. GRO-LOW SUMAC SHRUBS BENEATH WINDOWS, TYP.
4. ‘NORTHWIND’ SWITCH GRASS, TYP.
5. NEW 6’ WIDE CONCRETE PATH
6. SIGN
7. FLAG POLE
8. LAWN
9. EXISTING SHRUBS TO REMAIN

1

2 3 4

6

5

7

8

8

MONUMENT SIGN WITH BOULDER 
ACCENTS, DWARF JUNIPER SHRUBS 
AND FLOWERING PERENNIALS

SCALE 1/64” = 1’

SCALE 1/32” = 1’

SCALE 1/16” = 1’

917 N. SHORE DRIVE

9
18



 

 

 



1 Light Directional Area Flood Landscape Light Finish: Green



MicroSolar - Warm White - 64 LED - Lithium Battery - Solar FloodLight ---
Automatically Working from Dusk to Dawn at Good Sunshine
with Wall Mounted Brackets and Ground Mounted Stakes
Adjustable Light Fixture from Left to Right, Up and Down 



Complete Fixture consists of Frame-In Kit & Reflector Trim. Select each separately.

2084/2002P1 
Standard Incandescent

2084/2003R
0™ Non-IC
Remodeler Ring

1”  Max.

Lytecaster® Recessed Downlighting 2084
Page 1 of 1 3 3/4" Aperture Lens Free Wet Location Trim

Job Information Type:
Job Name:

Cat. No.:

Lamp(s):

Notes:

Lightolier a Genlyte company www.lightolier.com
631 Airport Road, Fall River, MA 02720 • (508) 679-8131 • Fax (508) 674-4710
We reserve the right to change details of design, materials and finish.
© 2006 Genlyte Group LLC • D0906

Features
1. Reflectors: Formed aluminum, .040 minimum thickness; gloss white and

clear diffuse finish.
2. Frame-In Kit: (2002P1 standard frame shown). Other frames listed above and

shown on the right. See Frame-In Kit specification sheets for more details.
3. Gasket: Flexible, high temperature sillicone gasket ensure sealing of

electrical components. 

Accessories
Replacement gasket available. Lightolier catalog no. LFG 356

Labels
U.L. (Suitable for Wet Locations - Covered Ceiling Only).

2084/2000IC
Incandescent Insulated Ceiling

Reflector Trim Frame-In Kit  - See Individual Frame-In Kit Specification Sheets
2084WH Gloss White Incandescent

2084CD Clear Diffuse Frame-In Kit Ceiling Type Lamping Height

2002P1 Non IC 50W PAR20 Outdoor Rated* 3 3/8"
2003R Non IC Remodeler 50W PAR20 Outdoor Rated* 3 3/8"
2000IC IC 50W PAR20 Outdoor Rated* 5 1/2"
2000AIC IC, Air Seal 50W PAR20 Outdoor Rated* 5 1/2"

* For safe operation, you must use Sylvania outdoor rated lamp.

1

2

3

3 3/8”

5 1/8”

3 3/8”

5 9/32”



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 

             Agenda Item:  14 
 

Subject: AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S PARKING 
REGULATIONS IN THE L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT AND APPROVING A 
SITE PLAN FOR 101 WAUKEGAN ROAD 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO WAIVE SECOND READING (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
FRANKLIN 101WAUKEGAN, LLC (Petitioner)  

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
On March 5, 2015 the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) and the Architectural Board of 
Review (ABR) conducted an informal workshop with representatives from Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC 
(Petitioner) to review proposed modifications to the parking lot located at the Carriage Point Building (101 
Waukegan Rd).  On May 1st the Petitioner submitted a plan proposing to modify the site by reconfiguring the parking 
lot and adding various landscape elements.  
 

At its meeting on May 20th the PCZBA conducted a public hearing regarding the proposal and: 1) Recommended 
the Village Board approve zoning variations to allow parking in the front yard along Carriage Park Ave. and 
allow parking to encroach 65 ft. (86.67% variation) into the required front yard; and 2) Approved a zoning 
variation to allow reductions in the size of parking stalls from 10 ft. x 19.5 ft. to 9 ft. x 18 ft. (10% x 7.69%).  
The PCZBA’s recommendation is conditioned on the following: a) the Village Board’s approval of the 
variations to allow parking in the front yard; and b) the Petitioner to cooperate with the Village in the design and 
implementation of a pedestrian pathway along the north side of Carriage Park Ave. to increase connectivity 
throughout the Business Park.  
 

On June 2nd the ABR continued the site plan review public hearing to allow the Petitioner additional time to 
respond to concerns for additional landscape plantings on the site.  The ABR held a Special Meeting on June 
11th and recommended the Village Board approve the following final proposed modifications to the property: 1) 
An increase of 107 parking spaces (from 244 to 351 spaces); 2) The installation of 19 new parking lot light fixtures; 
3) Reconfiguration of the parking space locations and drive aisles and elimination of westerly entrance drive; and 4) 
Installation of additional landscaping along Carriage Park Ave., Waukegan Rd. and throughout the reconfigured 
parking lot.  Portions of the landscape plantings are proposed for the Village’s right-of-way and will be formally 
considered in agenda item 15.  
 

The Petitioner has submitted a letter requesting waiver of second reading and will also be in attendance, as well as 
Village Staff, to address questions from the Board.  
 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. Ordinance (with exhibits) Approving Zoning Variations and Modified Site Plan; 
2. PCZBA & ABR Staff Reports (without attachments) Dated May 15th & May 29th Respectively; and 
3. Letter Dated June 3rd from the Petitioner Requesting Waiver of Second Reading. 

 

PCZBA’s & ABR’s Recommendation: Approval of the Ordinance.  
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of the Ordinance, and 

Consideration of request to waive second reading.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 



 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2015-____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS  

FROM THE VILLAGE'S PARKING REGULATIONS  
IN THE L-1 LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT 

AND APPROVING A SITE PLAN 
 

 (101 Waukegan Road)  
 

WHEREAS, Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the 
property located in the Village’s L-1 Light Industry District ("L-1 District") at 101 Waukegan 
Road, Lake Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Property”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an application attached hereto as Exhibit B 
(collectively, “Application”), requesting variations (collectively, the “Variations") from: (1) the 
minimum customer or guest parking stall size requirements of Section 10-7A-6B2 of the Zoning 
Regulations to permit a stall size of 9 feet in width and 18 feet in length; (2) the minimum 
employee parking stall size requirements of Section 10-7A-6B2  of the Zoning Regulations to 
permit a stall size of 9 feet in width and 18 feet in length; (3) a variation from the parking location 
requirements of Section 10-7A-5A2 of the Zoning Regulations to permit parking in the front yard 
of the Property, and (4) a variation from the parking location requirements of Section 10-7A-5A2 
of the Zoning Regulations to permit the parking lot to encroach 65 feet into the required front 
yard, all for the purpose of reconfiguring certain surface parking spaces on the Property and 
related landscaping pursuant to the site plan attached as Exhibit C (“Site Plan”); and  

WHEREAS, on May 20, 2015, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the Variations 
and recommended approval of the Variations; and  

WHEREAS, on June 2, 2015, the Village’s Architectural Board of Review 
(“ABR”) conducted a duly-noticed public meeting to consider the Site Plan and continued the 
public hearing to June 11, 2015, and on June 11, 2015 completed its review and recommended 
approval of the Site Plan; and  

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees has determined that it would be 
in the best interest of the Village to grant the Variations and approve the Site Plan in 
accordance with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 
FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. Recitals.  

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance as the findings of the 
President and Board of Trustees.  

 Section 2. Public Hearings. 

bstanick
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 1



 A. Variations. A public hearing to consider the Applicant's request for the 
Variations was duly advertised on or before May 5, 2015, in The News-Sun, and was held by 
the PCZBA on May 20, 2015, on which date the PCZBA recommended approval of the 
requested Variations. 

 B. Site Plan. A public hearing to consider the Applicant’s request for 
approval of the Site Plan was conducted by the ABR on June 2, 2015, and continued the public 
hearing to June 11, 2015, and on June 11, 2015 completed its review on which date the ABR 
recommended approval of the Site Plan. 

 Section 3.   Grant of Variations.  

Pursuant to the standards and procedures set forth in Section 10-2-4 of the Lake Bluff 
Zoning Regulations and subject to and contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance, the following variations are hereby granted to 
permit the minimum parking stall width requirements and parking in the front yard as follows and 
in the Application: 

a. A variation from the minimum employee parking stall size requirements of 
Section 10-7A-6B2 of the Zoning Regulations to permit the employee parking 
spaces depicted on the Site Plan for the Property to have a width of 9 feet and a 
length of 18 feet; and 

b. A variation from the minimum customer and guest parking stall size requirements 
of Section 10-7A-6B2 of the Zoning Regulations to permit the customer and 
guest parking spaces depicted on the Site Plan for the Property to have a width 
of 9 feet and a length of 18 feet; and 

c. A variation from the parking location requirements of Section 10-7A-5A2 of the 
Zoning Regulations to permit parking in the front yard of the Property; and 

d. A variation from the parking location requirements of Section 10-7A-5A2 of the 
Zoning Regulations to permit parking for the Property to encroach approximately 
65 feet, or 86.67 percent, into the required front yard for the Property. 

 
Section 4. Approval of the Site  Plan. 
 
Subject to and contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and provisions set 

forth in Section 5 of this Resolution, the President and Board of Trustees, pursuant to Section 
10-7A-8 of the Zoning Regulations, hereby approve the Site Plan for the Property, consisting of 
the following documents, all as attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit C:  the Tree Removal and 
Landscape Plan dated June 11, 2015 by Brickman Group, consisting of one page; the Site Plan 
dated June 4, 2015 by Wright Heerema Architects, consisting of one sheet; the Lighting Cut 
Sheet dated June 10, 2015 by Wright Heerema Architects, consisting of one sheet; and the 
Lighting Specifications dated June 10, 2015 by Graybar, consisting of three sheets .  

Section 5. Conditions of Approval.   



The findings in Section 1 and the approvals granted in Sections 3 and 4 of this 
Ordinance are hereby expressly subject to and contingent upon each of the conditions set forth 
in this Section. 

A. Compliance with Application. The Property and all operations conducted 
thereon must be developed, used, maintained, and located in substantial compliance with the 
provisions set forth in Section 3 of this Ordinance and the Application attached to this Ordinance 
as Exhibit B. 

B. Compliance with Applicable Law. In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Property and all operations conducted thereon must comply 
at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, 
codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention codes. 

C. Future Implementation of Pedestrian Path. The Applicant acknowledges 
that the Village desires to foster interconnectivity and pedestrian access throughout the L-1 
District by encouraging the development of a pedestrian pathway that may traverse the 
northerly portion of the Property. The Applicant agrees to maintain the open space on the 
northerly portion of the Property as depicted on the Site Plan, and, in the event that the 
pedestrian pathway proceeds, to cooperate with the Village in the design and implementation of 
the pedestrian pathway.  

  Section 6. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 

  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant, or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, 
the variation granted in this Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of 
Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

  Section 7. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability. 

  The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every Section of this 
Ordinance are for and will inure to the benefit of and run with and bind the Property, unless 
otherwise explicitly set forth in this Ordinance. 

  Section 8. No Third Party Beneficiaries.   

  Nothing in this Ordinance creates, or will be construed or interpreted to create, 
any third party beneficiary rights. 
 
  Section 9. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in 
the manner required by law;  

ii. Printing and publication of this Ordinance in the manner required 
by law; and 



iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in 
the Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an 
unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by 
each and all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in 
this Ordinance.  The unconditional agreement and consent must 
be executed by the Applicant.  The unconditional agreement and 
consent must be substantially in the form attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit D. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 9.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

 

PASSED this ____ day of _________, 20__, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  ( )  

NAYS:  ( )  

ABSTAIN: ( )  

ABSENT: ( )  

APPROVED this ____ day of _________, 20__. 
 
 
               
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
 
FIRST READING:         

SECOND READING:         

PASSED:          

APPROVED:          

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:        



Exhibit A 
 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 
 
LOT 2 IN LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1, 2 AND 6 
AND PART OF LOT 3 IN NORTH SHORE AUTO SALES AND SERVICE CENTER 
SUBDIVISION AND A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE EAST ½ OF SECTION 19, 
TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, 
ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID RESUBDIVISION RECORDED MAY 23, 1984 AS 
DOCUMENT 2285299, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 
Pin # 12-19-209-011 
 
Commonly known as 101 Waukegan Road, Lake Bluff, Illinois 



Exhibit B 
 

Zoning Application and Related Documents 





























































Exhibit C 

Site Plan 





28

65

34

20

20

7

5

10

6

6

3

22

9

10

10

2

269'-11

3

4

" 37'-5

1

2

"

5
8
5
'
-
0
"

63'-0"

9
'
-
0
"

1
8
'
-
0
"

2
9
'
-
8
"

1
3
0
'
-
4

1

4

"

90'-0"

1
1
4
'
-
3
"

3
2
'
-
1
0
"

1
2
7
'
-
1

1

2

"

2
4
'-
0
"

4
2
'
-
0
"

1
8
'-
0
"

1
8
'
-
0
"

2
4
'
-
0
"

1
8
'
-
0
"

1
8
'
-
0
"

2
4
'
-
0
"

6
0
'
-
0
"

1
0
'
-
0
"

6
0
'
-
0
"

2
6
'
-
1
0
"

1
8
'
-
0
"

SNOW

STORAGE

INTERIOR REFUSE

STORAGE

46

INTERIOR REFUSE

STORAGE

2
4
'
-
5
"

34'-10

7

8

"

18'-0" 18'-0" 24'-0" 18'-0"

2
4
'-
0
"

1
8
'-
0
"

LOADING

LOADING

R

8
1
6
'
-
9

1

8

"

2

0

8

SNOW STORAGE

2

0

PROPOSED NEW

SIDEWALK

0' 8' 16' 32'

Scale: 1/32" = 1'-0"

SITE PLAN- PARKING LAYOUT

N

TCETIHCR SAAMEREEHTHGIRW
140 S. Dearborn St. Suite 200

X:\2014\20140730 Franklin- Carriage Point\03 Drawings\01 DWGS\XREFS\A-SP_2015-0603.dwg

TCETIHCR SAAMEREEHTHGIRW
140 S. Dearborn St. Suite 200

June 4, 2015

CARRIAGE POINT

101 WAUKEGAN ROAD

LAKE BLUFF, ILLINOIS

PROPOSED PARKING COUNT

9'-0" x 18'-0" SPACES: 336

H.C. SPACES: 7

TOTAL: 351

3.56 SPACES / 1000 SF

EXISTING PARKING COUNT

244 SPACES TOTAL

403.9 SF / SPACE

2.47 SPACES / 1000 SF

GREEN AREA

EXISTING GREEN AREA: 39%

PROPOSED SITE PLAN GREEN AREA: 32%

BUILDING AREA:

98,572 SF

98,572 SF





Luminaire Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity
Manufactur

er

Catalog

Number
Description Lamp

Number

Lamps
Filename

Lumens Per

Lamp

Light Loss

Factor
Wattage

A

4 Lithonia

Lighting

TWH 250M

(PROBE)

DIE-CAST GENERAL

PURPOSE WALLPACK

WITH GLASS

REFRACTOR

ONE 250-WATT

CLEAR ED-28

METAL HALIDE,

HORIZONTAL

POSITION.

1 TWH_250M_

(PROBE).ies

20500 0.4 297

B

2 Lithonia

Lighting

KAD 250M R4

(PROBE)

Area Luminaire, 250W

MH, R4 Reflector, Full

Cutoff MEETS THE

'NIGHTTIME FRIENDLY'

CRITERIA

ONE 250-WATT

CLEAR BT-28

METAL HALIDE,

HORIZONTAL

POSITION.

1 KAD_250M_

R4_(PROBE).

ies

19500 0.4 297

C

7 RAB

LIGHTING,

INC.

ALED3T150 CAST FINNED METAL

HOUSING, 6 CIRCUIT

BOARDS EACH WITH 1

LED, MOLDED PLASTIC

REFLECTOR WITH

SPECULAR FINISH AND

1 APERTURE PER LED,

CLEAR FLAT GLASS

LENS IN CAST GRAY

PAINTED METAL LENS

FRAME.

LED 6 ALED3T150-

RWLED3T15

0-

WPLED3T150 -

-

ITL79623.IE

S

2086.991 0.9 155.1

D

1 RAB

LIGHTING,

INC.

ALED4T150N CAST FINNED METAL

HOUSING, 6 CIRCUIT

BOARDS EACH WITH 1

LED, MOLDED 2-PIECE

PLASTIC REFLECTOR

WITH SPECULAR

FINISH AND 1

APERTURE PER LED,

CLEAR FLAT GLASS

LENS IN CAST GRAY

PAINTED METAL LENS

FRAME.

LED 6 ALED4T150N-

-

RWLED4T15

0N-

WPLED4T150

N -

ITL79628.IE

S

1964.248 0.9 155.1

E

4 RAB

LIGHTING,

INC.

ALED3T150 CAST FINNED METAL

HOUSING, 6 CIRCUIT

BOARDS EACH WITH 1

LED, MOLDED PLASTIC

REFLECTOR WITH

SPECULAR FINISH AND

1 APERTURE PER LED,

CLEAR FLAT GLASS

LENS IN CAST GRAY

PAINTED METAL LENS

FRAME.

LED 6 ALED3T150-

RWLED3T15

0-

WPLED3T150 -

-

ITL79623.IE

S

2086.991 0.9 310.2

G

1 RAB

LIGHTING,

INC.

ALED4T150N CAST FINNED METAL

HOUSING, 6 CIRCUIT

BOARDS EACH WITH 1

LED, MOLDED 2-PIECE

PLASTIC REFLECTOR

WITH SPECULAR

FINISH AND 1

APERTURE PER LED,

CLEAR FLAT GLASS

LENS IN CAST GRAY

PAINTED METAL LENS

FRAME.

LED 6 ALED4T150N-

-

RWLED4T15

0N-

WPLED4T150

N -

ITL79628.IE

S

1964.248 0.9 465.3

Luminaire Locations

No. Label X Y Z

Location

MH Orientation Tilt X Y

Aim

Z

1 A -2.00 493.00 12.00 12.00 0.00 0.00 -2.00 493.21 0.00

2 A 105.00 492.00 12.00 12.00 0.00 0.00 105.00 492.21 0.00

3 A 239.00 452.00 12.50 12.50 90.00 0.00 239.21 452.00 0.00

4 A 204.00 325.00 12.50 12.50 90.00 0.00 204.21 325.00 0.00

2 B 236.00 368.00 12.00 12.00 90.00 0.00 236.63 368.00 0.00

3 B 306.00 158.00 12.00 12.00 90.00 0.00 306.63 158.00 0.00

1 C 409.00 160.00 25.00 25.00 260.00 0.00 407.72 159.78 0.00

2 C 367.00 85.00 25.00 25.00 270.00 0.00 365.71 85.00 0.00

3 C 184.00 13.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 184.00 14.30 0.00

4 C 336.00 13.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00 336.00 14.30 0.00

5 C 397.00 319.00 25.00 25.00 260.00 0.00 395.72 318.78 0.00

6 C 335.00 450.00 25.00 25.00 270.00 0.00 333.71 450.00 0.00

7 C 386.00 474.00 25.00 25.00 260.00 0.00 384.72 473.78 0.00

2 D 232.00 206.00 25.00 25.00 45.00 0.00 232.92 206.92 0.00

1 E 301.00 573.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00

2 E 184.00 573.00 25.00 25.00 0.00 0.00

3 E 42.00 565.00 25.00 25.00 350.00 0.00

4 E -49.00 547.00 25.00 25.00 340.00 0.00

2 G 351.00 252.00 25.00 25.00 180.00 0.00

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min Avg/Max

Calc Zone #1 1.5 fc 9.4 fc 0.1 fc 94.0:1 15.0:1 0.2:1





TCETIHCR SAAMEREEHTHGIRW
140 S. Dearborn St. Suite 200

X:\2014\20140730 Franklin- Carriage Point\03 Drawings\01 DWGS\XREFS\A-SP_2015-0603.dwg

TCETIHCR SAAMEREEHTHGIRW
140 S. Dearborn St. Suite 200

June 10, 2015

CARRIAGE POINT
101 WAUKEGAN ROAD
LAKE BLUFF, ILLINOIS

LIGHTING CUT SHEETS



LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 7
LOT 5

AS 
DOCUMENT 

22
85

29
9

RECORDED 
MAY 

23
, 

19
84

LAKE 
BLUFF

 B
USI

NES
S 

CENTER

OH OH

A.L.T.A. / A.C.S.M. LAND TITLE SURVEY

1
0
’

C
. B

RIA
N LOUNSBUR

Y

R
O

S
EMONT, IL

LIN

O
IS

2841

PROFESSIONAL

LAND

SURVEYOR

STATE OF

ILLINOIS

(VALID ONLY IF EMBOSSED SEAL AFFIXED)

blounsbury@spacecoinc.com

LICENSE EXPIRES: 11-30-2016

C. BRIAN LOUNSBURY, I.P.L.S. No. 035-2841

                                                      

ROSEMONT, ILLINOIS.

    IN     , 20               DAY OF      GIVEN UNDER MY HAND AND SEAL THIS 

WORK WAS COMPLETED ON FEBRUARY 27, 2015

ITEMS 1, 2, 3, 4, 6(a), 7(a), 7(b)(1), 7(c), 8, 9, 11(a), & 13 OF TABLE "A" THEREOF.  THE FIELD 

LAND TITLE SURVEYS," JOINTLY ESTABLISHED AND ADOPTED BY ALTA AND NSPS, AND INCLUDES 

MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 2011 MINIMUM STANDARD DETAIL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALTA/ACSM 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS MAP OR PLAT AND THE SURVEY ON WHICH IT IS BASED WERE 

AND TO: FIRST MIDWEST BANK

    TO: CHICAGO TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY

COUNTY OF COOK   )

                 ) SS

STATE OF ILLINOIS)

C

T

T

E

U

T

Phone: (847) 696-4060  Fax: (847) 696-4065

Rosemont, Illinois 60018

9575 W. Higgins Road,  Suite 700,

JOB NO:

DATE:

FILENAME:

SHEET

OF

REVISIONS:

CH=
28
.2
8’

R=2
0.

00
’

L=
31
.4
2’

225.00’

N90°E(R)

6
4
1
.1

1
’

415.00’
S90°W(R)

L
=
3
1
0
.4

8
’(R

)
C

H
=
3
1
0
.4

0
’

R
=
4
0
1
7
.8

0
’

L
=
3
1
0
.4

7
’(M

)

2
6
5
.8

0
’

20
.0

0’

2
0
.0

0
’

LOT 2

8
0
’

8
0
’

60
’

20
’

CARRIAGE PARK AVENUE
HERETOFORE DEDICATED

H
E

R
E
T

O
F

O
R

E
 

D
E

D
I
C

A
T

E
D

W
A

U
K
E
G

A
N
 

R
O

A
D

2
0
’

10
0’

25’

39’

2
5
’

2
5
’

30’

39’

6
0
’

6
0
’

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

H
I
G

H
W

A
Y
 

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
I
O

N
 

E
A
S

E
M

E
N

T

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

1
0
0
’ 

B
U
I
L

D
I
N

G
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K
 

L
I
N

E

STREET PER DOCUMENT 2285299

HERETOFORE DEDICATED FOR PUBLIC

(IL
L
IN

O
IS
 

R
O

U
T
E
 
4
3
)

(F
O

R
M

E
R
L
Y
 
T
E
L
E
G

R
A
P
H
 

R
O

A
D
)

OBSERVATION IL EAST ZONE

TRUE NORTH BASED ON GEODETIC

BASIS OF BEARINGS:

AT CORNER

FOUND 5/8" IP

0.60’S & 0.28’E

FOUND 5/8" IP

0 40

SCALE  1" = 40’

80

N

03/19/2014

7308

7308ALTA-02

1 1

PER DOCUMENT 2733270

COMED & IBT EASEMENT

10’

1
0
’

10’

1
0
’

OWNER: 110 ALBRECHT LLC

P.I.N.: 12-19-209-012-0000

OWNER: DALE JOHNSON

P.I.N.: 12-19-209-013-0000

OWNER: OLD ORCHARD BK-TR CO TR 8637

P.I.N.: 12-19-407-001-0000

N

N.T.S.

VICINITY MAP

LOCATION

PROJECT

ROCKLAND RD
176

W
A

U
K

E
G

A
N
 

R
D

43

S
K

O
K
I
E
 

H
W

Y

U
S
 

R
O

U
T

E
 
4
1

G
R

E
E

N
 

B
A

Y
 

R
D

A
L

B
R

E
C

H
T
 

D
R

10
7.
46
’

10
0.

61
’

10
0.

96
’

10
2.
89
’

6
5
.6

1
’

6
5
.7

0
’

113.28’

104.09’

146.63’

1
1
3
.2

6
’

1
5
0
.6

5
’

CH=40
6.29

’

R=816
.76’L=41

0.60
’

DOCUMENT 3141997

EASEMENT PER

COMED & IBT

10
’

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

F
O

R
 
P

U
B

L
I
C
 
S

T
R

E
E
T
 
P

E
R

H
E

R
E
T

O
F

O
R

E
 

D
E

D
I
C

A
T

E
D

10.0’

6.5’

7.0’E

XP 

5.8’E

XP 

5.0’E

XP 

XP 9.3’N8.3’N

XP 

DOCUMENT 2285299

EASEMENT PER

UTILITY & DRAINAGE

XC 2.1’S

X
C
 
0
.3
’W

1.8’N

PEDT

WALL 0.1’W

0.5’W

WALL 

0.2’E

WALL 

~1
.3
’N

~ PEDT 0.5’N

3
1
.1
’

B
C
-

B
C

B
C
-

B
C

BC-
BC

10
4’

44
’

7
0
.0

2
’

35.03’

3
8
.7

3
’

2.52’

3
1
.3

9
’

37.43’

7
0
.0

1
’

35.06’

6
9
.9

8
’

34.98’

2.56’

34.95’

7
1
.3

1
’

2.63’

1
0
8
.6

6
’

5.04’

10.15’

2.68’

2.65’

2.58’

9.95’

10.14’

7
1
.1

1
’

5.02’

2.65’
104.99’

2.47’

7
1
.0

5
’

212.43’

7
0
.0

0
’

35.00’

2
8
.7

7
’

7
2
.5

7
’

317.37’

2.61’

28.69’

10/27/2014-TITLE

11/11/2014

11/20/2014

03/04/2015-TITLE

OF SAID RESUBDIVISION RECORDED MAY 23, 1984 AS DOCUMENT 2285299, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT 

NORTH SHORE AUTO SALES AND SERVICE CENTER SUBDIVISION AND A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE EAST 1/2 OF 

LOT 2 IN LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 1, 2 AND 6 AND PART OF LOT 3 IN 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION:

59
.4
’

49
.8
’ 

BC-
BC

6
0
.8
’ PER DOCUMENT 2285299

AND COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY

TELEPHONE COMPANY

EASEMENT FOR ILLINOIS BELL 

PER DOCUMENT 2285299

FRONTYARD BUILDING SETBACK LINE

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 

L
I
N

E
S
I
D

E
Y

A
R

D
 

B
U
I
L

D
I
N

G

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

S
I
D

E
Y

A
R

D
 

B
U
I
L

D
I
N

G
 

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 

L
I
N

E

PER DOCUMENT 228529
9SETBACK LINESIDEYARD BUILDING

PER DOCUMENT 2285299

SETBACK LINE

SIDEYARD BUILDING

P
E

R
 

D
O

C
U

M
E

N
T
 
2
2
8
5
2
9
9

S
E

T
B

A
C

K
 

L
I
N

E
S
I
D

E
Y

A
R

D
 

B
U
I
L

D
I
N

G

NAPERVILLE, IL 60653

SUITE 178

55 SHUMAN BOULEVARD

C/O FRANKLIN PARTNERS

FRANKLIN 101 WAUKEGAN, LLC

PREPARED FOR:

LEGEND

680

STORM SEWER

SANITARY SEWER

WATER MAIN

SANITARY MANHOLE

STORM MANHOLE

CATCH BASIN

INLET

FIRE HYDRANT

VALVE AND VAULT

FLARED END SECTION

STREET LIGHT

UTILITY POLE

GAS MAIN

FENCE

MAILBOX

SIGN

CONTOUR

 

 

SPRINKLER HEAD

CABLE TV UPRIGHT

GAS VALVE

HAND HOLE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

OVERHEAD WIRE(S) ON UTILITY POLES

999.99

ELECTRIC MANHOLE

TELEPHONE MANHOLE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL BOX

GUARDRAIL

WATER VALVE

UNDERGROUND CATV LINE

RAILROAD

ASPHALT

CONCRETE

BOLLARD

ELECTRIC UPRIGHT

WELL

FIBER OPTIC LINE

COMBINED SEWER

UNIDENTIFIED MANHOLE

SPOT ELEVATION

PK / MAG NAIL

RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

DISC

CUT CROSS

RAILROAD SPIKE

GRAVEL

W W

G G

T T

E E

CATV

FO FO

E

T

T

E

C

W

G

U

AUXILIARY VALVE

TELEPHONE UPRIGHT (PEDT)

IRON PIPE (IP)

IRON / STEEL ROD (IR)

XP

XC

TSHH

(R)

(M)

BC

CORNER OF PAVEMENT

CORNER OF CONCRETE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL HANDHOLE

RECORD

MEASURED

BACK OF CURB

2.16’S & 0.14’W

FOUND 5/8" IP

0.48’E

FOUND 5/8" IP

NOTES:

(TABLE A ITEM 9)

THERE ARE 244 STRIPED PARKING SPACES ON THE SURVEYED PROPERTY, 13 OF WHICH ARE MARKED HANDICAPPED.

(TABLE A ITEM 6A)

DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT ON AUGUST 8, 2012.

SITE ZONED L1 (LIGHT INDUSTRY DISTRICT) PER PHONE CALL TO THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF COMMUNITY 

(TABLE A ITEM 4)

PROPERTY SURVEYED CONTAINS 333,776 SQUARE FEET, OR 7.662 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

(TABLE A ITEM 3)

ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD PLAIN AS IDENTIFIED BY SAID F.I.R.M. MAP.

OPINION THAT THIS PROPERTY LIES IN ZONE X (UNSHADED) - AREAS DETERMINED TO BE OUTSIDE THE 0.2% 

(FIRM) MAP NUMBER 17097C0169K AND 17097C0188K MAPS REVISED SEPTEMBER 18, 2013, IT IS OUR CONSIDERED 

BASED UPON A REVIEW OF THE FEDERAL EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY (FEMA) FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP 

(TABLE A ITEM 2)

LAKE BLUFF, ILLINOIS 60044

101 WAUKEGAN ROAD

ADDRESS (PER LAKE COUNTY ASSESSMENT OFFICE ONLINE): 

12-19-209-011-0000

TAX P.I.N. (PER TITLE COMMITMENT):

ASSUMED BY SCALING.

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN FEET AND DECIMAL PARTS THEREOF. NO DISTANCES OR ANGLES SHOWN HEREON MAY BE 

SPACECO, INC IS AN ILLINOIS PROFESSIONAL DESIGN FIRM REGISTERED UNDER LICENSE NUMBER 184-001157. 

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICE CONFORMS TO THE CURRENT ILLINOIS MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR A BOUNDARY SURVEY.

AT 1-800-892-0123.

UTILITIES NOT SHOWN MAY EXIST. NO UNDERGROUND UTILITIES WERE LOCATED.  BEFORE DIGGING CALL J.U.L.I.E. 

AND SUSPECTED AND MAY NOT BE COMPLETELY ACCURATE. FOR MORE ACCURATE LOCATION, FIELD EXCAVATE. OTHER 

COMPANY FIELD STAKES, AND/OR ENGINEERING DESIGN PLANS.  THEREFORE, THEIR LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE 

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE SHOWN BY USING PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND ON THE SURFACE AND/OR FROM UTILITY 

TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, ORDER NO.: 1401-008961616-D2 WITH A DATE OF POLICY: DECEMBER 5, 2014.

THIS SURVEY REFLECTS MATTERS OF TITLE AS LISTED ON A COMMITMENT FOR TITLE INSURANCE BY CHICAGO 

FOUND IR AT CORNER

FOUND IR AT CORNER

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

LAND.

FEET OF THE NORTH 530 FEET AND THE SOUTH 10 FEET OF THE NORTH 530 FEET OF THE EAST 145 FEET OF THE 

CONTAINED IN THE GRANT RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 3141997, AFFECTING THE EAST 10 FEET OF THE SOUTH 280 

FROM THE SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUIRED AND THE PROVISIONS RELATING THERETO 

THE RIGHT FROM TIME TO TIME, TO TRIM OR REMOVE TREES, BUSHES AND SAPLINGS AND TO CLEAR OBSTRUCTIONS 

DISTRIBUTION OF ELECTRICITY, SOUNDS AND SIGNALS, TOGETHER WITH THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE SAME AND 

TRANSFORMERS, PEDESTALS AND OTHER FACILITIES USED IN CONNECTION WITH UNDERGROUND TRANSMISSION AND 

MAINTAIN, RENEW, RELOCATE AND REMOVE, FROM TIME TO TIME, WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, MANHOLES, 

THEIR RESPECTIVE LICENSEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY TO CONSTRUCT, OPERATE, 

P 18. EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY AND ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY, AND 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

FEET AND THE SOUTH 10 FEET OF THE NORTH 250 FEET OF THE EAST 160 FEET OF THE LAND.

CONTAINED IN THE GRANT RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 2733270, AFFECTING THE EAST 10 FEET OF THE NORTH 250 

FROM THE SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE AS MAY BE REASONABLY REQUIRED AND THE PROVISIONS RELATING THERETO 

THE RIGHT FROM TIME TO TIME, TO TRIM OR REMOVE TREES, BUSHES AND SAPLINGS AND TO CLEAR OBSTRUCTIONS 

DISTRIBUTION OF ELECTRICITY, SOUNDS AND SIGNALS, TOGETHER WITH THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE SAME AND 

TRANSFORMERS, PEDESTALS AND OTHER FACILITIES USED IN CONNECTION WITH UNDERGROUND TRANSMISSION AND 

MAINTAIN, RENEW, RELOCATE AND REMOVE, FROM TIME TO TIME, WIRES, CABLES, CONDUITS, MANHOLES, 

THEIR RESPECTIVE LICENSEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY TO CONSTRUCT, OPERATE, 

O 17. EASEMENT IN FAVOR OF COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY AND ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY, AND 

FOR DETAILS ON RELEASE RATES.)

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY BUT IS NOT A PLOTTABLE ITEM. SEE SAID DOCUMENT 

N 16. REQUIRED STORM WATER DETENTION AND RELEASE RATE, AS DENOTED ON THE PLAT OF SAID RESUBDIVISION. 

RIGHT HEREIN GRANTED. 

LANDSCAPING AND OTHER PURPOSES THAT DO NOT THEN OR LATER INTERFERE WITH THE AFORESAID USES OR THE 

BUILDINGS OR TREES SHALL BE PLACED ON SAID EASEMENT, BUT SAME MAY BE USED FOR GARDENS, SHRUBS, 

THAT INTERFERE OR THREATEN TO INTERFERE WITH ANY OF THE SAID PUBLIC UTILITY EQUIPMENT. NO PERMANENT 

IS HEREBY GRANTED TO CUT DOWN AND REMOVE OR TRIM AND KEEP TRIMMED ANY TREES, SHRUBS OR SAPLINGS 

INLETS, BRACES, GUYS, ANCHORS, CONDUITS, CABLES, POLES, WIRES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT; AND FINALLY THE RIGHT 

EASEMENT AREA SAID STORM AND SANITARY SEWERS, WATER AND MANHOLES AND VAULTS, PITS, CATCH BASINS, 

UPON THE LOTS AT ALL TIMES TO INSTALL, LAY, CONSTRUCT, RENEW, OPERATE AND MAINTAIN WITHIN SAID 

DRAINAGE; ALSO IS HEREBY GRANTED THE RIGHT TO USE THE STREETS FOR SAID PURPOSES, THE RIGHT TO ENTER 

AND OTHER PROPERTY WITH STORM AND SANITARY SEWER, WATER, ELECTRIC AND TELEPHONE SERVICE AND STORM 

BASINS, INLETS, BRACES, GUYS, ANCHORS AND OTHER EQUIPMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF SERVING THE SUBDIVISION 

AND CONDUITS, CABLES, POLES AND WIRES, UNDERGROUND, WITH ALL NECESSARY MANHOLES, VAULTS, PITS, CATCH 

"EASEMENT" TO INSTALL, LAY, CONSTRUCT, RENEW, OPERATE AND MAINTAIN STORM AND SANITARY SEWERS, WATER 

RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS WITHIN ALL THE AREAS SHOWN BY DOTTED LINES ON THE PLAT AND MARKED 

TELEPHONE COMPANY, THE COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY AND THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF AND THEIR 

2285299: EASEMENT PROVISIONS: AN EASEMENT IS HEREBY RESERVED FOR AND GRANTED TO THE ILLINOIS BELL 

M 15. NOTATION CONTAINED ON THE PLAT OF SAID LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT 

ROAD (ILLINOIS ROUTE 176) IS PERMITTED FROM ANY LOT IN THIS SUBDIVISION. 

DRIVEWAY ACCESS TO SKOKIE HIGHWAY (U. S. ROUTE 41) OR WAUKEGAN ROAD (ILLINOIS ROUTE 43) OR ROCKLAND 

L 14. NOTATION CONTAINED ON THE PLAT OF LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT 2285299: NO 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

BUSINESS CENTER.

K 13. HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT OVER THE WEST 10 FEET OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON PLAT OF LAKE BLUFF 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER.

J 12. SIDE YARD BUILDING SETBACK LINE 39 FEET WEST OF THE EAST LINE OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON PLAT OF 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

NORTHERLY 10 FEET OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON PLAT OF LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER.

I 11. EASEMENT FOR THE ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE COMPANY AND THE COMMONWEALTH EDISON COMPANY OVER THE 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER.

H 10. UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENT OVER THE SOUTH 20 FEET OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON PLAT OF LAKE 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

PLAT OF LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER.

G 9. ONE-HUNDRED FOOT BUILDING SETBACK LINE EASTERLY OF THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON 

(SURVEYOR’S NOTE: THIS EXCEPTION AFFECTS THE PROPERTY AND IS SHOWN HEREON.)

PLAT OF LAKE BLUFF BUSINESS CENTER.

F 8. SIXTY FOOT FRONT YARD BUILDING SETBACK LINE SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT AS SHOWN ON 

PROPERTY SUBJECT TO:

BUT WERE NOT VISIBLE AT THE TIME OF SURVEY DUE TO +/-1.0’OF SNOW COVER.

SNOW CONDITIONS EXISTED OVER THE SITE AT THE TIME OF FIELD WORK. ADDITIONAL IMPROVEMENTS MAY EXIST, 

FOUND 
IR
 A

T 
CORNER

TIE WALL

RAILROAD

POINT" 

"CARRIAGE

GUY WIRE

MAST 6’ E,W

5
 

W
IR

E
S

CULVERT

24"x36"BOX

CATV VAULT

AT&T BOX

ONLY

RIGHT TURN

UP/LP

1 W
IR

E

"SPEED LIMIT 25"

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

AMERITECH

UTILITY VAULT

AMERITECH
PATIENT PARKING ONLY"

"RESERVED PARKING/

POINT" 

"CARRIAGE

"NO PARKING"

"NO PARKING"

HANDICAPPED"

"RESERVED PARKING

 

BRICK & CONC SIGN

"101 CARRIAGE POINT"

WOOD GATE

12" WIDE

RETAINING WALL

"PATIENT PARKING ONLY"

"RESERVED PARKING"

& GAS METERS

GAS CONNECTION

"RESERVED PARKING"

EROSION PAD

ROCK & CONC

EROSION PAD

ROCK & CONC

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

AMERITECH

CLOTH CANOPY

SCULPTURE

SHEET METAL

VALVE

WALL 

STONE RETAINING

"HANDICAP PARKING"

"HANDICAP PARKING"

METAL SIGN

"CARRIAGE POINT" 

HAND RAIL

METAL 

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

"HANDICAP PARKING"

CLOTH CANOPY

WALL

RETAINING 

STONE

WALL

BRICK

TSHH

TSHH

AT&T MH

(TYP)

CONC WALL

AUTO SPRINKLER

BOX

ELEC PANEL/

& GAS METERS

GAS CONNECTION

"HANDICAP PARKING"

ENCLOSURE 

6’ WOOD FENCE 

DITCH

CONC 

(TYP)

CONC WALL

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

LIGHTING

LANDSCAPE 

PARKING"

"RESERVED 

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

TS
HH

CONC PAD 

TRANS ON

(RECESSED BUILDING FACE)

(RECESSED BUILDING FACE)

"PATIENT PARKING"

PARKING"

"HANDICAPPED 

AT TIME OF SURVEY

TELEPHONE PAINT MARKS

AT TIME OF SURVEY

CATV PAINT MARKS

AT TIME OF SURVEY

ELEC PAINT MARKS

CAN

IBT UTILITY

CAN

CATV UTILITY

FLAG

PIN 

GAS 

BLDG HEIGHT = 17.7’

(ALL BUILDING DIMENSIONS TO UPPER BUILDING FACE)

(AT UPPER BUILDING FACE)

AREA = 98,572 SQUARE FEET

#101

BRICK & CONCRETE OFFICE BUILDING

ONE STORY 

DETENTION AREAS

SHALLOW DEPRESSED 

DETENTION AREAS

SHALLOW DEPRESSED 

N:\Projects\7308\SURVEY\7308ALTA-02.dgn  Default  User=iwiczkowski

bstanick
Text Box
EXISTING CONDITIONS



OH OH

(IL
L
IN

O
IS
 

R
O

U
T
E
 
4
3
)

W
A

U
K
E
G

A
N
 

R
O

A
D

CARRIAGE PARK AVENUE

N

0 40

SCALE  1" = 40’

80

LAST DATE OF FIELD WORK: 03/20/2015.

 

PLAN FLOW DIRECTION IS SHOWN.

INDICATE OTHERWISE, IN WHICH CASE THE EXISTING

ON FIELD INVERT ELEVATIONS UNLESS EXISTING PLANS

PIPE FLOW DIRECTIONS, IF SHOWN, ARE BASED

 

LOCATION, FIELD EXCAVATE.

NOT BE COMPLETELY ACCURATE. FOR MORE ACCURATE

LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE AND SUSPECTED AND MAY

COMPANY FIELD STAKES AND, THEREFORE, THEIR

EVIDENCE FOUND ON THE SURFACE AND/OR FROM UTILITY

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE SHOWN BY USING PHYSICAL

 

NOTE:

LEGEND

680

STORM SEWER

SANITARY SEWER

WATER MAIN

SANITARY MANHOLE

STORM MANHOLE

CATCH BASIN

INLET

FIRE HYDRANT

VALVE AND VAULT

FLARED END SECTION

STREET LIGHT

UTILITY POLE

GAS MAIN

FENCE

MAILBOX

SIGN

CONTOUR

 

 

SPRINKLER HEAD

CABLE TV UPRIGHT

TELEPHONE UPRIGHT

GAS VALVE

HAND HOLE

BUSH

TRAFFIC SIGNAL

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

OVERHEAD WIRE(S) ON UTILITY POLES

999.99

TREE WITH SIZE
12"

FIR TREE WITH SIZE12"

ELECTRIC MANHOLE

TELEPHONE MANHOLE

TRAFFIC SIGNAL BOX

GUARDRAIL

WATER VALVE

UNDERGROUND CATV LINE

RAILROAD

SOIL BORING

ASPHALT

CONCRETE

BOLLARD

ELECTRIC UPRIGHT

WELL

FIBER OPTIC LINE

COMBINED SEWER

UNIDENTIFIED MANHOLE

SPOT ELEVATION

PK / MAG NAIL

RIGHT-OF-WAY MONUMENT

DISC

IRON / STEEL ROD

IRON PIPE

CUT CROSS

RAILROAD SPIKE

GRAVEL

W W

G G

T T

E E

CATV

FO FO

E

T

T

E

C

W

G

U

WETLAND LIMITS

EDGE OF WATER

B

AUXILARY VALVE

B BOX

E
X
IS

T
IN

G
 

C
O

N
D
IT
IO

N
S

L
A

K
E
 

B
L

U
F
F
 
B

U
S
IN

E
S
S
 

C
E

N
T
E

R
L

A
K

E
 

B
L

U
F
F
, 
IL

L
IN

O
IS

7308

7308TOPO-01

1 1

03/25/2015

ELEVATION = 684.14

MOST WESTERN LIGHT POLE IN NORTHWESTERN PARKING LOT.

CUT CROSS ON SOUTH SIDE OF CONCRETE LIGHT POLE BASE AT

SITE BENCHMARK #2:

ELEVATION = 684.55

120 FEET SOUTHEAST OF FRONT DOOR ENTRANCE.

SOUTHEAST BOLT ON FIRE HYDRANT IN ISLAND APPROXIMATELY 

SITE BENCHMARK #1:

DATUM: NAVD 88

ELLIPSOIDAL HEIGHT = 179.385 METERS (700.76 FEET)

SITE LAK137 1B (NGS PID AJ2876).

ELEVATION ARE BASED ON GPS OBSERVATIONS FROM NGS COOP COR 

SOURCE BENCHMARK:

317.37’

7
2
.5

7
’

34.98’

6
9
.9

8
’

35.06’

7
0
.0

1
’

37.43’

3
1
.3

9
’

2.52’

3
8
.7

3
’

35.03’

7
0
.0

2
’

35.00’

7
0
.0

0
’

212.43’

2.47’

2.65’104.99’

2.58’

2.65’

2.68’

10.15’

2.63’

7
1
.3

1
’

34.95’

2.56’

2
8
.6

9
’

2.61’

1
0
8
.6

6
’

5.04’

9.95’

10.14’

2
8
.7

7
’

7
3
.6

5
’

7
1
.1

1
’

5.
02
’

C

T

T

E

T

9"

17"

15"

14" 16"

17"

16"

16"

13" 19"

13" 14"

17"

17"

28"

14"

19"

14"

16"

15"

14"

16"

19"

13"

22"
13"

24"

15"

16"

17"

12"

16"

16"

17"

31"

21"

E1
OF

JOB NO.

FILENAME:

DATE:

SHEET

N
O
.

D
A

T
E

R
E

M
A

R
K

S
P
h
o
n
e
: 
(8

4
7
) 
6
9
6
-4

0
6
0
  
F
a
x
: 
(8

4
7
) 
6
9
6
-4

0
6
5

R
o
se

m
o
n
t,
 I
lli
n
o
is
 6

0
0
1
8

9
5
7
5
 W
. 

H
ig

g
in
s 

R
o
a
d
, 
 S

u
it
e
 7

0
0
,

TIE WALL

RAILROAD

POINT" 

"CARRIAGE

GUY WIRE

MAST 6’ E,W

5
 

W
IR

E
S

CATV VAULT

A
T

&
T
 

B
O

X

ONLY

RIGHT TURN

UP/LP

1 W
IR

E

C
O

N
C
 
P

A
D

T
R

A
N
S
 

O
N

A
M

E
R
IT

E
C

H UTILITY VAULT

AMERITECH

PATIENT PARKING ONLY"

"RESERVED PARKING/

POINT" 

"CARRIAGE

"NO PARKING"

"NO PARKING"

HANDICAPPED"

"RESERVED PARKING

 

BRIC
K 

& 
CONC 

SIG
N

"101
 CARRIA

GE
 P

OIN
T"

WOOD GATE

12" WIDE

RETAINING WALL

"PATIENT PARKING ONLY"

& GAS METERS

GAS CONNECTION

E
R

O
S
IO

N
 
P

A
D

R
O
C
K
 

&
 
C
O
N
C

EROSION PAD

ROCK & CONC

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

AMERITECH

CLOTH CANOPY

SCULPTURE

SHEET METAL

VALVE

WALL
 STONE 

RETAIN
ING

"HANDICAP PARKING"

METAL SIGN

"CARRIAGE POINT" 

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

BRICK WALL

"HANDICAP PARKING"

CLOTH CANOPY

WALL

RETAINING 

STONE

WALL

BRICK

TSHH

TSHH

AT&T MH

(TYP)

CONC WALL

AUTO SPRINKLER

& GAS METERS

GAS CONNECTION

ENCLOSURE 

6’ WOOD FENCE 

(TYP)

CONC WALL

CONC 
PAD

TRANS
 O

N

LIG
HTI

NG
LA

NDSCAP
E 

PARKING"

"RESERVED 

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

TS
HH

CONC PAD 

TRANS ON

(RECESSED BUILDING FACE)

(RECESSED BUILDING FACE)

"PATIENT PARKING"

AT TIME OF SURVEY

CATV PAINT MARKS

AT TIME OF SURVEY

ELEC PAINT MARKS

CAN

IBT UTILITY

CAN

CATV UTILITY

BLDG HEIGHT = 17.7’

(ALL BUILDING DIMENSIONS TO UPPER BUILDING FACE)

(AT UPPER BUILDING FACE)

AREA = 98,572 SQUARE FEET

#101

BRICK & CONCRETE OFFICE BUILDING

ONE STORY 

FF=684.45

FF=684.41

GF=683.40

GF=683.41

FF=684.35

GF=683.41

GF=683.36

F
F
=6
8
4
.3
6

FF=684.37

DUMPSTER

ENCLOSING

7’ FENCE

CONC PAD

TRANS ON

I=678.92

CULVERT

2’x3’BOX

S I=677.47,24"RCP

S I=678.54,24"RCP

NE I=679.76,12"RCP
E I=680.36,24"RCP

SNOW FILLED

S I=680.66+/-,12"RCP

R=683.56

SNOW FILLED

S I=680.45+/-,12"RCP

R=683.55

W,E,S I=673.15,10"PVC

N I=673.90,8"PVC

R=683.35

R=687.05

E 
I=67

4.5
2,12

"DIP

W 
I=67

4.72
,12"

DIP

R=68
5.4

7

E I=674.37,10"DIP

N,W I=674.52,12"DIP

R=684.47

S I=680.87,12"RCP

W I=681.57,12"RCP

R=685.57

E I=673.85,10"DIP

W I=674.00,10"DIP

SW I=674.05,10"DIP

R=683.45

W,N,S I=676.15

R=682.65

NW,S I=677.30,12"RCP

R=681.92

N I=676.62,12"RCP

W I=676.62,15"RCP

R=681.77

E,W I=676.32,15"RCP

R=682.52

E,W I=676.10,15"RCP

R=682.50

S I=675.89,15"RCP

N,SW,NE I=675.99,15"RCP

R=682.49

NE I=677.46,15"RCP

N I=677.46,6"PVC

R=679.91
N,S=679.17,24"RCP

R=683.67

E I=681.31,12"RCP

W I=681.31,12"DIP

R=685.31

S I=676.21,15"RCP

N I=676.56,15"RCP

W I=677.01,15"RCP

E I=678.91,10"RCP

R=682.71

PARKING"

"HANDICAP 

PARKING"

"HANDICAP 

GAS PIN FLAG

TIME OF SURVEY

PAINT MARKS AT 

TELEPHONE 

PARKING"

"HANDICAP 

ELEC PANEL/BOX

12"RCP

W I=682.72,

R=686.72

(TYP OF 3)

"RESERVED PARKING"

FF=684.43

(LOCKED)

DRAIN

I=680.53,24"RCP

W I=680.31,10"RCP

R=682.51

SW I=679.16,10"RCP

N I=679.61,10"RCP

R=681.86

E I=679.97,10"RCP

W I=679.92,10"RCP

R=682.67

S I=679.73,10"RCP

R=681.98

E I=679.23,10"RCP

W I=679.13,10"RCP

R=682.48

S I=677.51,12"RCP

E I=678.11,10"RCP

R=682.56

W I=679.36,12"RCP

R=681.66

N I=679.19,12"RCP

E,W I=679.34,12"RCP

R=681.79

E I=679.68,12"RCP

R=681.83

SE I=677.93,12"RCP

N I=677.98,12"RCP

R=681.93

N,S I=678.02,12"RCP

R=681.87

S I=678.24,12"RCP

SE I=678.59,10"RCP

NE I=678.64,10"RCP

R=682.04

N
,S
 
I=6

7
7
.5

2
,6
"P

V
C

E
 
I=6

7
7
.3

2
,15

"R
C
P

R
=6

7
9
.7
2

N
,S
 
I=6

7
7
.6
3
,6
"P

V
C

E
 
I=6

7
7
.4
8
,15

"R
C
P

R
=6

7
9
.8
8

N,E I=675.88,15"RCP

S I=675.88,6"DIP

R=682.48

OCS

N,E I=676.43,24"RCP

R=681.98
W,E I=672.55,24"RCP

N I=672.85,15"RCP

R=679.90

S
 
I=6

7
6
.9
5
,6
"P

V
C

R
=6

7
9
.8
5

T/WALL685.56
T/WALL685.05

T/
WAL

L6
85
.29

T/WALL681.28

T/WALL681.73
T/WALL681.26

T/WALL681.80
T/WALL682.31

T/WALL681.87
T/WALL681.33

T/WALL680.83

678.24,6"PVC

NW,SE I=

R=679.99

(LOCKED)

DRAIN

LIM
IT 

25
"

"SP
EED 

R=684.77

10"RCP

NW I=679.61,

R=682.31

(TYP OF 7)

PARKING"

"RESERVED 

STRUCTURE

OVER 

VEHICLE

R=683.59

CONC DITCH

PLUGGED)

(NORTH INVERT

S I=679.91,24"RCP

R=685.96

THIS AREA

STRUCTURE IN

POSSIBLE BURIED

BENCHMARK #1

SITE 

BENCHMARK #
2

SIT
E 

EP=677.61

EP=677.91

67
7.9

3

678

6
7
8

678.24

EP=678.57

EP=678.74

678.88

679

679

6
7
9

6
7
9

EP=679.09

679.10

679.49

679.50

EP=679.59

679.67

EP=679.69

EP=679.71

679.72

EP=679.73

EP=679.78

E
P
=6
79
.8
0

EP=679.81

E
P
=6
7
9
.8
4

679.84

EP=679.95

E
P
=679.96

679.96

EP=6
79
.96

680

680

6
8
0
.0

1

EP=68
0.14

EP=680.26

EP=68
0.3

3

EP=680.37

6
8
0
.4

8

6
8
0
.5

0

680.5
4

680.54

681

681

6
8
1

6
8
1

68
1

6
8
1

6
8
1

6
8
1

68
1

6
8
1

681.80

FL=681.98

6
8
1.
9
9

682

682

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2 6

8
2

68
2

682

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

6
8
2

FL=682.01

EP=682.04

682.04

682.05

FL=682.05
EP=682.07

682.09

682
.10

682.10

682.11

EP=682.11

682.11

6
8
2
.14

682.15

EP=682.17

682.17

EP=682.18

FL=682.18

6
8
2
.2

2

682.23

682.24

TC=682.24

682.25

682.25

FL=682.26

17"

68
2
.2
7

6
8
2
.2

8

EP=682.28

682.30

TC=
68

2.3
0

EP=682.31

68
2.3

1

682.32

6
8
2
.3

2

682.33

682.33

682.34

682.34

EP=682.35
FL=682.35

682.36

EP=682.36

682.37

6
8
2
.3

7

EP=682.37

682.38

682.39

6
8
2
.3

9

682.39

EP=682.40

682.41

682.41

FL=682.41

EP=682.43

9"

EP=682.45

EP=682.45

682.47

EP=682.48

682.50

TC=682.51

682.51

6
8
2
.5

2

EP=682.52

682.52

682.52

FL=682.52

682.52

EP=682.52

EP=682.53

6
8
2
.5

4

EP=682.54

682.54

682.56

EP=682.56

682.57

EP=682.57

EP=682.59

6
8
2
.5
9

682.60

FL=682.60

EP=682.60

682.60

EP=682.60

682.60

EP=682.61

EP=682.62

682.62

TC=682.62

682.62

682.62

682.63

682.63

682.64 682.64

682
.64

682.65

682.65

682.65

EP=682.65

682.66

682.66

EP=682.66

6
8
2
.6

6

682.67

TC=682.67

6
8
2
.6

7

EP=682.67

682.68

EP=682.68

682.68

6
8
2
.6

9

EP=682.69

682.70

682.70

682.70

682.71

6
8
2
.7
2

68
2.
73

682.73

682.73

6
8
2
.7

3

TC=6
82
.74

682.75

682.75

EP=682.76

6
8
2
.7
6

682.77

682.77

682.77

6
8
2
.78

68
2.
79

6
8
2
.7
9

EP=682.79

682.80

682.80

68
2.
80

682.80

682.81

EP=682.81

68
2.8

1

682.82

682.82

TC=682.83

EP=682.83

682.84

682.84

682.84

TC=682.85

EP=682.86

682.86

FL=682.86

68
2.
86

682.86

682.87

TC=682.87

682.87

682.87

682.87

TC=682.88

EP=682.88

EP=682.88

EP=682.88

682.88

TC=682.88

682.88

TC=682.89

EP=682.89

682.89

EP=682.89

682.90

EP=682.90

682.91

TC=
68

2.
91

EP=682.91

EP=682.91

TC=682.91

682.92
682.93

68
2.9

3

EP=682.93

EP=682.93

TC=682.94

TC=682.94

TC=682.94

EP=682.94

TC=682.94

TC=682.95

EP=682.95

EP=682.96

EP=682.96

TC=682.97

682.97

682.97

FL=682.97

EP=682.98

FL=682.98

EP=682.98

T
C=
68

2
.9
8

TC=682.99

EP=682.99

E
P
=6

8
2
.9
9

6
8
3

6
8
3

683

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

683

68
3

683

683

683

6
8
3

683

683

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

6
8
3

683

683

683

6
8
3

FL=683.00

TC=683.00

FL=683.01

TC=683.01

683.01

TC=683.02

683.02

TC=683.03

683.03

EP=683.04

EP=683.05

EP=683.05

TC=683.05

EP=683.05

28"

EP=683.06

683.07

EP=683.07

683.07

TC=683.07

TC=683.07

TC=683.07
TC=683.08

TC=683.08

683.09

TC=683.09

683.09

683.09

EP=683.10

EP=683.10

TC=683.11

6
8
3
.11

TC=683.11

EP=683.13

EP=683.13

EP=683.13

EP=683.13

EP=683.13

EP=683.14

6
8
3
.1
4

EP=683.14

E
P
=6

8
3
.1
4

EP=683.15

6
8
3
.16

EP=683.17

TC=683.17

683.17

TC=683.18

683.18

EP=683.18

EP=683.19

EP=683.19

683.20

EP=683.21

EP=683.21

FL=683.21

EP=683.21

6
8
3
.2

1

EP=683.21

683.21

EP=683.22

EP=683.22

EP=683.23

EP=683.23

683.23

EP=683.23

TC=683.23

EP=683.23

683.23

TC=683.24

683.24

EP=683.24

TC=683.24

TC=683.25

EP=683.26
EP=683.26

68
3.
26

EP=683.27

EP=683.27

EP=683.28

EP=683.28

EP=683.29

TC=683.29

TC=683.29

683.30

EP=683.30

EP=683.31

TC=683.31

TC=683.31

TC=683.31

EP=683.32

TC=683.32

TC=683.33

EP=683.33

EP=683.33

EP=683.33

683.33683.34

68
3
.3
4

68
3.3

4

683.35

683
.3
5

EP=683.35

68
3
.3
6

E
P

=6
8
3
.3

6

EP=683.36

EP=683.36

EP=683.36

683.37

EP=683.37

TC=683.37

683.38

TC=683.38

EP=683.38

TC=683.38

EP=683.39

4"

TC=683.41

EP=683.41

TC=683.41

EP=683.41

EP=683.41

EP=683.41

TC=683.42

EP=683.42

T
C
=6
8
3
.4
2

EP=683.42

EP=683.42

EP=683.43

TC=683.43

EP=683.43

EP=68
3.4

3

EP=683.44

EP=683.44

TC=6
83
.44

TC=683.44

EP=683.45

TC=683.45

683.46

EP=683.47

TC=683.47

EP=683.47

EP=683.47

EP=683.47

683.47

TC=683.47

EP=683.47

TC=683.48

EP=683.48

EP=683.49

683.49

17"

FL=683.50

EP=683.50

TC=683.50

TC=683.51

TC=683.52

EP=683.52

EP=683.52

TC=683.53

TC=683.53

EP=683.53

TC=683.53

EP=683.53

EP=683.53

TC=683.54

TC=683.54

TC=683.54

TC=683.55

EP=683.55

TC=683.55

TC=683.55

TC=683.55

EP=683.56

683.56

TC=683.56

TC=683.56

EP=683.58

EP=683.58

TC=683.58

EP=683.59

683.59

EP=683.59

683.59

EP=683.59

EP=683.60

EP=683.60

TC=683.60

TC=683.61

TC=683.61

EP=683.61

TC=683.62

6
8
3
.6

2

EP=683.62

TC=683.63

EP=683.63

TC=683.64

EP=683.64

TC=683.65

TC=683.65

EP=683.65

EP=683.65

TC=683.66

EP=683.66

EP=683.66

TC=683.66

TC=683.67

TC=683.68

EP=683.68

TC=683.69

TC=683.69

TC=683.70

T
C
=6
8
3
.7
0

TC=683.70

683.71

TC=683.71

683.71

TC=683.72

TC=683.72

TC=683.72

TC=683.72

TC=683.73

TC=683.73

68
3.
73

TC=683.74

TC=683.75

T
C
=6
8
3
.7
5

EP=683.75

TC=683.75

TC=683.75

TC=683.76

683
.76

TC=683.76

TC=683.76

EP=683.77

TC=683.77

TC=683.77

6
8
3
.7

7

TC=683.78

683.79

TC=683.79

TC=683.81

TC=683.81

68
3.
82

683.82

TC=683.82

EP=683.82

TC=683.83

TC=683.84

TC=683.85

TC=683.85

683.85

683.86

TC=683.86

6
8
3
.8

7

TC=683.87

EP=683.87

EP=683.87

683.87

EP=683.88

EP=683.88

TC=683.88

EP=683.89

EP=683.89

EP=683.90

68
3.
91

683.91

TC=683.91

TC=683.91
EP=683.91 TC=683.91

68
3.
91

EP=683.91

TC=683.92

6
8
3
.9
2

683.92

EP=683.92

683.93

T
C
=6

8
3
.9
3

TC=683.93

TC=683.93

EP=683.93

6
8
3
.9

4

TC=683.94

TC=683.95

EP=683.95

683.95

TC=683.96

EP=68
3.96

6
8
3
.9
6

3"

683.96

TC=683.96

T
C
=6

8
3
.9

6

EP=683.97

TC=683.97

TC=683.97

TC=683.97

T
C
=6

8
3
.9
8

TC=683.98

TC=683.99

TC=683.99

6
8
4

6
8
4

6
8
4

6
8
4

6
8
4

6
8
4

6
8
4

684

6
8
4

684

68
4

6
8
4

684

6
8
4

684

684

684

6
8
4

6
8
4

684

684

TC=684.01

684.01

T/WALL684.01

T
C
=6

8
4
.0
1

T
C
=6

8
4
.0

2

4"

TC=684.02

TC=684.02

EP=684.02

684.03

T
C
=6

8
4
.0
3

TC=684.03

684.03

TC=684.03

TC=684.04

TC=684.04

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.05

TC=684.07

TC=684.07

FL=684.08

28"

TC=684.08

T
C
=6

8
4
.0

8

5"

TC=684.10

T
C
=6

8
4
.12

TC=684.12

TC=684.12

684.12

TC=684.12

TC=684.13

TC=
68

4.
13

TC=684.14

TC=684.14

684.14

T
C
=6

8
4
.1
5

EP=684.15

TC=684.16

TC=684.16

684.16

TC=684.17

TC=
68

4.1
7

6
8
4
.17

TC=
68

4.1
8

TC=684.18

TC=684.18

T
C
=6

8
4
.18

TC=684.18

TC=684.19

TC=
68

4.1
9

T
C
=6

8
4
.2
0

TC=684.20

TC=684.20

T
C=684.2

1

684.21

TC=684.21

684.21

TC=684.22

684.22

T
C
=6
8
4
.2
2

T
C
=6

8
4
.2

2

68
4.
23

TC=684.23

TC=684.24

3"

TC=684.25

TC=
68

4.2
5

TC=684.25

684.26

684.27

684.27

4"

684.28

684.28

684.28

6
8
4
.2

9

684.31

6
8
4
.3

1

TC=684.31

6
8
4
.3

2

684.32

TC=684.32

TC=684.32

6
8
4
.3

2

6
8
4
.3

2

TC=684.32

684.33

6
8
4
.3

3

684.34

684.34

6
8
4
.3

5

6
8
4
.3
5

6
8
4
.3

5

6
8
4
.3

5

6
8
4
.3

5

6
8
4
.3

5

TC=684.35

TC=684.35

6
8
4
.3

5

6
8
4
.3

6

TC=684.37

684.37

T
C=
68

4.
3
7

EP=684.37

TC=684.37

684.37

TC=684.38

TC=6
84.3

9

684.3
9

6
8
4
.3

9

6
8
4
.3

9

6
8
4
.3

9

TC=684.39

6
8
4
.4
1

6
8
4
.4

1

6
8
4
.4

1

TC=684.41

6
8
4
.4

2

T
C
=6

8
4
.4
2

6
8
4
.4
3

TC=684.43

TC=6
84
.43

TC=684.44

6
8
4
.4
4

TC=684.44

6
8
4
.4
4

6
8
4
.4

5T
C
=6

8
4
.4
9

684.49

T
C
=6

8
4
.5

0

TC=
68

4.
51

TC=684.53 TC=684.55

6
8
4
.5
8

TC=684.58

684.60

6"

684.63

TC=684.65

684.67

FL=684.67

TC=684.68

EP=684.70

684.73

FL=684.73
EP=684.74

684.76

EP=684.83

684.91

FL=684.93

4"

684.94

EP=684.94
FL=684.96

684.97

TC=684.99

6
8
5

6
8
5

6856
8
5

6
8
5

6
8
5

6
8
5

6
8
5

68
5

685

685

6
8
5

685

6
8
5

6
8
5

685

685

685

EP=685.02

FL=685.05

TC=685.08

FL=685.09

685.09

685.13

TC=685.14

685.14

FL=685.16

TC=
68

5.
16

TC=685.16

EP=685.17

EP=685.21

EP=685.24

FL=685.24

685.25

EP=685.26

685.27

FL=685.28

6"

FL=685.30

FL=685.32

FL=685.33

TC=685.36

EP=685.37

EP=685.39

EP=685.39

FL=685.40

FL=685.41

EP=685.43

FL=685.45

685.45

TC=685.46

EP=685.46 685
.47

EP=685.52

TC=685.52

EP=685.55

TC=685.55

EP=685.56

685.62

TC=685.62

FL=685.62

14"

FL=685.69

TC=685.71

TC=685.71

6
8
5
.7
2

685.72

EP=685.74

FL=685.75

T/WALL685.75

20"

EP=685.76

T/WALL685.76

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
5
.7

7

685.78

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
5
.7
8

FL=685.78

EP=685.80

TC=685.80

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
5
.8

0

T/WALL685.80

TC=685.80

68
5.8

1

EP=685.81

TC=685.82

TC=685.83

TC=685.84

T/WALL685.86

TC=685.87

TC=685.89

685.90

EP=685.91

6
8
5
.9

3

685.97

FL=685.98

FL=685.98

FL=685.99

6
8
6

6
8
6

6
8
6

686

6
8
6

68
6

686

686

6
8
6

EP=686.02 15"

TC=686.03

FL=686.05

EP=686.05

16"

TC=686.08

FL=686.09

686.09

EP=686.10

TC=686.10

12"

EP=686.12

FL=686.13

EP=686.14

EP=686.16

FL=686.16

14"

TC=686.18

TC=686.20

TC=686.20
FL=686.21

686.2
2

EP=686.24

EP=686.24

27"

T/WALL686.28

FL=686.28

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
6
.2
8

TC=686.29

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
6
.2

9

TC=686.29

T/WALL686.29

T
/

W
A

L
L
6
8
6
.3

0

T/
WAL

L6
86
.3
0

T
/

W
A

L
L
6
8
6
.3

0

T
/

W
A
LL68

6.3
0

T/WALL686.31

686.31

T
/

W
A

L
L
6
8
6
.3

1

EP=686.31

T
/

W
A
LL

6
8
6
.3
1

T
/

W
A

L
L
6
8
6
.3

3

EP=686.33

FL=686.34

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
6
.3

4

T
/

W
A
LL6

8
6
.3
5

TC=686.35

T
/

W
A
LL6

8
6
.3
6

FL=686.37

FL=686.37

T
/

W
A
L
L
6
8
6
.3

8

27"

TC=686.40

T
C
=6

8
6
.4
0

EP=686.41

EP=686.42

TC=686.44

EP=686.46

TC=686.47

TC=686.47

TC=686.50

686.51

686.52

6
8
6
.5
2

TC=686.54

686.57

TC=686.59

TC=686.66

FL=686.67

TC=686.67

TC=686.67

TC=686.68

686.70

EP=686.74

FL=686.77

T
C
=6

8
6
.7
7

TC=686.78

686.81

FL=686.81

TC=686.83

FL=686.83

TC=686.84

EP=686.85

T
C
=6

8
6
.8
6

EP=686.86

TC=686.86

FL=686.88

TC=686.89

EP=686.89

686.92

EP=686.95

6
8
7

68
7

T

TC=687.17

687.17

TC=687.19

TC=687.19

13"

TC=687.23

687.24

TC=687.30

TC=687.30

687.35

TC=687.36

687.48

13"

687.91
TC=687.97

9"

15"

9"

12"

N:\Projects\7308\SURVEY\7308TOPO-01.dgn  Default  User=iwiczkowski

bstanick
Text Box
EXISTING CONDITIONS



bstanick
Text Box
EXISTING CONDITIONS



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
Memorandum 
 

 

TO:    Chair Kraus and Members of the Joint Plan Commission & Zoning Board of Appeals 
 

FROM:  Brandon J. Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator 
 

DATE:  May 15, 2015 
 

SUBJECT:    Agenda Item #5 – Proposed Site Modifications and Related Zoning Relief Requested 
for 101 Waukegan Road (Carriage Point Building) 

 

 

 
 
Applicant Information: Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC (Petitioner/Owner) 

 

Location: 101 Waukegan Road 
 

Requested Action: 
 

Request for zoning relief related to: i) reducing 
parking stall sizes, ii) allowing parking in the front 
yard, and iii) encroaching into the front yard to 
allow parking. 
 

Public Notice: Lake County News Sun – May 5, 2015 
 

Existing Zoning: Light Industry District (L-1) 
 

Purpose: To increase the number of onsite parking spaces to 
attract office tenants.   
 

Lot Size:  
Building Size: 

333,924 sq. ft. (7.67 acres) 
  98,572 sq. ft. 
 

Existing Land Use: L-1 District – multi-tenant building with existing 
office and medical office uses 
 

Surrounding Land Use:  North: Retail and Restaurant 
 East: Service and Office 
 South: Medical Office 
 West: Residential and Recreational (Lake 

Forest) 
 

Comprehensive Plan Land Use 
Objective: 

Enhance and maximize economic return to the 
Village in a manner compatible with existing uses.  
 

Zoning History: None available 
 

Applicable Land Use  
Regulations: 

 L-1 District parking stall size variation 
 L-1 District front yard requirement variations 
 

bstanick
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 2



Background and Summary 
 
On March 5, 2015 the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) and the Architectural 
Board of Review (ABR) conducted an informal workshop meeting with representatives from Franklin 
101 Waukegan, LLC (Petitioner/Owner) to review proposed modifications to the parking lot of the 
Carriage Point Building (101 Waukegan Road).  Comments generated during the workshop discussion 
include: i) preference for a 9 ft. parking stall width; ii) concern for parking lot setback along Carriage 
Park Ave. less than 10 ft.; iii) preference not to use public right-of-way to screen parking lot; iv) 
suggestion to shift parking lot south toward the building to increase setback along Carriage Park Ave.; 
v) create a drive aisle in the center of the parking spaces along Carriage Park Ave. to facilitate traffic 
flow; and vi) suggestions to make improvements in support of onsite retail and neighboring retail 
establishments (i.e. pedestrian pathway connection to sidewalk south of the Target Store). 
 
Following the receipt of a revised proposal, and responses to Staff’s recommendations, the Petitioner 
submitted a final proposal on May 1, 2015.  The proposed modifications to the site include the 
following:  
 

1. increase the total number of parking spaces by 99 (from 244 to 343 spaces) - 
 Required for office use: 1 space per 600 sq. ft. of building (98,572/600 = 164 required 

spaces;  
2. reconfigure parking space locations and drive aisles and eliminate westerly entrance drive; 
3. provide 9 single head light fixtures, 3 double-head fixtures and 1 triple head fixture; (18 total 

lights); and 
4. install additional landscaping along Carriage Park Ave. and Waukegan Road, as well as 

throughout the reconfigured parking lot – 
 According to Petitioner existing green area is 39% of the site and is reduced to 33%. 

 
Zoning Analysis  
 
Village Staff has conducted the required zoning analysis and confirms the proposed plans, with the 
exceptions of the parking stall size and front yard regulations, are in compliance with the Zoning Code.  
As a point of information the Zoning Code defines “structure” as anything constructed above grade 
with the exception of patios, driveways and walks at grade level.  
 
L-1 District Parking Stall Size 
Minimum size for employees/officers:     9.5 ft. x 18.5 ft. 
Minimum size for customers:                          10.0 ft. x 19.5 ft.  
Proposed size:         9.0 ft. x 18.0 ft. 
Employee/officer space size total variation:        0.5 ft. x 0.5 ft.   (5.26% x 2.70%) 
Customer space size total variation:          1.0 ft. x 1.5 ft. (10.00% x 7.69%) 
 
L-1 District Front Yard Encroachment 
Required Front Yard (along Carriage Park Avenue):           75 ft. 
Proposed Front Yard encroachment:              65 ft. 
Front Yard encroachment variation:        86.67%  
 



L-1 District Parking 
Parking in the Front Yard:                            Not Allowed 
Proposed:                 178 parking spaces 
Front Yard parking variation:             Allow parking in the Front Yard 
 
It is important to know the ABR is responsible for reviewing the overall proposed modifications to the 
site plan, including: parking space and aisle configuration, landscaping and lighting.  The public 
hearing for the ABR to consider the proposal is tentatively scheduled for June 2nd.  Although this is the 
case, there are requirements of the Zoning Code related to parking in the L-1 District that require the 
Petitioner to first seek zoning relief, and ultimately receive a recommendation from the PCZBA, 
related to the proposed plan.  Also, any landscape improvements that are recommended for approval 
by the ABR will require an agreement between the Village and the Petitioner (considered by the 
Village Board) to use the public right-of-way along Carriage Park Ave. 
 
The Petitioner will submit statements addressing the variation standards for the zoning relief being 
sought for the Front Yard prior to the meeting.  
 
PCZBA Authority 
 
The PCZBA has authority to: 
 

 Recommend the Village Board approve or deny the request for:  
o a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(b) of the Zoning Code to allow  parking in the 

Front Yard along Carriage Park Ave., and 
o a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(a) of the Zoning Code to allow a parking lot 

(“structure”) to encroach 65 ft. (86.67%) into the required front yard; and  
 Conditionally approve or deny the 9.0 ft. x 18.0 ft. proposed parking stall size (note that under 

Section 10-2-4A1c of the Zoning Code, because the Village Board has final authority over the 
requested variations from the Front Yard regulations, the PCZBA’s decision on the parking 
stall size variation is contingent upon, and subject to, the Village Board’s approval of the 
variations concerning the Front Yard).   
 

Recommendation 
 
Following the public hearing to consider the requests, the PCZBA should take one of the following 
actions: 
 

 If more information is required, continue the public hearing to a date certain to allow the 
Petitioner to provide additional information. 
 

 If more information is not required, vote to:  
o Recommend the Village Board approve or deny the request for:  

 a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(b) of the Zoning Code to allow  parking 
in the Front Yard along Carriage Park Ave., and 

 a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(a) of the Zoning Code to allow a parking 
lot (“structure”) to encroach 65 ft. (86.67%) into the required front yard; and 

o Conditionally approve or deny the 9.0 ft. x 18.0 ft. proposed parking stall size. 



Attachments 
 

 Zoning application with supporting documentation. 
 

If you should have any questions concerning the information provided in this memorandum please feel 
free to contact me at 847-283-6889. 



V I L L A G E  O F  L A K E  B L U F F  
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:  Chairman Hunter and Members of the Architectural Board of Review  
 
FROM: Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
 
DATE:  May 29, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item #6 – A Public Hearing to Consider a Site Plan to Review Changes to the Parking 

Lot at 101 Waukegan Road  
 

 
 
On March 5, 2015 the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) and the Architectural Board of 
Review (ABR) conducted an informal workshop meeting with representatives from Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC 
(Petitioner/Owner) to review proposed modifications to the parking lot of the Carriage Point Building (101 
Waukegan Road).  Comments generated during the workshop discussion include: i) preference for a 9 ft. parking 
stall width; ii) concern for parking lot setback along Carriage Park Ave. less than 10 ft.; iii) preference not to use 
public right-of-way to screen parking lot; iv) suggestion to shift parking lot south toward the building to increase 
setback along Carriage Park Ave.; v) create a drive aisle in the center of the parking spaces along Carriage Park Ave. 
to facilitate traffic flow; and vi) suggestions to make improvements in support of onsite retail and neighboring retail 
establishments (i.e. pedestrian pathway connection to sidewalk south of the Target Store). 
 
Following the receipt of a revised proposal, and responses to Staff’s recommendations, the Petitioner submitted a 
final proposal on May 1, 2015.  The proposed modifications to the site include the following:  
 

1. increase the total number of parking spaces by 99 (from 244 to 343 spaces) - 
 Required for office use: 1 space per 600 sq. ft. of building (98,572/600 = 164 required spaces;  

2. reconfigure parking space locations and drive aisles and eliminate westerly entrance drive; 
3. provide 9 single head light fixtures, 3 double-head fixtures and 1 triple head fixture; (18 total lights); and 

install additional landscaping along Carriage Park Ave. and Waukegan Road, as well as throughout the 
reconfigured parking lot 

 According to Petitioner existing green area is 39% of the site and is reduced to 33%. 
 
On May 20, 2015 the PCZBA conducted a public hearing to consider the following zoning relief sought by the 
Petitioner:  i) reduction in parking stall sizes, ii) provide parking in the front yard, and iii) encroach into the front 
yard to allow parking.  At the conclusion of the public hearing the PCZBA took the following actions:  
 
 Recommended the Village Board approve: 

 a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(b) of the Zoning Code to allow  parking in the 
front yard along Carriage Park Ave., and 

 a variation from Section 10-7A-5A(2)(a) of the Zoning Code to allow a parking lot 
(“structure”) to encroach 65 ft. (86.67%) into the required 75 ft. front yard. 

 
Approved a 9.0 ft. x 18.0 ft. parking stall size (10 ft. x 19.5 ft. required) with the condition the 
Village Board approves the variations sought for parking in the front yard.  

 
Additionally, the PCZBA conditioned its recommendation on the Petitioner working with the 
Village to construct a pedestrian path along the north side of the lot (along Carriage Park Ave.) and 
a crosswalk across Carriage Park Ave. to encourage safe pedestrian connectivity to the Carriage 
Way Shopping Center.  

Comments were also expressed by individual PCZBA Commissioners concerning:  



 
 Encourage ABR to allow adequate space on site for street trees; 
 Suggest additional landscape to the north elevation of the building; 
 Suggest additional landscape for the building entrance; and 
 Explore having more green space on-site.  

 
Recommendation: 
It is recommended the ABR conduct a public hearing to consider the modifications to the site plan, appropriately 
question the Petitioner as needed, entertain public comments and questions from the petitioner and make one of the 
following recommendations regarding the site plan: 
 

 Recommend that the Village Board approve  the proposed site plan as presented or with conditions; 
 Recommend that the Village Board deny the proposed site plan; or 
 Request the petitioner to provide additional information for the ABR’s consideration. 

 
 
The petitioner will be in attendance at Tuesday’s meeting to respond to questions from the ABR.  If you should have 
any questions regarding this matter, please feel free to contact me at 847-283-6885. 



Exhibit D 

Applicants' Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the 
property located in the Village’s L-1 Light Industry District ("L-1 District") at 101 Waukegan 
Road, Lake Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Property”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant submitted an application attached hereto as Exhibit B 
(collectively, “Application”), requesting variations (collectively, the “Variations") from: (1) the 
minimum customer or guest parking stall size requirements of Section 10-7A-6B2 of the Zoning 
Regulations; (2) the minimum employee parking stall size requirements of Section 10-7A-6B2  
of the Zoning Regulations, (3) a variation from the parking location requirements of Section 10-
7A-5A2 of the Zoning Regulations to permit parking in the front yard of the Property, and (4) a 
variation from the parking location requirements of Section 10-7A-5A2 of the Zoning 
Regulations to permit the parking lot to encroach 65 feet into the required front yard, all for the 
purpose of reconfiguring certain surface parking spaces on the Property and related 
landscaping pursuant to the site plan attached as Exhibit C (“Site Plan”); and  

WHEREAS, on May 20, 2015, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the Variations 
and recommended approval of the Variations; and  

WHEREAS, on June 2, 2015,  the Village’s Architectural Board of Review 
(“ABR”) conducted a duly-noticed public meeting to consider the Site Plan and continued the 
public hearing to June 11, 2015, and on June 11, 2015 completed its review and recommended 
approval of the Site Plan; and  

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 20__, (“Ordinance”) approves the 
requested Variations and Site Plan, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions; and 

WHEREAS, Subsection 9.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant hereby agrees and covenants as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, have considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agree not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 



Village’s issuance of any permits or approvals for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s 
issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to 
insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and hereby holds harmless and indemnifies the 
Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Ordinance approving the Variations and the Site 
Plan. 

 
 
 
 
Dated: ____________, 20__. 
 
 
ATTEST:      FRANKLIN 101 WAUKEGAN, LLC 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 



June 3, 2015 

Village of Lake Bluff  

Village Board President O’Hara and Trustees 

40 East Center Avenue 

Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 

RE: 101 Waukegan, Lake Bluff zoning application 

Dear Village President O’Hara and the Board of Trustees, 

As a resident living in Lake Bluff I take great pride in my participation 

in improving our property located at 101 Waukegan and the jobs we 

expect to bring to the community by releasing the sixty thousand feet 

of office vacancy in the community.  My team and I are aggressively 

pursuing multiple tenants at this time, with the largest concern being 

the ability to park at a greater amount.  Every day we delay finalizing 

the improvements needed impacts our ability to lease the space.  We 

have multiple tenants we are negotiating with (not executed at this 

time) and will require additional parking by the third quarter of this 

year.  The project will take multiple months to complete and 

respectively I request your consideration to waive the required second 

review and reading at a later date in efforts of expediting the zoning 

process.   

Public feedback to us directly has been very positive.  Neighboring 

buildings to 101 Waukegan are supportive of the improvements 

presented.  We feel since our initial presentation of our plans any 

concerns would have been already identified by the community. 

In closing I truly appreciate your consideration and look forward to 

supporting and improving our community. 

Truly yours, 

Donald J. Shoemaker 

Franklin 101 Waukegan, LLC its Manager 

Franklin Partners, LLC  

Donald J Shoemaker

Terrah
Typewritten Text

bstanick
Text Box
ATTACHMENT 3

























 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             Agenda Item:  16 

 

Subject: 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 

AGREEMENT WITH THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE FOR 

LAKE BLUFF POLICE SERGEANTS 

 

Action Requested: 

 

ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 

Originated By: 

 

FINANCE DIRECTOR 

 

Referred To:  

 

VILLAGE BOARD 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

In 2010 the Illinois Council of Police (“ICOPs”) was certified by the State to represent the Lake 

Bluff Police Sergeants on their first collectively bargained agreement. The agreement expired on 

April 30, 2014 and in July 2014 the Sergeants voted to authorize the Fraternal Order of Police 

Labor Council (“FOP”) to negotiate a contract on their behalf.  The Village’s negotiation team – 

Labor Attorney Jill O’Brien, Finance Director Griffin, and Deputy Chief Hosking - met several 

times with FOP representative Kevin Krug and the Sergeants (“labor team”).  On June 16th Mr. 

Krug advised Ms. O’Brien that the Sergeants ratified the agreement. 

 

This 3-year agreement commences on May 1, 2014 and expires on April 30, 2017. It provides for 

a 2.5% wage increase each year. The percentage increase is the same as the FOP contract for non-

supervisory police officers. All provisions of this document mirror the FOP agreement with two 

exceptions. The first exception, which is also a change from the Sergeant’s ICOPs agreement, is 

for a 6 month probation period for new Sergeants which can be extended by the Police Chief for 

another 6 months from a 12 month period (18 months for new patrol officers.) The second 

exception requires Sergeants to rotate shifts annually instead of shift bidding based on seniority. 

 

Finance Director Griffin and Deputy Chief Hosking will be available to answer questions 

regarding this contract. 

 

Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. A Copy of the Resolution, and 

2. A Copy of the Collective Bargaining Agreement 

 

ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  

 

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Resolution. 

 

Date Referred to Village Board: 6/22/2015 



 RESOLUTION 2015 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT  

WITH THE FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE FOR LAKE BLUFF POLICE SERGEANTS                 

 

 WHEREAS, in 2010 the Police Sergeants of the Village of Lake Bluff Police Department  

elected to be represented by the Illinois Council of Police (“ICOPs”) and the first collectively bargained 

contract for the Sergeants was approved by the Village Board on October 22, 2012 commencing on May 

1, 2010 and expiring on April 30, 2014; and,  

 

WHEREAS, in August 2014 the Illinois Labor Relations Board notified the Village that the 

Police Sergeants voted to be represented by the Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council (“FOP”); and,  

 

 WHEREAS, the appointed labor counsel of the Lake Bluff Village President and Board of 

Trustees, Jill O’Brien of Laner, Muchin, Dombrow, Becker, Levin and Tominberg, Ltd., and Village staff 

have negotiated with the authorized representatives of the FOP on behalf of the Village and recommends 

approval of the proposed Collective Bargaining Agreement commencing on May 1, 2014 and expiring on 

April 30, 2017; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, on June 16, 2015 the authorized representative of the FOP has notified the Village 

that the proposed Collective Bargaining Agreement has been ratified by the Police Sergeants; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees has determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of 

Lake Bluff to approve the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the FOP. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 Authorization to Execute the Collective Bargaining Agreement with the 

Fraternal Order of Police (“FOP”) 

 

 The Village President is hereby authorized to execute the Collective Bargaining Agreement with 

the Fraternal Order of Police (“FOP”) on behalf of the Police Sergeants of the Village of Lake Bluff 

Police Department attached as Exhibit A. 

 

SECTION 2   Effective Date 

 

 This Resolution shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Lake Bluff in the manner required by law. 

 

PASSED this _________, June 2015 by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, as 

follows: 

AYES:  ( )  

NAYS:  ( )  

ABSENT: ( )  

APPROVED this _____, June 2015.       

        _________________________ 

        Village President  

ATTEST: _________________________ 

Village Clerk 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #1



 

 

 

 

 

ILLINOIS FOP 

LABOR COUNCIL 

and 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

Sworn Police Sergeants 

 

May 1, 2014 - April 30, 2017 

 

 

 

 

NOTE:  Both parties reserve the right to add to, delete or change any proposal prior to 

ratification of the entire CBA by authorized representatives of both parties including the Village 

Board.  Both parties agree to RECOMMEND this tentative agreement to their respective 

members. 

 

 

 

sgriffin
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT #2



i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION ........................................................... 1 

Section  1.1 Exclusive Agent .............................................................................................. 1 

Section  1.2 Membership .................................................................................................... 1 

Section  1.3 Probationary Period ........................................................................................ 1 

Section  1.4 New Sergeants ................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE 2 NON-DISCRIMINATION ........................................................................................ 2 

Section  2.1 Equal Employment Opportunity ..................................................................... 2 

Section  2.2 Non-Discrimination ........................................................................................ 2 

Section  2.3 Use of Masculine Pronoun .............................................................................. 2 

ARTICLE 3 DUES DEDUCTION.  FAIR SHARE& INDEMNIFICATION............................... 2 

Section  3.1 Dues Check Off............................................................................................... 2 

Section  3.2 Fair-Share ........................................................................................................ 2 

Section  3.3 Indemnification ............................................................................................... 3 

Section  3.4 Union Representatives and Visitation ............................................................. 3 

ARTICLE 4 NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT .................................................................................. 3 

Section  4.1 No Strike ......................................................................................................... 3 

Section  4.2 No Lockout ..................................................................................................... 4 

Section  4.3 Penalty............................................................................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 5 EMPLOYEE RIGHTS ............................................................................................... 4 

Section  5.1 Public Information .......................................................................................... 4 

Section  5.2 Observance of Statutory Requirements .......................................................... 4 

ARTICLE 6 EMPLOYEE SECURITY .......................................................................................... 5 

Section  6.1 Just Cause Standard ........................................................................................ 5 

Section  6.2 Fire and Police Commission ........................................................................... 5 

Section  6.3 Disciplinary Sequence .................................................................................... 5 

Section  6.4 Discipline and Dismissal................................................................................. 6 

ARTICLE 7 LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ............................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 8 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ....................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 9 SENIORITY............................................................................................................... 7 

Section  9.1 Definition of Seniority .................................................................................... 7 

Section  9.2 Loss of Seniority ............................................................................................. 8 

ARTICLE 10 LAYOFF AND RECALL ........................................................................................ 8 

Section  10.1 Layoff ............................................................................................................ 8 

Section  10.2 Recall ............................................................................................................ 9 

ARTICLE 11 RESOLUTION AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE .............................................. 9 

Section  11.1 Definition ...................................................................................................... 9 



 ii 

Section  11.2 Representation............................................................................................... 9 

Section  11.3 Procedure ...................................................................................................... 9 

Section  11.4 Arbitration ................................................................................................... 10 

Section  11.5 Authority Limitations of the Arbitrator ...................................................... 11 

Section  11.6 Time Limit .................................................................................................. 11 

ARTICLE 12 IMPASSE RESOLUTION ..................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE 13 WAGES AND OTHER COMPENSATION ......................................................... 11 

Section  13.1 Wages .......................................................................................................... 11 

Section  13.2 Jury Duty ..................................................................................................... 11 

Section  13.3 Mileage Allowance ..................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE 14 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ............................................................... 12 

Section  14.1 Purpose of Article ....................................................................................... 12 

Section  14.2 Normal Work Cycle .................................................................................... 12 

Section  14.3 Changes in Normal Work Cycle ................................................................. 12 

Section  14.4 Overtime Pay .............................................................................................. 13 

Section  14.5 Court Time .................................................................................................. 13 

Section  14.6 Call Back or Call-In Pay ............................................................................. 13 

Section  14.7 Shift Trades ................................................................................................. 13 

Section  14.8 No Pyramiding ............................................................................................ 13 

ARTICLE 15 HOLIDAYS AND PERSONAL DAYS ................................................................ 13 

Section  15.1 Holidays ...................................................................................................... 13 

Section  15.2 Personal Days.............................................................................................. 14 

ARTICLE 16 VACATION ........................................................................................................... 14 

Section  16.1 Vacation Eligibility ..................................................................................... 14 

Section  16.2 Vacation Week ............................................................................................ 15 

Section  16.3 Vacation Scheduling ................................................................................... 15 

Section  16.4 Limitation on Accumulation of Annual Vacation ...................................... 15 

ARTICLE 17 ABSENCE FROM DUTY ..................................................................................... 15 

Section  17.1 Paid Sick Time ............................................................................................ 15 

Section  17.2 Military Leave ............................................................................................. 15 

Section  17.3 Unpaid Leave of Absence ........................................................................... 16 

Section  17.4 Injury Leave ................................................................................................ 16 

Section  17.5 Light Duty Assignments ............................................................................. 16 

Section  17.6 Bereavement Leave ..................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE 18 HOSPITAL, MEDICAL, SURGICAL, MAJOR MEDICAL, DENTAL 

AND LIFE INSURANCE................................................................................................. 16 

Section  18.1 Medical Insurance ....................................................................................... 16 

Section  18.2 Life Insurance ............................................................................................. 17 

Section  18.3 Cost Containment........................................................................................ 17 

Section  18.4 Opt-Out Option ........................................................................................... 17 

Section  18.5 Terms of the Policy to Govern .................................................................... 17 



 iii 

Section  18.6 Funeral Expense .......................................................................................... 18 

Section  18.7 Flexible Benefit Plan or Health Savings Account Plan .............................. 18 

ARTICLE 19 GENERAL PROVISIONS .................................................................................... 18 

Section  19.1 Outside or Secondary Employment ............................................................ 18 

Section  19.2 Inspection of Personnel Files ...................................................................... 18 

Section  19.3 Residency Requirement .............................................................................. 18 

Section  19.4 Medical Examinations ................................................................................ 19 

Section  19.5 Uniforms ..................................................................................................... 19 

Section  19.6 Inoculation and Immunization .................................................................... 19 

Section  19.7 Drug and Alcohol Abuse Policy ................................................................. 19 

Section  19.8 Union Unit Stewards ................................................................................... 19 

Section  19.9 Deferred Compensation Plan ...................................................................... 19 

Section  19.10 Personal Use of Village Property .............................................................. 19 

Section  19.11 Clothing Expense Reimbursement ............................................................ 20 

Section  19.12 Bulletin Board ........................................................................................... 20 

Section  19.13 Safety Issues.............................................................................................. 20 

Section  19.14 Examination of Records ............................................................................ 20 

ARTICLE 20 ENTIRE AGREEMENT ........................................................................................ 20 

ARTICLE 21 SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE 22 DURATION OF AGREEMENT ........................................................................... 21 

APPENDIX A - DUES AUTHORIZATION FORM ................................................................... 22 

APPENDIX B - GRIEVANCE ..................................................................................................... 23 

APPENDIX C - AGREEMENT TO EXTEND TIME LIMITS ................................................... 26 

APPENDIX D SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT REQUEST ...................................................... 27 

APPENDIX E SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT INDEMNITY AGREEMENT ........................ 28 

APPENDIX F DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING .................................................................... 30 

Section 1. Policy ........................................................................................................ 30 

Section 2. Prohibition................................................................................................. 30 

Section 3. Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted ........................................................ 30 

Section 4. Tests to be conducted ................................................................................ 32 

Section 5. Voluntary Requests for Assistance ........................................................... 34 

Section 6. Discipline .................................................................................................. 35 

 

 



 

INTRODUCTION 

This Labor Agreement is voluntarily entered into by and between the Village of Lake Bluff, 

Illinois, hereinafter also referred to as the “Village” and the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police, 

Labor Council hereinafter also referred to as the “Union” or “Labor Council”, or “Council” as 

the exclusive collective bargaining agent for the employees of the Village of Lake Bluff who are 

described in the collective bargaining unit described herein. 

PREAMBLE 

The Union, having been certified by the Illinois Labor Relations Board, August 6, 2014 (S-RC-

14-097) as collective bargaining agent for all sworn Police Sergeants employed by the Village 

(other than the Commander(s), and the Village, having voluntarily endorsed the practices and 

procedures of collective bargaining as a fair and orderly way of conducting certain relations 

between them, and the intention of the parties to this Labor Agreement being to provide for the 

appropriate wage structure, hours of employment, working conditions and benefits, and orderly 

and expeditious grievance procedure, all as set forth herein, the parties therefore agree to the 

following: 

ARTICLE 1  RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION 

Section  1.1  Exclusive Agent 

The Village recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all Sworn Police 

Sergeants, excluding all sworn Officers below the rank of Sergeant, Police Commanders and 

other sworn Officers above the rank of Sergeant, Managerial and Supervisory employees 

employed with the Village of Lake Bluff.   

Section  1.2  Membership 

As used herein, the term “sworn Police Sergeants” shall refer to all those persons included in the 

collective bargaining unit described above. 

Section  1.3  Probationary Period 

The probationary period for all employees hired or promoted to a position in this bargaining unit 

shall normally be six (6) months.  The Chief may extend the probationary period for an 

additional six (6) month period after providing written notice to the Union and the affected 

Sergeant with a brief explanation of the reason for the extension.  During the probationary 

period, employees shall be entitled to all benefits (except where specifically stated) provided for 

in this Labor Agreement except that any discipline and termination shall be at the sole discretion 

of the Village and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement.  

There shall be no seniority among probationary Sergeants.  Upon successful completion of the 

probationary period, a Sergeant shall acquire seniority, which shall be retroactive to the 

individuals’ last date of hire with the Village in the position covered by this Labor Agreement. 



 2 

Section  1.4  New Sergeants 

The Village agrees to notify the Union of the hiring or promotion of all new sworn Police 

Sergeants, whose job classifications are covered by this Labor Agreement within ten (10) 

working days of the date of promotion to the position of Sergeant. 

ARTICLE 2  NON-DISCRIMINATION 

Section  2.1  Equal Employment Opportunity 

The Village will continue to provide equal employment opportunity for all Sergeants covered by 

the terms of this Labor Agreement. 

Section  2.2  Non-Discrimination 

Neither the Village nor the Union shall discriminate against any employee because of race, 

creed, color, national origin, sex, or physical or mental disability as defined by the Americans 

with Disabilities Act or other legally protected categories.  Complaints or charges of 

discrimination under Article 2 shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration Article of this 

Labor Agreement.   

Section  2.3  Use of Masculine Pronoun 

The use of the masculine pronoun in this or any other document is understood to be for clerical 

convenience only, and it is further understood that the masculine pronoun includes the feminine 

pronoun as well. 

ARTICLE 3  DUES DEDUCTION.  FAIR SHARE& INDEMNIFICATION 

Section  3.1  Dues Check Off 

The Village shall deduct Union dues from the salary of each employee covered by this Labor 

Agreement in amounts as determined by the Union, and shall promptly transmit such funds to the 

Union, provided the amounts to be deducted shall be uniform for each Union member and 

provided the deduction is authorized in writing, Appendix A Dues Authorization by the member.  

Union dues shall be deducted from the salaries of employees and transmitted to the Illinois FOP 

Labor Council at 974 Clocktower Drive, Springfield, IL 62704-1304 within thirty (30) days after 

the deductions have been made. 

Section  3.2  Fair-Share 

For any employee who chooses not to become a member of the Union and have the standard and 

ordinary Union dues deducted from the covered member’s salary, the Union shall provide the 

Village with written notice to regularly deduct a fair-share fee from the salary of such employee 

and to transmit this fair share fee to the Union.  The Union will provide the Village with such 

notice within thirty (30) calendar days after it learns a particular employee chooses not to 

maintain full membership in the Union.  Such Fair-Share fee will be established by the Union 

under the terms and conditions of legislation governing the fair share alternative and the 



 3 

established fee shall not exceed the amount of regular Union dues paid by members of the 

Union.   

Section  3.3  Indemnification 

The Illinois Fraternal order of Police, Labor Council agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 

Village, its elected representatives, officers, administrators, agents and employees from and 

against any and all claims, demands, actions, complaints, suits or other forms of liability 

(monetary or otherwise) that arise out of or by reason of any action taken or not taken by the 

Village for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article, or in reliance on any 

written deduction authorization furnished under this Article, including Village’s reasonable and 

necessary attorney’s fees incurred in defending any of said claims, actions, complaints, suits or 

other forms of liability, and in enforcing the terms of this Article. 

Section  3.4  Union Representatives and Visitation  

The Village recognizes the right of the Union to elect, appoint, or otherwise name up to two (2) 

Sworn Lake Bluff Police Sergeants as Stewards of the unit.  The names of these two (2) 

Stewards shall be provided to the Lake Bluff Chief of Police or designee immediately upon the 

conclusion of the negotiation of this Labor Agreement.  Any subsequent changes in the names of 

these unit Stewards shall also be provided to the Chief of Police or designee in writing as such 

changes occur.  Stewards shall not conduct Union business during regular working hours except 

with the permission of the Chief of Police or designee.   

Also, the Village recognizes the right of the Union to send Labor Council representatives to the 

police department, for purposes for the administration, investigations and processing provisions 

of the Labor Agreement.  Attendance will be subject to reasonable prior notice and approval of 

the Chief (or designee in his absence), which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or 

denied.  Such visits shall not interfere with normal police department functions or any necessary 

police activities.   

The Village shall grant a reasonable amount of paid release time for up to two (2) Union 

members to participate in contract negotiations at agreed upon joint meetings scheduled during 

the employee’s normal working hours, provided it does not interfere with normal police 

department duties.  Any pay under this Section shall only be provided in the event the Union 

member was regularly scheduled to work during the agreed upon times of the contract 

negotiations.  Upon request, the Village agrees to provide the Union with employee information 

in accordance with Public Act 94-472, or as amended. 

ARTICLE 4  NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT 

Section  4.1  No Strike 

Neither the Union nor any Sergeants or agents of Sergeants covered by this Labor Agreement 

will initiate, encourage, authorize, engage in, ratify, or condone any strike, sympathy strike, 

slowdown, or withholding of services or any other job action or any other intentional interruption 

or disruption of the operations of the Village regardless of reason for so doing.  Any and/or all 

Sergeants who violate any of the provisions of this Article may be discharged or otherwise 



 4 

disciplined by the Village.  Each Sergeant who holds the position of Sergeant or steward of the 

Union occupies a position of special trust and responsibility in maintaining and bringing about 

compliance with the provisions of this Article.  In addition, in the event of a violation of this 

Article, the Union agrees to inform its members of their obligations under this Labor Agreement 

and to direct them to return to work.   

Section  4.2  No Lockout 

During the term of this Labor Agreement, the Village will not instigate a lock out of any 

Sergeants during the term of this Labor Agreement over a labor dispute with the Council.   

Section  4.3  Penalty 

The only matter that may be made the subject of a grievance and arbitration procedure 

concerning disciplinary action imposed for an alleged violation of Section  4.1  is whether or not 

the Sergeant actually engaged in such prohibited conduct.  The failure to confer a penalty in any 

instance is not a waiver of such right in any other instance nor is it a precedent. 

Section 4.4 Judicial Restraint 

Nothing contained herein shall preclude the Village or the Council from obtaining judicial 

restraint and damages in the event the other party violates this Article. 

ARTICLE 5  EMPLOYEE RIGHTS 

Section  5.1  Public Information  

The Employer agrees to comply with the applicable statutes or Acts governing public 

information. 

Section  5.2  Observance of Statutory Requirements 

The Employer will observe the provisions of the Uniform Peace Officer’s Disciplinary Act (50 

ILCS 725/1 et seq.) in conducting an interrogation of a covered member during a formal 

investigation of the covered member’s alleged misconduct.  As provided in the Act, the term 

“interrogation” does not include questioning (1) as part of an informal inquiry or (2) relating to 

minor infractions of agency rules which may be noted on the  covered member’s record but 

which may not in themselves result in removal, discharge or suspension in excess of three (3) 

days. The Employer will also observe the requirements of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act 

5 ILCS 315/1 et seq.), as construed by the Illinois State Labor Relations Board, regarding the 

right of a covered member to have Labor Council representation during an investigatory 

interview.  



 5 

ARTICLE 6  EMPLOYEE SECURITY 

Section  6.1  Just Cause Standard 

No non-probationary employee covered by the terms of this Labor Agreement shall be 

suspended, relieved from duty or disciplined in any manner without just cause. 

Section  6.2  Fire and Police Commission 

Any documented reprimands, suspensions, proposed terminations or other disciplinary actions 

brought by the Village, Police Chief or designee against any Sergeant covered by this Labor 

Agreement, shall not be considered valid unless the accused Sergeant or Sergeants and the Union 

have been provided with specific details of charges as well as the names of any and all witnesses 

who may be called to testify against the accused.  Nothing will preclude either party from 

presenting additional witnesses if new information is presented.  The parties recognize that the 

Fire and Police Commission of the Village has certain statutory authority over members covered 

by this Labor Agreement, including, but not limited to, the right to make, alter and enforce rules 

and regulations.  Nothing in this Labor Agreement is intended in any way to replace or diminish 

the authority of the Fire and Police Commission, except that the parties have negotiated an 

alternative procedure based upon Article 11 Dispute Resolution and Grievance Procedure of this 

Labor Agreement and as expressed in this Labor Agreement per Article 11, with respect to the 

imposing of disciplinary action, appeal and/or review of disciplinary actions shall be in lieu  of 

the Fire and Police Commission, and shall expressly supersede and preempt, any provisions that 

might otherwise be the Rules and Regulations of the Village’s Fire and Police Commission to 

review, implement discipline or conduct an appeal of disciplinary actions imposed. The parties to 

the Labor Agreement have agreed the Chief of Police shall have the sole authority to impose 

disciplinary action up to and including termination for a non-probationary covered member for 

just cause and will not file charges with the Fire and Police Commission.  Neither the Police 

Chief nor the Village, or their agents will file charges asking the Fire and Police Commission to 

review or impose discipline on any covered member; instead all such discipline shall be imposed 

by the Chief of Police and appealed per Article 11 Dispute Resolution and Grievance Procedure. 

Pursuant to Section 15 of the IPLRA and 65 ILCS § 10-2.1-17, the parties have negotiated an 

alternative procedure based upon the grievance and arbitration provisions of this Labor 

Agreement. The parties agree the affected covered member may only appeal the disciplinary 

action imposed per Article 11 and no such appeal shall be available before the Fire and Police 

Commission.  

Section  6.3  Disciplinary Sequence 

The typical disciplinary sequence for any employee covered by this Labor Agreement generally 

will be: Verbal Warning; Written Warning, with a copy to the employee’s personnel file; 

Suspension and/or dismissal. Disciplinary action, up to and including termination of 

employment, shall be for just cause.  It is understood that the Village may skip any step(s) in the 

progressive discipline sequence and even dismissal may result as the first step in the disciplinary 

procedure depending on factors such as the circumstances, the Sergeant’s overall record, and 

severity of the offense.  Upon request, any Lake Bluff police Sergeant covered by this Labor 

Agreement is entitled to Labor Council representation at any meeting or hearing called for the 



 6 

specific purpose of disciplining the employee.  If a non-disciplinary meeting turns into a 

disciplinary meeting, the employee is entitled to ask for a recess of the meeting for a reasonable 

period of time until Labor Council representation can be obtained before continuing with any 

such disciplinary meeting.   

Section  6.4  Discipline and Dismissal  

Suspension and/or dismissal of a sworn police Sergeant must be supported by just cause.  Any 

Arbitrator shall have the authority to order restoration of employment, including full seniority 

rights, back wages, benefits and accruals of such and pension contributions by the Employer of a 

dismissed employee pursuant to this Section only if accompanied by a finding of a violation of 

the employee’s substantive rights or other applicable obligations in the Labor Agreement.  The 

Arbitrator and or any legal tribunal in such cases shall reduce any back pay award by any amount 

earned by the employee during the period the employee was not working for the Village and by 

any unemployment or other compensation payments earned or received during such period, 

except for any employee paid loss of income protection policy or benefit plan or legal defense 

program.   

ARTICLE 7  LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

At the request of either party, the Union and the Chief of Police or designee shall meet to discuss 

matters of mutual concern that do not involve grievances being processed under the Grievance 

Procedure or negotiations for the purpose of altering the terms of this Labor Agreement.  The 

party requesting the meeting shall submit a written agenda of the items it wishes to be discussed 

as least seven (7) regular Village business working days prior to the date of the meeting.   

ARTICLE 8  MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 

Except as specifically limited by the express provisions of this Labor Agreement, the Labor 

Council recognizes that certain rights, powers and responsibilities belong solely to and are 

exclusively vested in the Employer, and these rights shall be liberally construed.  Specifically, 

but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is understood and agreed that this Labor 

Agreement does not affect and shall not be deemed or construed to impair the Employer’s right, 

in its sole discretion and judgment, to do the following on a unilateral basis: 

a. To determine, control, regulate and direct matters of inherent managerial policy; 

b. To supervise and direct the working forces; 

c. To determine the functions of the Police Department and its mission; 

d. To determine the nature and extent of service offered to the public by the Employer; 

e. To determine, plan, direct and control the Employer’s overall budget; 

f. To determine the Employer’s organizational structure; 



 7 

g. To select new employees, and establish examination techniques and eligibility 

requirements; 

h. To assign, reassign, schedule or alter the assignments issued to the working force or any 

individual therein; 

i. To plan, direct, schedule, control and determine the operations or services to be 

conducted by Sergeants of the Employer and to change them from time to time; 

j. To hire, promote, demote, suspend, recall, discipline, or discharge non-probationary 

employees for just cause; 

k. To hire, promote, demote, suspend, recall, discipline or discharge probationary 

employees for any or no reason; 

l. To train employees and select employees for training opportunities; 

m. To change or eliminate existing methods, equipment or facilities or introduce new ones; 

n. To make, alter, modify, eliminate, and enforce reasonable rules, regulations, including 

those known as the Village of Lake Bluff Rules and Regulations for the Police 

Department, policies, procedures, special orders and operating reasonable directives 

governing matters including, without limitation, performance, safety, quality, and other 

behavioral guidelines governing Sergeants; 

o. To determine the nature, extent, duration, character and method of operation including 

the right to contract out or subcontract; 

p. To assign and/or schedule overtime assignments; 

q. To determine the quality and quantity of work required to be performed by the employees 

to ensure maximum mobility, flexibility and efficiency of operations; 

r. To determine the methods, means, organization and number of personnel by which such 

operations and services shall be made or provided; and, 

s. To establish performance standards and evaluate employees. 

ARTICLE 9  SENIORITY 

Section  9.1  Definition of Seniority 

Seniority shall be based on the length of time from the last date of beginning continuous full-

time employment as a sworn Sergeant in the Lake Bluff Police Department.  Leaves exceeding 

ninety (90) days shall be deducted from the total accumulated date of full-time service in 

determining seniority, except leaves resulting from military duty or duty-related injuries or 

unless otherwise stated to the contrary in this Labor Agreement.  Seniority for the benefits and 

accrual of benefits shall be based on years of continuous employment with the Village of Lake 



 8 

Bluff.  Conflicts of seniority shall be determined on the basis of the order of the Sergeants on the 

Lake Bluff Police and Fire Commission’s promotional list, with the Sergeant higher on the list 

being more senior. 

Section  9.2  Loss of Seniority 

An employee will lose his seniority when: 

a. The employee resigns, retires or quits; 

b. The employee is discharged (for just cause for a Sergeant who has successfully 

completed the probationary period) and such is not overturned by an Arbitrator; 

c. The employee fails to report to work within five (5) calendar days after the conclusion of 

an authorized leave of absence or vacation; 

d. The employee fails to notify the Chief of Police or his authorized designee of his 

intention to return to work within five (5) weekdays Monday through Friday (exclusive 

of holidays observed by the Village) after being sent notice of recall;  

e. The employee is laid off and fails to report to work within fourteen (14) days after having 

been recalled; 

f. The employee is laid off for a period in excess of eighteen (18) months; 

g. The employee does not perform work for the Village (except for military service, 

disability pension, or a layoff where the Sergeant has recall rights, or an established work 

related injury compensated under workers’ compensation for a period in excess of twelve 

(12) months.  

h. The Employer agrees that the covered member may present documentation to support the 

failure to comply with sub-sections: (c)-(d) and (e) if the Employer implements 

disciplinary action.  Such documentation, if any, must be submitted within forty eight (48 

hours) of Employer’s request to be considered. 

ARTICLE 10  LAYOFF AND RECALL 

Section  10.1  Layoff 

The Village, in its sole discretion, shall determine when and whether layoffs are necessary.  If it 

is determined that layoffs are necessary, Sergeants covered by this Labor Agreement will be laid 

off in accordance with their length of service as a sworn officer with the Department as provided 

by the Illinois Statute, 65 ILCS 5/10-2.1-18.  Except in an emergency, no layoff will occur 

without at least ten (10) business days’ written notification (email is fine) to the Union.  



 9 

Section  10.2  Recall 

Sergeants who are laid off shall be placed on a recall list for a period of eighteen (18) months. If 

there is a recall, Sergeants who are still on the recall list shall be recalled, in the inverse order of 

their layoff, provided they are fully qualified to perform the work to which they are recalled 

without further training. Sergeants who are eligible for recall shall be given a minimum of 

fourteen (14) days’ notice of recall and notice of recall shall be sent to the Sergeant by certified 

or registered mail with a copy to the Union, provided that the Sergeant must notify the Chief of 

Police or designee of his/her intention to return to work within five (5) weekdays Monday 

through Friday (exclusive of holidays observed by the Village) after receiving notice of recall. 

Such notification of intention to return to work shall be done in writing. The Village shall be 

deemed to have fulfilled its obligations by mailing the recall notice by certified mail, return 

receipt requested, to the mailing address last provided by the Sergeant, it being the obligation 

and responsibility of the Sergeant to provide the Chief of Police or authorized designee with 

his/her current mailing address. A Sergeant who fails to timely respond to a recall notice shall 

have his/her name removed from the recall list.  

ARTICLE 11  RESOLUTION AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

Section  11.1  Definition 

A “grievance” is defined as a dispute raised by a Sergeant and/or the Union against the Village 

involving an alleged violation of an express provision of this Labor Agreement. The parties 

recognize that the Lake Bluff Police and Fire Commission has and retains certain statutory 

authority over employees covered by this Labor Agreement, except as denoted in Article 6. Such 

authority shall not contradict the terms of this Labor Agreement. A reprimand may be grieved, 

but is not subject to arbitration.  

Section  11.2  Representation 

The Labor Council may have the grievant or grievants present at any step of the grievance 

procedure, and the grievant is entitled to Labor Council representation at any step of the 

grievance procedure.  

Section  11.3  Procedure 

STEP 1:  Any Sergeant who has a grievance or the Labor Council shall submit the grievance, 

Appendix B in writing to the Deputy Chief of Police (or designee).  The grievance, (Appendix B) 

shall contain a statement of the facts, the provision or provisions of this Labor Agreement, which 

are alleged to have been violated, and the relief requested.  All grievances must be presented no 

later than seven (7) business days from the date of the occurrence of the matter giving rise to the 

grievance or within seven (7) business days after the Sergeant, through the use of reasonable 

diligence, could have obtained knowledge of the occurrence of the event giving rise to the 

grievance.   

The Deputy Chief of Police (or designee) shall render a written response to the grievance within 

seven (7) business days after the grievance is presented to the Labor Council and grievant. 



 10 

STEP 2:  If the grievance is not settled at Step 1 and the Sergeant or Union wishes to appeal the 

grievance to Step 2 of the Grievance Procedure, it shall be submitted in writing to the Chief of 

Police within seven (7) business days after receipt of the Deputy Chief of Police written response 

at Step 1 or the time limited to provide the written response.   

The grievance shall specifically state the basis upon which the grievant and/or Labor Council 

believes the grievance was improperly denied at the previous step in the grievance procedure.  

The Chief of Police, or designee, will review the grievance and may offer to discuss the 

grievance within seven (7) business days with the grievant and an authorized representative of 

the Union at a time and place mutually agreeable to the parties.  If no settlement of the grievance 

is reached, the Chief of Police or designee shall provide a written response to the grievant and 

the Union within seven (7) business days following the meeting. 

STEP 3:  If the grievance is not settled at Step 2 and the Sergeant or Union desires to appeal, it 

shall be referred by the Sergeant or Union in writing to the Village Administrator within seven 

(7) business days after receipt of the Chief of Police response at Step 2.  Thereafter the Village 

Administrator or his designee or other appropriate individual(s) as desired by the Village 

Administrator, shall meet with the grievant and a Union representative within seven (7) business 

days of receipt of the Sergeant or Union’s appeal, unless extended by the parties.  If no 

agreement is reached, the Village Administrator or designee shall submit a written response to 

the grievant and the Union with in seven (7) business days following the meeting.  

Section  11.4  Arbitration 

If the grievance is not settled in Step 3 and the Labor Council wishes to appeal the grievance to 

arbitration, as described below, within seven (7) business days of receipt of the Village 

Administrator’s written response as provided to the Labor Council as Step 3 or the time limit to 

provide the written response. 

The parties shall attempt to agree upon an arbitrator within seven (7)  business days after receipt 

of the notice of referral.  In the event that the parties are unable to agree upon the arbitrator 

within the said seven (7) business days, the parties shall jointly request the Federal Mediation 

and Conciliation Service to submit a panel of five (5) arbitrators.  Each party retains the right to 

reject one (1) panel in its entirety and request that a new panel be submitted.  Both the Village 

and the Union shall have the right to strike two (2) names from the panel.  A coin toss will 

determine the first strike and then the parties will alternate strikes.  The person remaining shall 

be the arbitrator.  The arbitrator shall be notified of the selection and shall be requested to set a 

time and place for the hearing, subject to the availability of Union and Village representatives.  

The Union and the Village shall have the right to request the arbitrator to require the presence of 

witnesses or documents.  The Union and the Village retain the right to employ legal counsel.  

The arbitrator shall submit a decision in writing within thirty (30) calendar days following the 

close of the hearing or the submission or briefs by the parties, whichever is later. 

More than one (1) grievance may be submitted to the same arbitrator where both parties mutually 

agree in writing.  The fees and expenses of the arbitrator and the cost of the written transcript, if 

any, shall be divided equally between the Village and the Union; provided however, that each 

party shall be responsible for compensating its own representatives and witnesses.  



 11 

Section  11.5  Authority Limitations of the Arbitrator 

The Arbitrator shall have no right to amend, modify, nullify, ignore, add to, subtract from or 

change in any way the provisions of this Labor Agreement.  The Arbitrator shall consider and 

decide only the question of fact as to whether there has been a violation, misinterpretation or 

misapplication of the specific provisions of this Labor Agreement, as well as determine an 

appropriate award, if any.  Any decision of award of the Arbitrator rendered within the 

limitations of this Article 11 shall be final and binding upon the Village, the Union and the 

Sergeants covered by this Labor Agreement. 

Section  11.6  Time Limit  

If the grievance is not presented by the Sergeant or the Labor Council within the time limits set 

forth above, it shall be considered “waived” and may not be pursued further.  If a grievance is 

not appealed to the next step within the specified time limit or any specifically agreed extension 

thereof, it shall be considered “waived.” If the response is not timely provided within the specific 

time limits, the aggrieved Sergeant or Union may elect to treat the grievance as denied at the step 

and immediately appeal the grievance to the next step.  The parties may by mutual written 

agreement, (Appendix C) extend any of the time limits set forth in this Article 11. 

ARTICLE 12  IMPASSE RESOLUTION 

The resolution of any bargaining impasse shall be in accordance with the Illinois Public Labor 

Relations Act, as may be amended from time to time (5 ILCS 315/14), or as may otherwise be 

mutually agreed. 

ARTICLE 13  WAGES AND OTHER COMPENSATION 

Section  13.1  Wages 

  

1-May-13 1-May-14 1-May-15 1-May-16 

Step 

  

2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 

1 Start  $88,688   $90,905   $93,178  $95,507 

2 After 1 Year:  $90,248   $92,504   $94,817  $97,187 

3 After 2 Years:  $92,280   $94,587   $96,952  $99,375 

4 After 3 Years:  $94,587   $96,952   $99,375  $101,860 

5 After 4 Years:  $97,412   $99,847   $102,343  $104,902 

      

Section  13.2  Jury Duty 

A Sergeant whose service on a jury causes the loss of a regularly scheduled work day shall 

receive up to eight (8) hours pay for each work day time lost.  However, for a Sergeant to receive 

pay or reimbursement, the Sergeant must turn over all compensation received for jury duty.  The 

Sergeant must present a pay voucher from the Clerk of the Court or other appropriate official 

stating the full amount of jury duty remuneration. 

 



 12 

Section  13.3  Mileage Allowance 

The Village shall normally make available to any Sergeant engaged in Village business a Village 

owned vehicle.  However, where circumstances require, the Chief of Police may authorize a 

Sergeant utilize a privately owned vehicle for Village business, and the Village will reimburse 

the Sergeant the then-current IRS approved rate per mile of actual use.  Officers will be eligible 

for travel time only if the assigned Village business is more than thirty (30) miles from the 

Public Safety Building.   

Section 13.4 Tuition Reimbursement 

General Order 97-04-17 shall be included by reference as it existed on May 1, 2003.  

ARTICLE 14  HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 

Section  14.1  Purpose of Article 

This Article sets forth the normal work cycle and establishes the basis for calculating overtime 

payments.  Nothing in this Article or Agreement shall be construed or misconstrued as a 

guarantee of hours of work per day, per week, or per work cycle. 

Section  14.2  Normal Work Cycle 

The normal work cycle for Sergeants covered by this Labor Agreement shall be fourteen (14) 

days consisting of ten (10) shifts of eight (8) hours.  Current paid lunch and break practices shall 

remain in effect. 

Section  14.3  Changes in Normal Work Cycle 

Should it be necessary for legitimate operational needs for the Chief of Police to establish a 

schedule departing from the current practices, the Police Chief will give, if practicable, seventy-

two (72) hours of advance notice of such change to all Sergeants affected by such change. 

Sergeants will rotate on an annual basis. The rotational order shall proceed in a forward manner, 

i.e., from day shift to afternoon shift to midnight shift.  However, Sergeants will be allowed to 

trade shifts among themselves even if this results in a Sergeant working the same shift 

assignment as the previous year(s). Shift assignments, once made, will remain in effect; provided 

however that the Department has the right and obligation to adjust shifts on the basis of skills 

(i.e. Major Crimes, NIPAS), the Chief or designee, consistent with this right and obligation, shall 

be entitled to re-assign shifts in inverse seniority. Bumping which occurs as a result of the 

assignment by the Chief of Police or probationary Sergeants will be in inverse seniority order. 

For the purposes of implementation, the Sergeants will remain on their current shift and the 

rotational process will begin as of January 1, 2016. 

The Union and Sergeants recognize that circumstances change from time to time during the term 

of Labor Agreement that give rise to a need to change hours of work or other working conditions 

due to the small size of the unit. If this occurs, the Chief of Police or designee will provide 

advance notice to the Union, except in the event of emergency or unanticipated business need of 

the Police Department or Village. The Village agrees to give a thirty (30) day notification to the 



 13 

Union of any non-temporary changes in scheduling and the Village agrees to reopen and 

negotiate the impact that would be affected by this change in scheduling. 

Section  14.4  Overtime Pay 

Sergeants shall be paid at one and one-half (1+1/2) times their normal straight time hourly rate 

for all hours compensated in excess of the normal eight (8) hour day in the Sergeant’s normal 

fourteen (14) day work cycle rounded to the nearest completed fifteen (15) minute segments with 

a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes if under fifteen (15) minutes are completed. 

Section  14.5  Court Time 

When Sergeants are required to attend court on behalf of the Village outside a Sergeant’s normal 

workday, the Sergeant shall be paid for actual time spent for court with a minimum of three (3) 

hours pay. 

Section  14.6  Call Back or Call-In Pay 

Sergeants who are hired to work outside their normal hours of work (i.e., hours not contiguous to 

their normal shift or on a day not regularly scheduled) shall be paid their applicable rate of pay 

for all hours worked outside their normal shift, with a guarantee of two (2) hours’ pay.  The term 

“call back” or “call-in” shall not include an employee being contacted by telephone or situations 

where employees are ordered in to correct their own mistakes or clarify unrecognizable 

transcripts. 

Section  14.7  Shift Trades 

A shift trade may be permitted if a voluntary request for such a trade is submitted and approved 

by the Chief of Police or designee.   

Section  14.8  No Pyramiding 

Compensation shall not be paid more than once for the same hours under any provisions of this 

Article or Agreement.    

ARTICLE 15  HOLIDAYS AND PERSONAL DAYS 

Section  15.1  Holidays 

Sergeants covered by this Labor Agreement shall receive eight (8) days off per calendar year, 

said days off to be scheduled under normal circumstances based upon the Sergeant’s request and 

with the approval of the Chief of Police or designee.  Holidays may not be requested on days that 

would result in insufficient manpower to cover the shift.  In order to be eligible to receive pay for 

any of the eight (8) scheduled days off the Sergeant must work their full scheduled day before 

and after the scheduled day off unless proof of sickness or excusable absence is established to the 

satisfaction of the Chief of Police or designee.  Those days shall be made available for request at 

the beginning of the calendar year.  Employees shall be given the opportunity to request these 

days prior to the beginning of the calendar year, but at a minimum of five (5) days in advance.  



 14 

Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied, however requests may be denied or cancelled if 

another Sergeant selects vacation time on a date a holiday/personal day has been selected 

resulting in insufficient manpower.   

For purposes of this Section, Sergeants who work on Memorial Day, Thanksgiving Day, and 

Christmas Day shall be paid time and one-half (1+1/2) for all hours worked.  For purposes of the 

foregoing holiday pay provisions, if a majority of the hours of a shift fall on the holiday (12 

midnight through 11:59 PM), the entire shift shall be considered as falling on the holiday for 

holiday pay purposes.  If however, less than a majority of the hours of a shift do not fall on the 

holiday, the entire shift shall be considered as not falling on the holiday. 

Section  15.2  Personal Days 

In addition to the above eight (8) holidays, Sergeants shall also receive four (4) personal days per 

fiscal year.  A personal day may not be taken consecutively with another holiday or vacation 

time without the approval of the Chief of Police or designee (such approval will not be 

unreasonably denied). 

ARTICLE 16  VACATION 

Section  16.1  Vacation Eligibility 

Every Sergeant shall be eligible to use vacation time after the completion of twelve (12) months 

of employment with the Village.  Sergeants shall start to earn vacation allowances as of the date 

of employment with the Village.  Vacation allowance shall be earned per pay period based on the 

following schedule:  

Length of Continuous Service Working Days of Vacation Per Year 

One (1) to Completion of Fourth (4th) Year 10  Days 

Five (5) to Completion of Ninth (9th) Year 15  Days 

Ten (10) Years to Completion of fourteenth (15) Year 20  Days 

  

The calendar year will be divided into two (2) separate periods.  January, February, and March 

being the first period.  The second period will be April through December.  Requests for vacation 

during the First period is not subject to seniority and is open on a first come first served basis to 

all Sergeants provided the proper request form has been submitted.  Vacations will be limited to 

a maximum of two (2) weeks per request during the year.  No more than one (1) Sergeant may be 

on vacation at the same time, regardless of shift, and no Sergeant may be on vacation during the 

week of July 4, unless approved by the Chief or designee.  For the period of January through 

March, vacations will be chosen on a first come/first served basis.  No seniority and no 

“bumping” will be permitted during this period.  By November 1, of each year, the Village shall 

post a vacation bid list which shall remain posted until December 15 of each year.  Sergeants 

may not take any part of the same period for time for vacation as they took the previous year as 

first pick, unless no other Sergeants pick that time.  After all employees have made initial 

selections, the second round selections, also by seniority will be made.  A second round selection 

cannot take priority over another employee’s first round selection.  After the second requests 

have been submitted, any Sergeants who have remaining accumulated vacation time may submit 



 15 

an additional vacation request as long as it does not affect the minimum staffing requirements.  

This request is not subject to seniority.   

Section  16.2  Vacation Week 

Vacation shall be paid on a forty (40) hour basis per week at the rate of the Sergeant’s regular 

straight-time hourly rate of pay in effect for the Sergeant’s regular job classification on the 

payday immediately preceding the Sergeant’s vacation. 

Section  16.3  Vacation Scheduling 

Vacations shall be scheduled at times requested by the Sergeants consistent with the operational 

needs of the Department. 

Section  16.4  Limitation on Accumulation of Annual Vacation 

Sergeants are not permitted to accrue/carryover more vacation time than they earn in one (1) year 

plus ten (10) days without written approval by the Chief of Police and the Village Administrator. 

ARTICLE 17  ABSENCE FROM DUTY 

Section  17.1  Paid Sick Time 

All full-time Sergeants are eligible for paid sick time benefits at a rate of one (1) work day of 

each month of continuous service, or 3.69 hours every two (2) weeks or pay period.  Sick leave 

will be allowed for illness or injury to the employee or the employee’s “immediate family” as 

defined in the Family and Medical Leave Act.  A doctor’s note shall be required when utilizing 

sick leave of more than three (3) consecutive work days. 

a. Should paid sick time benefits be exhausted in the case of a prolonged personal illness, a 

Sergeant may utilize accrued vacation pay leave time in lieu of unpaid sick leave if 

covered member so requests. 

b. On separation from the Village in good standing, an employee having a minimum of 

sixty (60) days and not more than one hundred-nineteen (119) days of accrued sick leave, 

shall receive compensation equal to twenty percent (20%) of all days accrued at covered 

members current hourly rate.  An employee having a minimum of one hundred-twenty 

(120) days of accrued sick leave shall receive compensation equal to forty percent (40%) 

of all days accrued at his/her covered members current hourly rate.  An employee having 

less than sixty (60) days of accrued sick leave will not receive compensation for those 

days upon separation of employment.  Employees who leave the Village’s employ as a 

result of disciplinary action do not qualify for accrued sick leave payments.  

Section  17.2  Military Leave 

The Village and the Union will abide by applicable statutes or Executives Orders related to 

military leave.   



 16 

Section  17.3  Unpaid Leave of Absence 

A Sergeant must inform the Chief of Police of his intention to request an unpaid leave of absence 

for off-the-job injuries or for other reasons.  An off-the-job injury leave or other unpaid leave of 

absence may however only be granted by the Village Administrator at the Village’s sole 

discretion.  The terms and conditions of such a leave shall be on a case-by-case basis provided 

the provisions do not violate the terms and conditions of this Labor Agreement or applicable 

State Statutes.  Sergeants returning from off-the-job injury leaves must present medical 

documentation, signed by the attending physician, certifying the Sergeants’ fitness for duty.  

Returning Sergeants will be given their same or substantially equivalent job for which they are 

qualified if there is an appropriate vacancy.  If a vacancy does not exist at that time, they may be 

continued on leave and will be offered the first appropriate vacancy for which they are qualified.  

Those returning from an off-the-job injury leave will not be entitled to a shift preference.  Failure 

to return to work on the date specified in the leave may be cause for discharge.   

Section  17.4  Injury Leave 

Nothing in this Labor Agreement shall be construed to preclude the applicability of the Public 

Employee Disability Act as set forth in 5 ILCS 345/1 et seq., but said Act shall be incorporated 

herein by reference. 

Section  17.5  Light Duty Assignments 

Sergeants who are injured, disabled or ill arising out of circumstances related to a duty or off 

duty occurrences may be assigned to light-duty work if the Sergeant receives a medical release 

from his registered health care provider to perform such assignment, subject to the Village’s sole 

discretion.  The parties agree to the “Modified Duty Program Policy” as stated in the Village of 

Lake Bluff Personnel Policies and Procedures, including any revisions thereto which are adopted 

from time to time. 

Section  17.6  Bereavement Leave 

The Village agrees to provide employees a leave of absence without loss of pay or benefits, as a 

result of a death in the employee’s family.  Such leave shall be for a period of up to three (3) 

days.  For purposes of this Section, family shall be defined as: Parents, Grandparents, Spouse or 

civil union partner, Children (including “step” or “adopted”), Brothers, Sisters, Grandchildren, 

Mother-in-Law, Father-in-Law, Brothers-in-Law, and Sisters-in-Law. 

ARTICLE 18  HOSPITAL, MEDICAL, SURGICAL, 

MAJOR MEDICAL, DENTAL AND LIFE INSURANCE 

Section  18.1  Medical Insurance 

The hospitalization, medical, surgical, major medical, and dental insurance programs which are 

in effect for Village employees shall be continued during the term of this Labor Agreement, 

provided, however, the Village retains the right to change insurance carriers or to self-insure as it 

deems appropriate so long as the coverage and benefits are substantially similar to those which 

predated this Labor Agreement. 



 17 

Section  18.2  Life Insurance 

Full-time Sergeants will be provided with life insurance coverage and accidental death and 

dismemberment coverage under the terms of the current group life insurance program in force, 

provided, however, the Village retains the right to change carriers as it deems appropriate.  The 

Village will assume the full cost of the Sergeant’s life insurance coverage from the date of 

eligibility onward.  Life insurance ceases with termination of employment with the Village 

except as otherwise provided by law.  The specific aspects of the life insurance coverage are 

contained in the respective carrier’s group insurance certificate.  

Section  18.3  Cost Containment 

The Village reserves the right to maintain or institute cost containment measures relative to 

insurance coverage so long as the level of insurance benefits remains substantially the same.  The 

Village will not increase the employee share of the deductibles (routine & hospital/surgical) or 

the co-insurance percentages from those in effect pursuant to the insurance contract in effect as 

of the time of ratification; however the Village will pay a minimum of eight-six percent (86%) of 

the premium for employee and applicable family coverage.  The employee will pay the 

remaining premium for the life of this contract.  Premium contributions will continue to be 

deducted on a pre-tax basis.  

Section  18.4  Opt-Out Option 

For a period of thirty (30) days prior to the start of the plan year, each bargaining unit employee, 

upon proof of applicable insurance by another carrier, shall have the option to elect not to receive 

the health and dental insurance offered by the Village.  Such election will be effective for a 

period of twelve (12) months (pro-rated if employee works partial year).  Any employee who is 

eligible for any applicable family coverage and elects not to receive coverage for them self and 

family shall receive a payment of $1,000.  Any employee who is eligible for only single 

coverage and elects not to be covered shall receive a payment of $700.  Such payments shall be 

made in two (2) equal installments, at the start of the plan year and the other six (6) months 

thereafter.  If an employee does not exercise the right to elect whether or not to be covered or to 

receive family coverage during the thirty (30) days prior to the start of the plan year, his prior 

election will continue to be in effect for a period of an additional twelve (12) months.  An 

employee who has elected not to be covered and/or not to receive family coverage shall have the 

right to change this election during the applicable twelve (12) month period only upon proof of a 

change of other insurance coverage for self or family as required by law.   

Section  18.5  Terms of the Policy to Govern 

The extent of coverage under the insurance policies referred to in Sections 18.1 and 18.2 shall be 

governed by the terms and conditions set forth in said policies.  Any questioning concerning 

coverage shall be resolved in accordance with the terms and conditions in said policy and shall 

not be subject to the grievance procedure set forth in this Labor Agreement; provided, however, 

any Sergeant who has a question concerning coverage may present it to the Village 

Administrator or designee who shall make appropriate inquiry and advise the Sergeant of the 

status of the matter. 



 18 

Section  18.6  Funeral Expense 

The Village agrees to defray all reasonable funeral and burial expenses of any Sergeant killed in 

the line of duty. 

Section  18.7  Flexible Benefit Plan or Health Savings Account Plan 

The Village will continue to provide a flexible benefit plan or a Health Savings Account Plan to 

each bargaining unit employee at the same level of benefits and under the same terms and 

conditions as provided to other Village employees. 

ARTICLE 19  GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section  19.1  Outside or Secondary Employment 

No officer of the Village shall be employed in other occupations, business ventures or other 

activity considered as secondary full-time or part-time type employment without the knowledge 

and specific written request and approval of the Chief of Police and the Village Administrator.  

Secondary employment does not include special details arranged through the Department, or 

service in the Armed Forces of the United States, or the National Guard of any state.  However, 

such employment shall not be acceptable, if any of the following conditions apply or develop: 

(a) where the nature or place of employment might bring disfavor on the Department 

or the Village; 

(b) where the secondary employment would involve the employee’s appearance in 

Village uniform, involve use of Village equipment, or in any manner be 

considered as a conflict of interest with the officer’s municipal position; 

(c) where an employee appears to be using his position to influence his secondary 

employment. 

Officers who engage in secondary employment shall do so only with the understanding and 

acceptance that their primary duty, obligation and responsibility is to the Village of Lake Bluff.  

All officers are subject to call at any time for emergencies, special assignment, or overtime duty 

and no secondary or other employment may infringe on this obligation.  All employees seeking 

to work secondary employment shall submit a Secondary Employment Request form (Appendix 

D) and shall first obtain the signed Secondary Employment Indemnity Agreement contained in 

Appendix E.  

Section  19.2  Inspection of Personnel Files 

The Village agrees to abide by the Review of Personnel Records Act, 820 ILCS 40/1. 

Section  19.3  Residency Requirement 

Although highly desirable, Sergeants are not required to maintain residence within the Village 

limits.  Sergeants shall reside within thirty (30) driving miles of the Lake Bluff Police Station. 



 19 

Section  19.4  Medical Examinations 

If there is a reasonable basis for concern regarding a Sergeant’s fitness for duty or fitness to 

return to duty following a layoff or leave of absence, the Village may require, at its expense that 

the Sergeant have a physical examination and/or psychological examination by a qualified and 

licensed physician and/or psychologist selected by the Village. 

Section  19.5  Uniforms 

The Village agrees to supply police uniforms and equipment in accordance with existing 

practices and then applicable standard operating procedures.   

Section  19.6  Inoculation and Immunization 

The Village agrees to pay all expenses for inoculation or immunization shots for the Sergeant as 

a result of said Sergeant’s exposure to contagious diseases where the said Sergeant has been 

exposed to said disease in the line of duty.  If in a physician’s opinion, the members of the family 

are required to have such shots, the Village agrees to assume the cost of the shots, provided 

proper medical documentation is submitted to the Village. 

Section  19.7  Drug and Alcohol Abuse Policy 

The Parties agree to the Drug and Alcohol Abuse policy as stated in the Village of Lake Bluff 

Personnel Policies and Procedures June 2013, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix F.   

Section  19.8  Union Unit Stewards 

For the purposes of administering and enforcing the provisions of this Labor Agreement, the 

Village agrees as follows: In order to assist the Village with compliance with this Article, the 

Labor Council shall provide the Chief of Police with a list of names of the Unit Stewards within 

a reasonable time following election or appointment of such Stewards, or any changes to the list.  

The names of employees selected as Unit Stewards who may represent employees, with the 

Labor Council at each Step of the grievance procedure shall be certified in writing to the Village 

by the Union.   

Section  19.9  Deferred Compensation Plan 

Sergeants will have the option of taking part in the Village’s 457 deferred compensation program 

to the extent that such program is offered to other Village employees.  The Sergeants will follow 

the same guidelines as other Village employees. 

Section  19.10  Personal Use of Village Property 

Sergeants shall not use any Village property for their own personal use.  Provided however, with 

the prior approval of the Chief of Police or designee, Union representatives may use Village 

copy and fax machines.  Such use shall not take precedence over Village needs. 



 20 

Section  19.11  Clothing Expense Reimbursement 

When a Sergeant’s personal clothing becomes damaged while performing official duties, the 

Sergeant shall be reimbursed for reasonable replacement, repair or cleaning of the clothing or 

damages, as applicable. 

Section  19.12  Bulletin Board 

A Union bulletin board of reasonable size shall be available for use in the Sergeant’s office of 

the police department or as otherwise agreeable to the parties.  Such bulletin board shall be 

available for the posting of notices and materials relating to Union activities.  Such materials 

shall be identified with the name of the Union and shall be signed or otherwise authenticated by 

an appropriate Sergeant or representative thereof.  Such materials shall not be derogatory of any 

person associated with the Village and shall not include items which are endorsements of 

candidates for political office (other than offices of the Union).  Any posting may be removed if 

it is not posted by Labor Council and related to Union business.  

Section  19.13  Safety Issues 

a. The Village and the Sergeants shall take reasonable steps to provide for safe, properly 

maintained and functioning equipment that is in daily use by the Sergeants covered in this 

Labor Agreement.  Any report or recommendation which may be prepared by the Labor 

Council, or designee(s) of the Chief of Police as a direct result of any such meeting will 

be in writing and copies submitted to the Chief of Police and the representatives of the 

Labor Council. 

b. Defective Equipment:  No Employee shall be required to use any equipment that has been 

designated by both the Labor Council, and the Village as being defective because of a 

disabling condition.  When an assigned department vehicle is found to have a disabling 

defect or is in violation of the law, the employee will notify his supervisor, complete 

required reports, and follow the supervisor’s direction relative to requesting repair, 

replacement, or the continued operation of said vehicle.   

Section  19.14    Examination of Records 

The Labor Council or a representative shall have the right to examine time sheets and other 

records or copies thereof, pertaining to a specific grievance arising after the effective date of this 

Labor Agreement at reasonable times, with reasonable advance notice at the normal place of 

business for such records during normal business hours and with the Sergeant’s consent. 

ARTICLE 20  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Labor Agreement constitutes the complete and entire Agreement between the parties.  This 

Labor Agreement supersedes and cancels all prior practices and Agreements, whether written or 

oral, which conflict with the express terms of this Labor Agreement.  The parties acknowledge 

that during the negotiations which resulted in this Labor Agreement, each had the unlimited right 

and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject matter not removed 

by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the parties waive the right to negotiate on 



 21 

any issue whether known or unknown and that the understandings and Agreements reached by 

the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Labor Agreement. 

ARTICLE 21  SEVERABILITY 

In the event that any Article, paragraph, section or sub-section of this Labor Agreement shall be 

rendered or declared unlawful, invalid or unenforceable by virtue of any judicial action, or by 

any existing or subsequently enacted Federal or State legislation or by Executive Order or other 

competent authority, the remaining parts or portions of this Labor Agreement shall remain in full 

force and effect.  In such event, the parties shall, upon the request of either party, commence 

good faith bargaining over substitute provisions for those parts or portions rendered or declared 

unlawful, invalid or unenforceable.   

ARTICLE 22  DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

This Labor Agreement shall be effective the 1st day of May 2014 and shall remain in full force 

and effect until midnight on the 30th day of April, 2017.  It shall be automatically renewed from 

year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other party in writing at least one 

hundred twenty (120) days prior to the anniversary date that it desires to modify this Labor 

Agreement.  The notices referred to shall be considered to have been given as of the date shown 

on the postmark.  Written notice may be tendered in person, to the Village Administrator in the 

case of the Village and to the Fraternal Order of Police, Labor Council, in which case the date of 

notice shall be written on the document as of the date of receipt.  Notwithstanding any provision 

of this Article or Agreement to the contrary, this Labor Agreement shall remain in full force and 

effect after any expiration date while negotiations or resolution of impasse procedure are 

continuing for a successor Labor Agreement or part thereof between the parties. 

For the Village of Lake Bluff: 

___________________________________ 

Kathleen O’Hara  Date 

For the Illinois FOP, Labor Council: 

___________________________________ 

Kevin S. Krug   Date 

Northern Field Supervisor 

___________________________________ 

Aaron Towle   Date 

Village Clerk 

___________________________________ 

Robert Brezinski  Date 

Steward 

Village Seal: ___________________________________ 

Matthew Smizinski  Date 

Steward 

 ___________________________________ 

Erik Gehrke   Date 

Steward 

  



 22 

APPENDIX A - DUES AUTHORIZATION FORM 

ILLINOIS FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE LABOR COUNCIL 

974 CLOCKTOWER DRIVE 

SPRINGFIELD, ILLINOIS 62704 

I,           , hereby authorize my 

Employer, the Village of Lake Bluff, to deduct from my wages the uniform amount of monthly 

dues set by the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council, for expenses connected with the 

cost of negotiating and maintaining the collective bargaining agreement between the parties and 

to remit such dues to the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council as it may from time to 

time direct.  (In addition, I authorize my Employer to deduct from wages any back dues owed to 

the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council from the date of its certification as exclusive 

bargaining representative to the date this dues deduction is implemented, in such manner as it so 

directs.) 

Date:     Signed:         

     Address:         

     City:          

     State:       Zip:       

     Telephone:         

 

Employment Start Date:       

Title:          

Employer, please remit all dues deductions to: 

Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council 

Attn: Accounting 

974 Clock Tower Drive 

Springfield, Illinois  62704 

(217) 698-9433 

Dues remitted to the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police Labor Council are not tax deductible as 

charitable contributions for federal income tax purposes; however, they may be deductible on 

Schedule A of Form 1040 as a miscellaneous deduction. 

 

  



 23 

APPENDIX B - GRIEVANCE 

(use additional sheets where necessary) 

Department:  ______________________________ Date Filed:  _________________________ 

Grievant’s Name:  ______________________________________________________________ 

    Last   First   M.I. 

 

STEP ONE 

Date of Incident or Date Knew of Facts Giving Rise to Grievance: Article(s) and Sections(s) of 

Contract violated:    _____________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Briefly state the facts:   ___________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Remedy Sought:  _______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Given To:  ______________________________  Date/Time:  ___________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Grievant’s Signature:       FOP Representative Signature 

 

EMPLOYER’S STEP ONE RESPONSE 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Employee Representative Signature    Position 

 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Person to Whom Response Given    Date 

 



 24 

STEP TWO 

Reason for Advancing Grievance:  _________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Given To:  ______________________________  Date/Time:  ___________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Grievant’s Signature:       FOP Representative Signature 

 

EMPLOYER’S STEP TWO RESPONSE 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Employee Representative Signature    Position 

 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Person to Whom Response Given    Date 

STEP THREE 

Reason for Advancing Grievance:  _________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Given To:  ______________________________  Date/Time:  ___________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Grievant’s Signature:       FOP Representative Signature 

EMPLOYER’S STEP THREE RESPONSE 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Employee Representative Signature    Position 

 

________________________________________  ______________________________ 

Person to Whom Response Given    Date 



 25 

 

REFERRAL TO ARBITRATION by Illinois FOP Labor Council 

___________________________________  ___________________________________ 

Person to Whom Referral Given    Date 

 

___________________________________ 

FOP Labor Council Representative  

  

  



 26 

APPENDIX C - AGREEMENT TO EXTEND TIME LIMITS 

The Village of Lake Bluff and the Illinois Fraternal Order of Police, Labor Council by its 

authorized representative do hereby agree to extend the time limits for further processing the 

grievance commonly referred to as the _______________________________________ 

grievance.  This grievance is currently at Step ____ of the grievance procedure.  It shall be 

frozen at that step to allow the parties further opportunity to investigate the dispute until either 

party delivers to the other a written notice demanding that the grievance processing resume.  

Neither party waives its position or rights with regard to this grievance by making this agreement 

to extend the time limits.  This form is also available for use in connection with the holding of a 

grievance meeting under the Agreement.  For use in that connection, it is hereby agreed that the 

seven (7) calendars day period for holding the meeting is hereby extended to and including 

___________________________________. 

     

______________________________________  ______________________________ 

FOR THE EMPLOYER     DATE 

 

______________________________________  ______________________________ 

FOR THE LABOR COUNCIL    DATE 

 

 

  



 27 

APPENDIX D 

SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT REQUEST 

 

Officer:  _______________________________ Date:  ______________________________ 

 

Secondary Employer:     Address: 

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

 

Telephone Number:  ______________________ 

 

Days Per Week (Maximum):  _______________ Days Per Week (Minimum):  ____________ 

 

Supervisor Name:     Address: 

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

 

Telephone Number:  ______________________ 

 

Brief Description of Type of Work to Be Performed: 

 

 

 

 

Approvals:      Date: 

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Chief of Police      

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Village Administrator      

 

 

 

Basis for Denial: 

 

Denial:       Date: 

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Chief of Police      

 

_______________________________________ ____________________________________ 

Village Administrator      



 28 

APPENDIX E 

SECONDARY EMPLOYMENT INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 

This Agreement, entered into this ____ day of ______________, _________, by and 

between the Village of Lake Bluff (“Village”),  _______________, a Village of Lake Bluff 

Employee (“Employee”), and _____________________, with an address of 

___________________________________________________(“Secondary Employer”). 

In consideration for Village of Lake Bluff’s permission to allow Employee of the Police 

Department to be employed in any capacity for Secondary Employer, it is hereby agreed:  

Section One 

Secondary Employer undertakes to indemnify defend and hold harmless against any and 

all claims, suits, actions, damages, cost, charges and expenses, including court costs and 

attorney’s fees and against all liability, losses and damages of any nature whatever, that Village 

shall or may at any time be put to by reason of secondary employment of Employee. 

Section Two 

Secondary Employer agrees to defend Village against any claims brought or actions filed, 

against Secondary Employer or Employee with respect to the subject of the indemnity contained 

herein, whether such claims or actions are rightfully brought or filed.  In case a claim shall be 

brought or any action be filed with respect to the subject indemnity herein, Secondary Employer 

and Employee agree that Village may, with Secondary Employer or Employee’s insurance 

company’s approval, employ attorneys of its own selection to appear and defend the claim or 

action on behalf of Village, at the expense of Secondary Employer. 

Section Three 

Village agrees to notify Secondary Employer or Employee in writing, within 30 days, by 

registered mail, at Secondary Employer or Employee’s address as stated in this agreement, of 

any claim made against Village on the obligations indemnified against.  Notification shall be 

effective on the date of mailing.  

Section Four 

Secondary Employer agrees to reimburse Village for any necessary expenses, attorney’s 

fees, or costs incurred in the enforcement of any part of this indemnity agreement. 

Section Five 

The Employee and Secondary Employer jointly and severally agree that at no time during 

or after the term of this Agreement shall either of them file any claim of any kind or nature 

against the Village under any circumstances arising from or in any way connected to the 

secondary employment of employee. 



 29 

Section Six 

Secondary Employer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Village for any 

injury, damage, liability of any nature or to the Secondary Employer, any person or entity, 

whatsoever, in event Employee is called out by the department in case of an emergency and 

required to leave their secondary employment. 

Section Seven 

There shall be no modification or change in the terms of this agreement without the 

written approval of Village.  Cancellation of this agreement may only occur when Secondary 

Employer no longer employs Employee, and only written acceptance thereof by Village.  

Cancellation shall not relieve Secondary Employer from liability for claims, regardless of when 

made, resulting from occurrences, which took place during the period of this agreement. 

In witness whereof, the parties have executed this agreement on 

____________________, 20____. 

 

 

________________________________ 

Secondary Employer 

 

 

________________________________ 

City/Village Representative 

 

 

________________________________ 

Employee 

 

  



 30 

APPENDIX F 

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING 

Section 1. Policy 

It is the policy of the Village that the public has the reasonable right to expect persons 

employed by the Village to be free from the effects of drugs and alcohol.  The Village, as the 

employer, has the right to expect the employees to report for work fit and able for duty.  The 

purposes of this policy shall be achieved in such manner as not to violate any established rights 

of the employees. 

Section 2. Prohibition 

Employees shall be prohibited from: 

(a) consuming or possessing alcohol or illegal drugs (unless in accordance 

with duty requirements) at any time during the work day or anywhere on 

any Village premises or job sites, including all Village buildings, 

properties, vehicles and the Employee’s personal vehicle while engaged in 

Village business; 

(b) illegally selling, purchasing or delivering any illegal drug (unless in 

accordance with duty requirements); 

(c) being under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs during the course of 

the work day or within a reasonable time prior to beginning the work day;  

(d) failing to report to their supervisor any known or adverse side effects of 

medication or prescription drugs which they are taking;  

(e) selling, distributing, dispensing, or transferring alcohol, illegal drugs, or 

prescription drugs and medications to any other employee or to any person 

while on duty or acting in an official capacity. 

Section 3. Drug and Alcohol Testing Permitted 

A. Reasonable Cause 

1. Anyone in a supervisory position shall have the right to require any 

employee under their supervision to submit to drug or alcohol 

testing when reasonable suspicion exists that the employee is in 

violation of any of the provisions as set forth in this directive.  The 

supervisory person will provide written notice to the employee of 

the order to submit to drug or alcohol testing.  The order will be 

signed by the supervisory person requiring the test as well as a 

person of equal or higher level of authority within the same 

department or the Village Administrator, or in the Village 

Administrator’s absence, the Human Resources Coordinator, and 



 31 

will further state the specific facts and inferences leading to the 

reasonable suspicion to order to such test.  The employee shall be 

permitted to consult with a representative of the Labor Council at 

the time the order is given.  Testing shall not be unreasonably 

delayed by reason of the Employee’s inability to consult legal 

counsel or labor representatives.  No questioning of the employee 

shall be conducted without first affording the employee the right to 

Labor Council representation and/or legal counsel.  The employee 

shall complete the test required by the supervisor within one (1) 

hour of issuance of the order.  A supervisor shall provide 

transportation to the test. 

2. Any employee suspected of drug or alcohol use as a result of 

reasonable evidence upon reporting to work, during the day, or 

upon completion of the employee’s shift may be subjected to a 

reasonable cause urine drug or breath alcohol test in accordance 

with the provisions of the aforementioned paragraph.  Refusal to 

submit to such screening will be considered grounds for immediate 

discipline up to, and including discharge.  

B. Pre-employment/Promotion/Job Assignment Change 

1. All job offers are contingent upon successfully passing a five-panel 

urine drug test and an alcohol drug test. 

2. Any employee may be required to submit to drug or alcohol testing 

as a condition of the promotional process, or initial employment 

without the requirement of reasonable suspicion. 

C. Duty-Related Post-Accident Testing 

1. Post accident urine drug and breath alcohol testing will be required 

of those employees who are involved in an accident if the 

employee receives a citation for a moving traffic violation arising 

from the accident, the accident results in personal injury to the 

employee or others, or more than $1,000 in property damage, or a 

supervisor observes one or more items as defined under reasonable 

cause suspicion. 

2. The post-accident urine drug test shall be conducted as soon as 

possible but not later than 32 hours after a reportable or fatal 

accident.  If the test is not administered the Village shall prepare 

and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the test was not 

promptly completed.  If a breath alcohol test is not conducted 

within 2 hours, a record shall be prepared and retained stating why.  

If in 8 hours a test is still not conducted, all attempts shall cease 

and a complete record made of why it was not accomplished.  The 



 32 

employee should not consume alcohol for at least 8 hours 

following an accident or until a breath alcohol test has been 

accomplished. 

3. An employee who is seriously injured and cannot provide a 

specimen or breath alcohol test at the time of the accident shall 

provide the necessary authorization for obtaining only those 

medical records and reports that would indicate if a controlled 

substance or alcohol was in the employee’s system and the level 

present. 

4. Failure of an employee to be readily available or refusal to give a 

urine sample or breath alcohol test when the employee has been 

involved in an accident covered under this directive, except for a 

driver in paragraph 3, shall be grounds for immediate discipline up 

to, and including discharge. 

D. Return to Duty-testing 

1. Prior to being eligible for return-to duty testing an employee may 

be required to be evaluated by a Substance Abuse Professional 

(SAP), who shall set up any assistance needed.  When the 

employee has complied with all the recommendations of the SAP, 

the employee must request the results of the evaluation relating to 

compliance with recommendations as they relate to fitness for 

duty, and notification of release be given in writing to the Village’s 

Human Resources Coordinator. 

2. Any officer reinstated to active duty from a drug or alcohol related 

leave of absence in excess of 30 days will be required to submit to 

drug or alcohol testing without the requirement of reasonable 

suspicion within the 12 month period subsequent to reinstatement. 

Section 4. Tests to be conducted 

In conducting the testing authorized by this Agreement, the Village shall: 

(a) use only a clinical laboratory or hospital facility that is licensed pursuant 

to the Illinois Clinical Laboratory Act that has or is capable of being 

accredited by the National Institute of Drug Abuse (NIDA); 

(b) insure that the laboratory or facility selected conforms to all NIDA 

standards; 

(c) establish a chain of custody procedure for both the sample collection and 

testing that will insure the integrity of the identity of each sample and test 

result.  No Employee covered by this Agreement shall be permitted at any 

time to become a part of such chain of custody; 



 33 

(d) collect a sufficient sample of the same bodily fluid or material from an 

Employee to allow for initial screening, a confirmatory test and a 

sufficient amount to be set aside reserved for later testing if requested by 

the Employee; 

(e) collect samples in such a manner as to preserve the individual Employee’s 

right to privacy, insure a high degree of security for the sample and its 

freedom from adulteration.  Employees shall not be witnessed by anyone 

while submitting a sample, except in circumstances where the laboratory 

or facility does not have a “clean room” for submitting samples or where 

there is reasonable belief that the Employee has attempted to compromise 

the accuracy of the testing procedure; 

(f) confirm any sample that tests positive in the initial screening for drugs by 

testing the second portion of the same sample by gas chromatography 

mass spectrometry (GCMS) or an equivalent or better scientifically 

accurate and accepted method that provides quantitative data about the 

detected drug or drug metabolites; 

(g) provide the Employee tested with an opportunity to have the additional 

sample tested by a clinical laboratory or hospital facility of the 

Employee’s own choosing, at the Employee’s own expense; provided the 

Employee notifies the Village within seventy-two (72) hours of receiving 

the results of the tests; 

(h) require that the laboratory or hospital facility report to the Village that a 

blood or urine sample is positive only if both the initial screening and 

confirmation test are positive for a particular drug. The parties agree that 

should any information concerning such testing or the results thereof be 

obtained by the Village inconsistent with the understandings expressed 

herein (e.g. billings for testing that reveal the nature or number of test 

administered), the Village will not use such information in any manner or 

forum adverse to the Employee’s interests; 

(i) require that with regard to alcohol testing, for the purpose of determining 

whether the Employee is under the influence of alcohol, test results 

showing an alcohol concentration of .08 or more based upon the grams of 

alcohol per 100 milliliters of blood be considered positive (Note: the 

forgoing standard shall not preclude the Village from attempting to show 

that test results between .05 and .08 demonstrate that the Employee was 

under the influence. 

(j) provide each Employee tested with a copy of all information and reports 

received by the Village in connection with the testing and the results; 

(k) insure that no Employee is the subject of any adverse employment action 

except emergency temporary reassignment or relief from duty with pay 



 34 

during the pendent of any testing procedure.  Any such emergency 

reassignment or relief from duty shall be immediately discontinued in the 

event of a negative test result. 

Section 5. Voluntary Requests for Assistance 

The Village shall take no adverse employment action for drug or alcohol use against an 

Employee who voluntarily (prior to being requested to submitting to a test) seeks treatment, 

counseling or other support for an alcohol or drug related problem, prior to any request by the 

Village to submit to testing in accordance with this Article, other than the Village may require 

reassignment of the Employee with pay if he is then unfit for duty in his current assignment, 

however employees may only avail themselves of this help once during the employee’s tenure. 

The Village shall make available a means by which the Employee may obtain referrals and 

treatment. All such requests shall be confidential and any information received by the Village, 

through whatever means, shall not be used in any manner adverse to the Employee’s interests, 

except reassignment as described above. 

An Employee who voluntarily seeks assistance with drug and/or alcohol related 

problems, shall not be subject to any disciplinary or other adverse employment action for drug or 

alcohol use by the Village. The foregoing is conditioned upon: 

(a) the Employee agreeing to appropriate treatment as determined by the 

physician(s) involved; 

(b) the Employee discontinues his use of illegal drugs or abuse of alcohol; 

(c) the Employee completes the course of treatment prescribed, including an 

“after-care” group for a period of up to twelve months; 

(d) the Employee agrees to submit to random testing during hours of work 

during the period of “after-care.” 

(e) the employees use of drugs or alcohol did not contribute directly to the 

loss of life or injury to any person. 

The foregoing shall not be construed as an obligation on the part of the Village to retain 

an Employee on active status throughout the period of rehabilitation if it is appropriately 

determined that the Employee’s current use of alcohol or drugs prevents such individual from 

performing the duties of a police officer or whose continuance on active status would constitute a 

direct threat to the property or safety of others.  Such Employees shall be afforded the 

opportunity to use accumulated paid leave or take an unpaid leave of absence, at the Employee’s 

option, pending treatment.  The foregoing shall not limit the Village’s right to discipline 

Employees for misconduct provided such discipline shall not be increased or imposed due to 

alcohol or drug abuse. 



 35 

Section 6. Discipline 

Employees who do not agree to or who do not act in accordance with the guidelines for 

voluntary requests for assistance, or Employees who test positive for the presence of illegal 

drugs or alcohol during the hours of work and who have not voluntarily requested assistance, or 

Employees who test  positive a second or subsequent time for the presence of illegal drugs or 

alcohol during the hours of work after having complied with the guidelines for voluntary 

assistance shall be subject to discipline, up to and including discharge. 

An employee’s refusal to provide a urine, breath and/or blood specimen for laboratory 

testing when requested by the Village shall constitute cause for disciplinary action which could 

include discharge.   

Intentionally tampering with, causing another person to tamper with, substituting for, or 

causing another person to substitute for a urine and/or blood specimen shall constitute cause for 

disciplinary action up to and including discharge. 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
 

 Agenda Item: 17 
 

 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE REAPPOINTING AN ALTERNATE DIRECTOR 
TO REPRESENT THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF ON THE 
CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
(First Reading, and if desired by the Village Board, Final Approval) 

  
 
Action Requested: 

CONSIDER FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) AND 
WAIVER OF SECOND READING (Roll Call Vote) 

  
Originated By: CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement that established the Central Lake County Joint 
Action Water Agency (Agency), the Village Board is required to appoint one Director and one 
Alternate Director to serve on the Agency’s Board of Directors.  Village President O’Hara 
currently serves as Director through April 30, 2017, and Trustee Dewart was appointed in June 
2011 to serve as Alternate Director for the term expiring April 30, 2015.  The attached ordinance 
reappoints Trustee Dewart to serve as Alternate Director through April 30, 2019.   
 
As an additional update, please note that Village Engineer Jeff Hansen has assumed the position 
of Executive Committee Member with the Agency on behalf of the Village upon the retirement 
of former Village Engineer George Russell. 
 
It is recommended the Village Board consider waiving second reading of the ordinance as the 
term for Alternate Director expired on April 30, 2015. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Appointing an Alternate Director to the Agency. 
 
Village President’s Recommendation:  First Reading Approval and Consideration 

of Waiving Second Reading. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: First Reading Approval and Consideration 

of Waiving Second Reading. 
  
Date Referred to Village Board                         6/22/2015 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2015- 
 

AN ORDINANCE REAPPOINTING AN ALTERNATE DIRECTOR  
TO REPRESENT THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF ON THE  

CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
 

  WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff heretofore entered into an intergovernmental 
agreement, entitled the Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency Agreement, as amended 
(“Agreement”) with other units of local government for the purpose of establishing the Central Lake 
County Joint Action Water Agency (“Agency”); and, 
 
  WHEREAS, the Agency is governed by a Board of Directors consisting of one director 
from each of the Agency’s member municipalities; and, 
  
  WHEREAS, Section 9 of the Agreement provides that each member municipality shall 
appoint one Director and one Alternate Director to the Agency’s Board of Directors; and, 
 
  WHEREAS, Subsection 9(a) of the Agreement requires the Director and Alternate 
Director to be the Village President, an elected member of the corporate authority, or other elected 
official of the municipality; and,  
 

 WHEREAS, Pursuant to Ordinance #2013-14, Village President Kathleen O’Hara was 
appointed to serve as Director for a term through April 30, 2017, and pursuant to Ordinance #2011-13, 
Village Trustee Mark Dewart was appointed as Alternate Director for a term through April 30, 2015; 
and, 
 

 WHEREAS, the term of the Alternate Director has expired and the Village desires to 
renew the term of Village Trustee Mark Dewart as Alternate Director through April 30, 2019; and, 

 
  WHEREAS, Subsection 9(c) of the Agreement requires the appointment of the Village’s 
Alternate Director to be through official action of the Village’s corporate authorities.  
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
  Section 1. Recitals.   
 
  The foregoing recitals are hereby adopted as the findings of the corporate authorities of 
the Village. 
 
  Section 2. Reappointment of Alternate Director. 

 
  The corporate authorities of the Village hereby reappoints Mark Dewart, Village Trustee, 
as Alternate Director of the Agency, for a term through April 30, 2019, in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 9 of the Agreement. 
 
  Section 3. Conflicts. 
 
 In the event of any conflict between this Ordinance and any other Village ordinance or 
resolution concerning the appointment of the Alternate Director, this Ordinance shall control. 



2 
 

  Section 4. Authorization and Direction to File Certified Copy. 
 
 The Village Clerk is hereby directed to file a certified copy of this Ordinance with the Secretary 
of Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency. 
  
  Section 5. Effective Date. 
 
  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect immediately upon its passage and 
approval. 
 
PASSED this __ day of June, 2015 by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff as 
follows: 
 
AYES:  ( )  
   
NAYS:  ( ) 
  
ABSENT: ( )  
 
APPROVED this ___ day of June, 2015 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
 
FIRST READING:   
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
     
APPROVED:    
       
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:     


	VB_06.22.15_14 101 Waukegan Road.pdf
	101 waukegan att 1.pdf
	2015.06.11-Carriage Point-Workshop Dwgs.pdf
	2015.06.11-Carriage Point-Landscape Plan
	2015.06.11-Carraige Point Site Plan
	Carriage Point-Photometrics-Point by Point
	Carriage Point-Photometrics-Areas
	Carriage Point-Photometrics-lighting cut sheets
	101 Waukegan Rd-Alta Survey
	101 Waukegan Rd-Topo Survey
	Carriage Point-Google Earth Context w Title Blk






